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Introduction


A major earthquake causing widespread homelessness and destruction of property is almost guaranteed to hit California within the next 30 years.  In preparation for this disaster, the State of California pursues a number of public objectives.  First, it has a disaster response program.  Second, building codes are in place to reduce the loss of life, and new research is done each year to improve our knowledge of how to build homes to survive earthquakes.  Third, public infrastructure is constantly being upgraded to new seismic safety standards.  Fourth, California requires that insurance companies offer earthquake coverage when offering a standard fire policy on a home.


The sad reality is that the state’s fourth objective is being met, but that fewer and fewer homeowners are buying earthquake policies.  There are about 50% fewer homeowner earthquake policies in force today than before the Northridge Earthquake of 1994.  As documented in this report, the price of current coverage is too high, the deductible is too high, and the exclusions are so numerous that policyholders can be surprised when damage to some types of property is not covered.  


As Chair of the Senate Insurance Committee, I intend to work with the governing board of the California Earthquake Authority (CEA) to improve the CEA’s policy so that more Californians prepare themselves for the next major earthquake by buying insurance to replace their losses.  As public policymakers, elected representatives have a duty of care.  We must help to build a climate in which private property owners take prudent measures, including seismic upgrading and obtaining insurance, to prepare for the inevitable disaster that scientists tell us is just beyond the horizon. 







Jackie Speier







Chair, Senate Insurance Committee





      Executive Summary


Is the California Earthquake Authority Enough?

On November 2, 2000, the Senate Insurance Committee held an interim hearing on the subject of the California Earthquake Authority, earthquake insurance in general, and related issues.  The hearing was held in Napa because a moderate earthquake struck Napa in September, 2000.  The committee wanted to assess how the CEA had performed after this moderate quake, and the reasons why homeowners did or did not have earthquake insurance at the time of the quake.   

Present at the hearing were Committee Chair Senator Jackie Speier, Insurance Commissioner Harry Low, and Jennifer Ducray-Morrill representing State Treasurer Phil Angelides.  Earlier in the day, Senator Wes Chesbro had accompanied Senator Speier during inspections of Napa homes damaged in the recent earthquake.  Staff from Assemblywoman Wiggins’ office was also present for the inspection of damaged homes.

  
The meeting opened with comments from the Chair.  In her comments, the Chair indicated that the Legislature is evaluating why earthquake insurance through the CEA is not being “embraced” by consumers, and how we can improve earthquake coverage so that more consumers purchase it.  Commissioner Low indicated that the hearing was timely because the CEA is currently undergoing a “deep self-examination.”  The Commissioner also indicated that within 72 hours of the earthquake, the Department of Insurance (DOI) had three staff members on site to assist consumers with their insurance-related complaints.  Ms. Ducray-Morrill indicated that the Treasurer had, within the past few days, circulated a letter to fellow board members indicating his concerns about the sustainability of the CEA after a major quake. 


During the hearing, members of the public and committee members made several suggestions.   Among these suggestions were:

a)
Make an earthquake policy more understandable because many insureds don’t know what they are entitled to.  Several speakers and members of the committee seemed concerned about the complexity of language within an earthquake policy.   Complaints were also heard about the lack of definitions for important terms, including “masonry veneer,” in the CEA policy.  It was suggested that terms in the CEA policy be clarified further;

b)
Many members of the public indicated that they wanted earthquake insurance with a lower deductible and lower prices;

c)
A mechanism should be created so that homeowners are made aware, automatically, of the existence of a nearby earthquake fault even if local officials do not acknowledge the existence of a fault.  A member of the public suggested that the local property tax bill could contain such an announcement, after the county assessor was given an advisory from the United States Geological Service;

d)
Insurance for smaller quakes than “the big one” should be available.  Better coverage should be available for those parts of the structure most likely to be damaged during an earthquake, such as the chimney;

e)
An observation was made that the CalVet program requires that homeowners pay towards earthquake insurance because CalVet is a secured lender on the home.  The deductible under a CalVet policy is 5%;

f)
The FEMA grant program should be reconfigured.  SBA offers loans without a final determination from the homeowner’s insurance company as to the scope of loss or likely payment.  The FEMA grant program operates differently.  Persons with earthquake coverage must receive a final adjustment from the insurance company before being eligible for grants.  This may delay a FEMA grant.  Lack of FEMA grant funds created a hardship for at least one member of the public with earthquake insurance.  At least one policyholder suggested that a homeowner had to “bug their insurance company daily” to get a denial letter so that the process of applying for a FEMA grant could be expedited.   It should be possible for FEMA to operate like SBA.  Grant recipients are already required to sign a promise to pay back FEMA from any insurance proceeds.  This should be adequate to speed grants to avoid hardships;

g)
The claims settlement process should be expedited.  A witness waited almost two months before hearing that river rock on the front of his home would be taken down and replaced (with wood veneer) because it was necessary for the river rock to be removed in order to reach a damaged foundation.  Lack of timely claims settlement can frustrate insured homeowners in their efforts to locate competent contractors.  Those who have access to FEMA grants and SBA loans may be able to secure financing, and thus locate contractors, faster than someone who has to wait because they have an insurance claim in the adjustment process;

h)
Examine the practice of insurers “holding back” a portion of the payment for agreed-upon damage.    While it is intended to encourage homeowners to repair their homes, it may make it difficult for homeowners to make timely payments to contractors or to have confidence that needed repairs will, in fact, be paid for by an insurer.   Consumers may not be familiar with this practice and the amount held back can be significant.  The amount held back is often the value of depreciation calculated on the claim;

i)
Policyholders should be advised by their companies to file a claim if they detect any damage from an earthquake.  This will preserve their right to make a claim for damage discovered later and may, depending upon circumstances, prevent claims from being denied due to the statute of limitations;

j)
Policyholders should automatically receive the scope of loss from an adjuster.  The scope of loss is the estimate of damage done by the insurer.  This scope of loss will help homeowners determine if the evaluation of the property was fair, and will help to clearly identify damage that is discovered after the initial adjustment is done.  Changes to regulations (specifically mentioned was Title 10, Chapter 5, subchapter 7.5, Section 2695.4 (a)) might help to ensure that the duty to disclose information to an insured is carried out more thoroughly by insurers (see appendix);

k)
Napa County OES coordinator Neal O’Haire noted that the Napa quake occurred when there were no other major disasters in California.  Had there been two earthquake disasters, or an earthquake and major flood or fire all the same time, the state’s emergency management capabilities may have been strained.  As it was, state OES and local disaster officials were able to respond promptly to assist victims.  Mr. O’Haire also recommended that Congress establish an “all hazards” insurance program so that flood and earthquake and other natural disasters could be covered under one policy and one national program;

l)
Mr. Paul Jacks, OES Deputy Director for Disaster Assistance, suggested that the state have to look at a gap loan program to assist homeowners over some of the funding problems that they confront after an earthquake.  The state’s existing supplemental assistance program only pays money when federal funds are otherwise exhausted, and the sums paid are relatively small.  

m)
The Chair asked the CEA to send a letter to every CEA policyholder in Napa to advise them to file a claim if there is any noticeable damage. This will help avoid claims being filed beyond the statute of limitations.  CEA staff ultimately agreed to do so after Ms. Ducray-Morrill specifically requested that it be done.  She also requested that staff send a copy of the notification to CEA board members.  CEA staff agreed to do so.  CEA staff also committed to the following:  i)  The CEO of the CEA will be made aware of the concerns expressed about ambiguities in the existing policy language;  ii)  Mailings to policyholders by CEA member companies may need to be further reviewed when an insurer uses the name of the CEA.  The specific mailing of concern was a notice sent by State Farm to its CEA policyholders that could have led policyholders to believe that they only had one year from the date of the Napa quake in which to file a lawsuit on their claim.  While the language in the notice is required by law to be given to policyholders, such a perception by policyholders would not be accurate because, as indicated below, CEA policies are governed under a rule of delayed discovery.  CEA staff agreed to put onto a future CEA board agenda the issue of insurer representations to policyholders in the name of the CEA;

n)
While at least two witnesses indicated that structural engineers had evaluated their homes, there was also a concern about the prospect of hidden damage and the delayed discovery of damage.  CEA legal counsel indicated that CEA policies are governed under the rule of delayed discovery and inception of the loss set forth in Prudential-LMI, although CEA does not accept the manifestation rule set forth in that case as governing CEA policies.  Counsel stated, “Madame Chair, there are several, as you are probably as aware as anyone is, there’s several components to Prudential-LMI and we believe that some of it is applicable to insurance coverage and some of it is not, but you had a bill in the Legislature last session that would have codified the date of discovery and the equitable tolling provisions and we believe that that bill states existing law—that we believe those provisions- that those are the law, as it stands right now, even without passage of that bill.” 



Other information

1)
At the time of the hearing, the CEA had  received 172 claims of which 47 were in “active review” and 125 were closed.  Under a “closed” claim, the CEA has not been requested to take any further action.

2)
Mr. Walter Watson from the Department of Insurance reported that none of the Napa residences that were seismically upgraded through his grant program suffered damage in the earthquake.  Of 18 residences upgraded, 16 were mobile homes.  While the total cost of all upgrades was $40,000, the avoided cost to homeowners, all of whom are low income residents, was probably substantially more than the cost of the upgrades.   Eight hundred residences have been upgraded statewide, at a typical cost of $300-$350 per residence.  In some instances, the costs could go as high as $17,000.   He reported that his program expires in 2003, by which time he hopes to have seismically upgraded approximately 1800 – 2000 residences in California.

Transcript

SENATE COMMITTEE ON INSURANCE INTERIM HEARING:

IS THE CALIFORNIA EARTHQUAKE AUTHORITY ENOUGH?

Senator Jackie Speier, Chair

November 2, 2000

Napa City Hall, Napa, California


CHAIR JACKIE SPEIER:  My name is Jackie Speier.  I chair the Senate Insurance Committee and we are here this evening to evaluate whether the California Earthquake Authority is enough, in the wake of the recent earthquake here in Napa.  On my right, your left is the Commissioner of Insurance for the State of California, Harry Low, and we welcome here to participate in the hearing.  We really are delighted that the Commissioner is here to hear first hand about the issues that residents have had.  He is a member of the California Earthquake Authority.  There are three members including the Treasurer, Phil Angelides, the Governor or his representative and Commissioner Low.  To my left is Brian Perkins, who is a Senior Consultant to the Senate Insurance Committee and is responsible for issues surrounding earthquake and auto insurance most specifically.  And to my far left is Jennifer Ducray-Morrill, who is the Deputy Treasurer, and she is here on behalf of Treasurer Phil Angelides tonight.  So we thank you all for being here.  

You know the earthquake that hit Napa last month was one that was a 5.2 magnitude, and by many experts would be considered a modest earthquake.  In fact the earthquake at Northridge was 100 times greater in its affect and magnitude, and the difference in terms of damage speaks for itself.  Northridge is credited, if we want to say credit, with generating about five and a half billions dollars in damage to residences.  The earthquake here in Napa is tallied now about 60 million, make it as high as $90 million and that is for both residential and commercial properties.  The number of persons that had earthquake insurance before Northridge was 2.2 million people in California.  After the California Earthquake Authority was created, the number of people carrying earthquake insurance has dropped by one half.  So there are now a million less people that carry earthquake insurance in California.  

Here in the Napa area, we estimated this afternoon that about 10% of the residents of the homeowners in Napa actually carry insurance for earthquakes.  So, as you can see, it’s not a product that has been embraced rapidly nor enthusiastically.  And part of what we want to find out tonight is why, what can we do to make it a better product and how can we guard against The Big One.  And we refer to The Big One as the 7.6 earthquake that will hit in the Bay Area sometime in the next 30 years, guaranteed.  And that earthquake will displace about 300,000 residents.  About a third of them will be residential homes and about two thirds of them will be tenants.  

So, with that as a backdrop, we are here tonight to find out how the CEA has worked in the first earthquake, really, that has happened since the creation of the CEA in an urban area.  And we want to find out not only how it’s working, how it needs to be tweaked, how the public is responding to it and furthermore, what is its survivability is for the long term.  So with that, I would like to welcome Commissioner Low and invite him to make any introductory comments.


COMMISSIONER HARRY LOW:  Thank you very much, Senator, and it’s a great privilege for me to participate in this hearing this evening and not only do I expect to be working very closely with Senator Jackie Speier as Chair of the Senate Insurance Committee, but she is my Senator because I live in her district and I’m very, very fond of the fine work that she has done.  I do sit on the California Earthquake Authority and I think that this meeting is especially timely because one of the things that the California Earthquake Authority is going to do in the next 60 days, is to do a very deep and thorough, I hope, self-examination.  

Looking at the survivability of the CEA  and its financial structure, looking at its organizational structure and maybe even questioning its very existence.  It’s had four years of experience and we want to learn from that experience and to see what is it doing, can it do it better, is it doing what it is supposed to be doing?  Many questions of that kind.  And I have the luxury of being brand new to the position as Insurance Commissioner.  I attended my first meeting last Tuesday and some of the questions that are going to be addressed tonight are the very kind of questions I have raised myself in reading the materials and background for the CEA.  So I expect to learn a great deal from you folks that are going to testify tonight.  

As far as the Department of Insurance is concerned, we’ll also be hearing from some witnesses that will be testifying about things that the Department has been doing with respect to earthquake preparedness as well as what occurred here in Napa County.  I’m pleased to report that within 72 hours after the earthquake, the Department of Insurance had three consumer representatives who are top-notch people fly up from Los Angeles.  They were here to help out with the Office of Emergency Services, FEMA and others to provide information to tell about what kind of things they could expect from the Department of Insurance, try to help the homeowners get the kind of help that they needed.  So they stayed here for about a total of 18 days being of that kind of service.  

Just recently, I also issued a letter and some information for the press to advise homeowners to, now that it’s about 30 days since the earthquake, to take another look at their properties to see whether they have fully examined the damage or potential damage that they had on their property.  They have certain rights under their policy as well as under the law and that it was very timely for them to examine this under their own policies to see that there was adequate coverage of the kinds of damage they might not have found the first time they looked at it right after the earthquake.  And that is an on-going process that homeowners should consider to inspect their own properties as carefully as they can, to discover the damages that they might have had and then to work with their insurance carrier to get coverage.  But I think that the sense of tonight’s hearing is far broader than that.  And you will hear from witnesses and from the Senator’s witnesses to learn more about what we can do and what we can do better, learning from this experience.  And I’m here also here to learn.  Thank you very much, Senator.


CHAIR SPEIER:  Ms. Morrill, do you have any opening remarks?


MS. JENNIFER DUCRAY-MORRILL:  Thank you, Senator Speier.  I am Deputy Treasurer and the Treasurer did want to be here today, but he had a conflict that didn’t allow him, and thank you for inviting us.  As you know, the Treasurer has been very interested in the structure of the California Earthquake Authority and has recently sent a letter expressing his concerns to the Senator and his fellow members on the Board.  And we are very interested in the information that we will receive today and we’re here to listen and to learn.  And we look forward to all of the testimony that will be presented today because again, the Treasurer is very concerned and he has called for the board members, as the Commissioner has indicated, to take a real look at this and the Legislature, as well, to take an extensive review and consider what structure may be more appropriate.  So I look forward to the testimony and we’ll talk more about this later, I’m sure.

CHAIR SPEIER:   Thank you.  We would also like to thank the Local Assistance Center here in Napa for accommodating us here tonight and for all the efforts in the planning of this hearing.  Also present is Paul Jacks who is the Deputy Director of the Governor’s Office of Emergency Services.  Mr. Jacks is in the rear of the room and we thank you for being here as well.  Now, we wanted to make sure that this hearing was responsive to the residents here in Napa.  So we have put on the agenda, twice, not just once, but twice during this evening’s hearing an opportunity for us to hear from the public.  So this is an opportunity for members of the public, whether you’ve had earthquake insurance or not, to come forward and to talk about your experiences if you are inclined to do so and to share with us any ideas or thoughts you have about the California Earthquake Authority, earthquake insurance in general, or how the process has worked here in Napa.  So, if anyone is interested in coming forward now, and if you don’t, we’re going to start calling names.


(LAUGHTER)


(INAUDIBLE) 


CHAIR SPEIER:   Certainly.  Please come forward.

UNIDENTIFIED MEMBER OF THE PUBLIC:   What is the charter of the CEA?  I’ve not heard of it and should you explain to us what it is supposed to do?  And then I’ll understand the context of the comments to follow. 

CHAIR SPEIER:   Well, I will first attempt to answer that question and maybe the other representatives who are on the board of the CEA could speak more specifically to it.  The California Earthquake Authority was created, I believe it was in 1994, 1996.  And it was created at a time that many of the insurers in California, in the wake of the Northridge earthquake which was one of the largest natural disasters ever to hit in this country.  

When many of the insurers did not want to continue to cover homes and offer earthquake insurance.  In California that product has been linked.  If you want to offer homeowner insurance in California as an insurer, you had to also offer earthquake insurance.  So many of the insurers were starting to not renew homeowners insurance.  

So in Sacramento at the time, and I was in the State Assembly at that time, we were starting to hear from constituents saying they couldn’t get their homeowners insurance renewed.  We started hearing from realtors who said we couldn’t complete transactions, because they couldn’t get homeowners insurance.  So it was hitting a crisis.  And at that time, then Commissioner Chuck Quackenbush became the architect of what we now know as the California Earthquake Authority.  It was a mechanism whereby earthquake insurance would continue to be offered here in California as what is called a mini-policy.  Not with the same benefits, not with the same inclusions, but a mini-policy.  The deductible became higher at 15%, the amount that was available for personal property was reduced and for living expenses as well.  The CEA moved though the Legislature and became law.  Insurers in California who continued to sell homeowners insurance either can offer earthquake insurance independently or through a private insurance company, or they can become members of the California Earthquake Authority.  And I believe there are 15 insurers in California that became members of the California Earthquake Authority.  They committed to put up money to start to make the Earthquake Authority viable.  And I believe that about $600 million has been contributed in what is called the first layer.  

Then the California Earthquake Authority was created with the three-members that I mentioned, the Governor, the Treasurer and the Insurance Commissioner.  They have an executive director.  On the one hand, people think of it as a government entity.  I don’t know if you could actually say it’s a government entity.  It is a quasi-governmental entity.  The insurance companies that participate in it also go out and do the inspections.  They then pay out and then they bill the California Earthquake Authority.  It has been operational now for a period of years.  But as I indicated earlier, we’ve actually seen a reduction in the number of people who carry earthquake insurance since the Northridge quake.  Now, that gives you, from a legislative perspective, how it evolved.  I don’t know if Commissioner Low or Ms. Morrill have anything more they would like to add.  
COMMISSIONER LOW:   I have nothing further to add.  I think that we’ll be hearing more this evening from some of the witnesses from the CEA.  They may be able to expand more on some specific things that you may be interested in.
CHAIR SPEIER:   Is Mark Leonard here?  Mr. Leonard, would you like to give your perspective on the CEA since—

MR. MARK LEONARD:  --its charter.  Thank you Madam Chair, governing board members.  Nice to see you again.  Mark Leonard, Legislative and Public Affairs Manager for the California Earthquake Authority.  And thank you for that excellent description, Madam Chair, of the market crisis that led to the creation of the CEA.  I would only add that the, as you will probably recall, but for the benefit of the other board members, mini-policies hold by the CEA was created by the Legislature of the year prior to the CEA.  And that is the policy that is sold by 90% of the market in California.  We’ve actually added three new companies to the CEA, so we’re from 15 to 18.  But there are still 135 companies that are required to offer earthquake insurance in California under the mandatory offer law.  So while we are a large percentage of the market, there are many other options available to consumers.  

CHAIR SPEIER:   And in fact, the CEA, of those that carry earthquake insurance, you have about 66% of the market?

MR. LEONARD:   Our carriers represent about two-thirds of the residential earthquake insurance market.  And with regard to what’s been happening to that market, prior to the creation of the CEA in 1996, there had already been a substantial reduction in the number of policy holders.  This is a market condition that’s common to earthquake insurance in California.  The further you get from a major event, the more people drop the coverage.  And in fact, we’re seeing a continual reduction both within and without the CEA and that private carriers offering their own products are also seeing a reduction in the number of earthquake policy holders.  It’s something we as staff and our board has expressed a concern about.  Did that answer the gentleman’s question regarding--?
CHAIR SPEIER:   Thank you.  All right, members of the public who would like to testify.

MR. TOM STANTON:   Tom Stanton, I have a Masters Degree in safety.  I’m also with the forecasters, so I have some appreciation for the reliability of forecasts, probability of events, things of that nature.  And what I would like to address, and I don’t think there’s a great mystery as to why the amount of people applying is falling off.  It has to do with their perception of what probability is.  And here speaking for the Napa event, I can see why that’s the case.  The first thing I did almost 30 years ago when I moved up here, was check on where the nearest fault was.  And of course, it was Rodgers Creek.  Well, we found out since that that’s grossly erroneous.  

What I would like to see is some mechanism so that a professional geologist, when he expresses an opinion to the local community, the people in charge, and it gets ignored, he has another place to go to.  Perhaps you can have some impact on that.  But, that’s what I’m interested in.  If I had dealt with my situation completely differently than the way I did.  I did the usual things: checked the foundation to see if it was bolted down, took care of the water heater, you know, all those things.  My German china and crystal that I acquired over 20 years in the military…poof!  In a puff of smoke.  Gone.  It went through six moves while I was in the military without a scratch and it disappeared instantaneously in a matter of a second.  If I had known that fault was probably within one or two miles of my house, it would have never come out of the wrapping paper.  It would have just come out for Thanksgiving and Christmas and right back where it went in again.  Now the other thing I have to say is, we don’t have to insure against leveling the house.  Because the probability of that occurring is much less than a four or a five or a six that breaks china, breaks chimneys, breaks down brick facades off of buildings.  I’d like to see a policy that offers you the option of insuring against lesser damage, not a total wipeout.  Because a total wipeout event is not affordable for most people.  
CHAIR SPEIER:   Did you have earthquake insurance?
MR. LEONARD:   No, I didn’t.  That’s the reason why.  Now, I tell you, I did have earthquake insurance when I lived down in Palo Alto, because I lived in an Eichler and you know what that’s like.  It’s all glass, and the heating supply is buried in the cement.  If that went, I would have had it.  But when I moved up here, I didn’t bring it up here.  Of course, I was told there was no faults in the local area.
CHAIR SPEIER:   How much damage did you sustain?

MR. LEONARD:   I’ve got two chimneys I’ve got to replace, I lost the china and crystal.  Other than that, doors that don’t close properly, walls that are cracked, have minor cracks in them, things of that nature.  I’d really like to see this issue addressed.  Where do you go to?  When a professional geologist who’s been working here for decades tells you that there’s one here and he gets ignored, he needs to have a place to go to, other than the locals who are ignoring him.  Now, Menlo Park took his information and they did something with it.  But it was not distributed.  It shouldn’t be terrible expensive to do.  We get an annual tax statement from the county.  All you got to do is enclose in the envelope a piece of paper that says, oh by the way, this isn’t official, it’s not formal, Menlo Park hasn’t said this, but we have reason to believe that there may be a fault reasonably close to Napa.  Man, if I would have had that, I would have jumped on it like a June bug.  

CHAIR SPEIER:   All right, thank you.  Please come forward.

2nd UNIDENTIFIED MEMBER OF THE PUBLIC:   At the present time, I’m a retired military man on the CalVet loan.  When the federal people who are here including FEMA, I talked to them at great length.  And got the impression maybe they would help and maybe they wouldn’t because I have insurance.  It’s required by CalVet and it’s carried throughout the state.  So, out of that came absolutely nothing, because finally, FEMA says we can’t help you, you’ve got insurance.  And they won’t help.  So there I sit with two chimneys down like the gentleman said, he has two chimneys down, I have cracks in the house.  Now, if at the time the house was not livable, I don’t know what I would have done.  But as it is, I’ve already had some estimates and on top of that, the requirement at the time was two estimates.  You can’t find two people qualified to fix chimneys in this town after an earthquake.  I don’t know where they came from, but I do have one and they’re working on it now.  I don’t want anybody to get in trouble up there, because they’ve been very nice to me.  But, I hope we get those chimney fixed because I’d like to have the house back in good shape.  Thank you.
CHAIR SPEIER:   Sir, could you tell us what the estimate is to repair those two chimneys?
2ND UNIDENTIFIED MEMBER OF THE PUBLIC:   The two chimneys, plus some painting and some repairs inside will run around $12,000.  

CHAIR SPEIER:   And you have earthquake insurance through the CEA or through a third party insurer?

2ND UNIDENTIFIED MEMBER OF THE PUBLIC:   I have GAB people, whatever they are.
CHAIR SPEIER:   GeoVera ?
2ND UNIDENTIFIED MEMBER OF THE PUBLIC:   No, they have CalVet.  GAB, I don’t even know what the initials even stand for. 

2ND UNIDENTIFIED MEMBER OF THE PUBLIC:   That sounds like the adjustment company.

CHAIR SPEIER:   There’s a public adjuster that’s called GAB, which—
2ND UNIDENTIFIED MEMBER OF THE PUBLIC:   Well, this is a-
CHAIR SPEIER:   But, that’s not an insurer, I don’t believe.  Mr. Cooley do you have—

2ND UNIDENTIFIED MEMBER OF THE PUBLIC:   They’re an insurance company, GAB.  I think that’s what they’re called.  Maybe somebody here knows about that.

(INAUDIBLE CONVERSATION) 

2ND UNIDENTIFIED MEMBER OF THE PUBLIC:   Anyhow, they’re working on it presently to see if we can cut it down to one estimate.  Because in a small town like Napa, you cannot find qualified workers or people who will take on the job.  I have one, but I can’t find the second.  They won’t even talk to you.  They don’t have time to even give you an estimate, so we need to have something done along that line.  Let’s cut out the red tape forcing us to have two estimates and wait, wait, wait.  If that house had fallen down, I would have never gotten anything from FEMA.  I don’t know where the hell we would have lived.  But, it didn’t and I live in it and the chimneys are still sitting out there broken.  They’ll get fixed eventually, I presume.  Thank you.
CHAIR SPEIER:   Thank you.  Mr. Cooley, did you have some enlightenment for us?
KEN COOLEY:  Senator Speier, and panelists, I was just going to make the observation that CalVet Loan Program is a very unique creature of statute.  It does provide as a part of the loan package, as was described an insurance program.  The peculiarity and Commissioner Low will ring a bell, unlike a traditional mortgage, CalVet loans are structured using kind of a land sale contract concept.  Consequently, the CalVet loan agency holds title until the loan is paid off, because they hold title to the property until the loan is paid, unlike a traditional mortgage where you would actually acquire title as a security, _______ it’s your property.  They do provide coverage.  There are dollar limits on available coverage, consequently, it’s probably biased against major urban areas, high-priced areas, which coincidentally are high-seismic areas.  But this program has been on the books for 15 or 20 year.  I think on earthquake, the deductible is about five percent.  But, it’s a very unique selection of risks and probably biased against high-seismic areas.  But it is a program you can find on the CalVet website.  

CHAIR SPEIER:   But it’s included within the loan.
MR. COOLEY:   It’s included within the loan because CalVet doesn’t want to have a house fall down to which they have title, because the way they structure their loan, and not have coverage.

CHAIR SPEIER:   Thank you.  

JACK HUSSEY:  Madam Chair, my name is Jack Hussey.  You may have visited me today, I was in several other meetings.  

CHAIR SPEIER:   We did visit your home and your wife.

MR. HUSSEY:   We are so happy that you brought all these suits to Napa.  I graduated from Stanford, got an MBA from Wharton and I can honestly say that I can’t read insurance policies.  And I rely on what people tell me or what I think they tell me.  Maybe some place I used to be in the moving business and PUC forced us to make things very simple for people, ____ and people you can call and little diagrams.  Someplace the gentlemen had his chimney go down.  You know, what’s a chimney worth, and what is a chimney.  I was amazed to find out a chimney is worth, all chimneys in the house, I lost two, are worth $500.  Or $5,000, excuse me.  

I guess I’m saying maybe some explanation other than the page upon page of fine print that really doesn’t make any sense to anybody including my insurance agent, or whoever else they may be dealing with.  Ask me the question five months from now.  I don’t know, you saw my house, we have a lot of wall board damage.  Everyday it gets easier.  You look at it more and you become accustomed to it.  (LAUGHTER)  We’re taking the wall wood off, we have a contractor, again as one of the gentlemen said, finding people around to do work in Napa is not easy.  Fortunately, I’ve had a fellow that’s done some work for me and he’s heading it up, masonry is difficult.  I just don’t know what to tell you.  I would like, as I said, in five months, boy, the insurance company did do a job.  Everything I’ve asked them to do so far, they’ve said yes.  They have not said no.  I’ve not presented them with a bill.  I have had estimates.  My deductible is $142,000.  I have an estimate for $280-something thousand for repair.  The insurance company is coming out shortly and giving us their estimate.  I have an estimate from the hip, from the gentleman that’s going to do the work for about $100, 000.  I guess what does this all include?  You saw the house.  It has a crack in the wallboard.  Now, if I want to put the wallboard back the way it was, maybe I should take the whole wallboard out.  Or I could put a band-aid over it.  That reduces what the insurance coverage would be or what the insurance company would be in for, would make the job faster, I wouldn’t have to fight anybody.  

I don’t know what I can bring this thing in for.  I think I’m going to bring it in for basically what our deductible is when I get through.  There are some things that are unknown and structural damage everyone says this is the best built house they have ever seen, even though it’s 27 years old.  And that goes through FEMA, everybody that’s been through the house.  There may be some cracks in, not the foundation, but the wood underneath.  And we don’t know.  We now have three opinions on that: none, yes and maybe. (LAUGHTER)  So we don’t know what that’s going to be.  I, fortunately, am retired so I have time to do this.  I think I have the ability to do it.  I worry about the folks, little old ladies and little old men, that don’t have the time to do it.  I’m going to get mine resolved and it’s going to be resolved and the insurance company will pay or I’ll pay.  But, I’m concerned about what happens to the rest of the people.

CHAIR SPEIER:   Mr. Hussey, can I just make one suggestion to you and to everyone who is here, just based on the experience that the Senate Insurance Committee has had in reviewing Northridge earthquake claims.  Regardless of whether or not you believe that you are going to meet the deductible for your insurance company to pay your claim, I would encourage you to file a claim.  

MR. HUSSEY:   I have filed a claim with the insurance company, and FEMA and everybody—
CHAIR SPEIER:   Good.  Because one of the things that happened to many people in Northridge and could happen here in Napa is someone comes out and evaluates the damage to their home, doesn’t meet the deductible, so the insured says, well I’m out of luck, makes the repairs.  Then two or three years later is putting in new carpeting, doing a kitchen remodel and all of a sudden, there’s a crack in the foundation or twisted structure behind the wallboard that is, in fact, attributable to the earthquake, but since they never filed a claim, they have no way by which they can be compensated.  And it’s a tragedy that shouldn’t happen.  And it’s in part, I think, due to our not being very sophisticated as consumers and appreciating how important it is to file a claim whether we think we have met the deductible or not.
MR. HUSSEY:   Well, again, I’ll go back, I’ve had more people under there, a grand party going underneath the house looking for things and doing things.  And so, I feel I’m okay.  But I’m concerned about, again, the person that can’t get under their house, can’t look at it.  How do they get taken care of?
CHAIR SPEIER:   Who is your insurance?
MR. HUSSEY:  GeoVera.
CHAIR SPEIER:  GeoVera.  And you contacted them immediately?
MR. HUSSEY:   Ran the agent down in Lake Tahoe.
CHAIR SPEIER:   They have sent out an adjuster to evaluate?
MR. HUSSEY:   I have had their engineer come out.  I have a copy of the engineer’s report.  I have an adjuster who I’ve talked to several times and who has written me a letter saying they would like to bring their contractor out after they’ve seen some of the other estimates that I discussed with you. 

CHAIR SPEIER:   So you haven’t actually gotten a scope of loss from GeoVera?
MR. HUSSEY:   No, really, not, and as I’ve said, the problem is it just doesn’t happen in a month, it’s five months and as you said, maybe it’s a year from now that I find something.

CHAIR SPEIER:   Do you have any recommendations to us on what we should do? 

MR. HUSSEY:   Don’t have earthquakes, I guess.  (LAUGHTER)  I didn’t like the deductible after I finally realized what it was.  And I think somebody did say 5.2’s are going to be fairly common.  And not prepare the earthquake insurance, 5.2, they figured it all out, they’d got chimneys figured out, they’ve got everything else and I don’t think I can get to the 15 percent deductible in a 5.2 earthquake.  Now if I had a 7.2, the house would be flat and I’d have a new house.  So, how you account for that difference in there, because we will have more of the 5.2’s in California or the United States.  Figure that one out.  How, I don’t know, because everyone’s got to make a dollar someplace.  Okay?
CHAIR SPEIER:   Thank you.  Any other questions?  I’m just glad, Mr. Hussey, that your armoire decided to crash to the side rather than onto your bed.  

MR. HUSSEY:   It went to the left rather than across.
CHAIR SPEIER:   All right, Mr. Mulford.
MR. JIM MULFORD:  Good evening.  I’m Jim Mulford.  I live on Main Street here in Napa.  I want to thank Senator Speier and her office and staff for the help they’ve given me and Senator Chesbro’s office and Assembly Wiggins’ office and even my insurance adjuster, Troy Haskell, has given me awful lot of help throughout this process.  Also, Mike Thompson’s office for getting this FEMA people in, the federal people in and everything else.  I’d like to consider myself a responsible homeowner, responsible citizen.  We’ve owned our house on Main Street for about ten years.  We moved up from Palo Alto, as well, and-- 

CHAIR SPEIER:   Mass exodus from Palo Alto?
MR. MULFORD:  Immediately upon purchasing the house, we purchased earthquake insurance from our insurer, which was Farmer’s.  And we had Farmer’s earthquake insurance along with the rest of our insurance until, as you outlined earlier this evening, until private insurers started to pull out of the earthquake market.  And then we signed on with CEA, and so we’ve had our house insured for earthquakes for ten years, the entire time we’ve owned it.  Our credit card bills are paid off every month.  The only outstanding bill we have right now is our automobile that my wife drives.  

So, we’re trying to be very responsible.  We have family, we’re looking for the future, trying to plan for our children’s college as well as take care of the things we need to deal with on a daily basis.  Obviously this earthquake has kind of set us back just a little bit.  We have insurance, because I’d already stated, we’ve had this insurance since we’ve owned our house.  There are a number of things about the policy that I think are somewhat ambiguous.  Starting with page 1 go through 17 different definitions of different aspects of the policy.  Obviously, these definitions are there to clarify different points in the policy.  They tell us such things as what an earthquake is.  I found that extremely helpful after I experienced it _________.  (LAUGHTER)  They tell us who the insured is.  The insured is me.  They tell us about a nuclear hazard, number 11.  I found that very comforting to know about what a nuclear hazard was.  And you go though a number of different things, 17 items all together.  But, really what could have helped me as far as definitions were concerned, was what something called exterior masonry veneer was.  I tried to find out independently what exterior masonry veneer was.  I looked up masonry in the dictionary, I looked up veneer in the dictionary and no where could I find those two words linked.  In dictionaries, on the Internet.  The only time I was able to actually find those two words linked was after the fact, after the earthquake had taken place, going down to the local building department, having them look up the Uniform Building Code for me and lo and behold, there’s a term known as masonry veneer.  And still, I believe even there it’s not as clear as it should be to the average homeowner, to the lay person.  

I think there’s a number of things that could be defined or clarified much better in the policy to make it as some other people have said tonight, more user friendly to the person that is purchasing this policy.  It just made it very difficult, and throughout this process, it has now been somewhat resolved, but throughout this process, it was one of the things that prolonged this process for us.  We’ve been waiting almost two months, for the insurer to come back with some kind of response to our claim.  As someone else mentioned tonight, during that time, FEMA would not come out and look at our house.
CHAIR SPEIER:   Why was that?
MR. MULFORD:   FEMA sent us a letter when we called them in order to be able to access this help down here, you originally had to register with FEMA.  And FEMA sent us a letter saying that because federal law prohibits FEMA or the state from duplicating assistance that may be available from insurance, we cannot process your application without disaster assistance at this time.  This says that you are not ineligible for assistance, but that we need to know what your insurance settlement is before we can evaluate your application.  So, because I’ve been waiting for two months for my insurance settlement to come through, FEMA has not come out to my house.  They’ve also said that “this law does not allow the government to write disaster aid.  If your loss is insured, this means your application to the disaster housing program or the individual family grant program will not be processed unless your insurance settlement will not meet your needs.”  So FEMA letters, essentially we’ve been left out there in the middle.  

I have neighbors that didn’t have insurance, neighbors that suffered other kinds of damage, chimneys like we’ve heard about tonight, other damage, and they’ve already received FEMA grants worth $1600, $3400, to take care of safety, sanitation or security, are the three things the FEMA grants are supposed to deal with and they’ve received grants and here I am responsible citizen, insured, and I’m still waiting for some kind of assistance because the FEMA people can’t help me, because I’m insured.  My insurance process has taken almost a couple of months and therefore, I’ve been left out there without any assistance, one way or the other.  I did apply for an SBA loan and that process went quite smoothly, and as a matter of fact, SBA has a portion of their loan program that says even if they duplicate, what might be covered in my insurance, they will then ask me to reimburse them from whatever settlement I receive.  

CHAIR SPEIER:   The question is the, why can’t FEMA do the same thing.  

MR. MULFORD:   Why can’t FEMA do the same thing?  It would seem very simple if the Small Business Administration can do that, it would seem that the tie in between the California Earthquake Authority and FEMA, it could be very simple.  There could be a notification process right before and if something that was covered by my insurance was also taken care of earlier by FEMA, there could be a direct reimbursement, something like that.  But simply to be left out there because I have insurance?  It doesn’t seem quite right.   And again, this was not a major event as you’ve already outlined.  This is somewhat minor or moderate type of event.  

Many people as I live here in the community, I work in the community so does my wife, many people are interested in what is happening because as you’ve already pointed out, not very many people in this community have earthquake insurance and they’re kind of very interested in understanding how this process works.  And up until just a couple days ago, I just need to say, that the process wasn’t working in the way that I would have thought it could have worked or should have worked.  Again, I want to say that the adjuster, Troy Haskell, kept me up to date throughout the entire process.  I can’t fault him.  I think Farmer’s, who is my private insurer, they had Mr. Haskell come out within three days of the earthquake so they were very prompt there.  

But, whether it was a situation that could not be helped or whatever, there’s been almost a two-month period of time where I have been waiting for something to happen and have not been able to obtain assistance from FEMA.  I applied for a small business loan and gotten that, but something was not quite right in the process.  A lot of people ask if I’m going to keep insurance after this.  And up to maybe a week ago I was still pondering that point.  As of right now, I’m going to say yes.  I’m going to keep insurance.  I know as other people have mentioned, this kind of coverage is expensive, but I certainly have been helped by this process.  I know that my house with what my wife and I are going to invest back into our house from our own pocket, is going to come out to be a better house, a more secure house than what we had prior to the earthquake.  Of course, some people have asked if you’re going to retrofit and everything else, then do you need to have that kind of insurance coverage.  And, maybe what the other gentleman tonight mentioned a partial coverage for more minor damage might be an interesting thing to look at.  If you do all the seismic stuff, I don’t know what the odds are; we’ve heard some numbers about probability tonight.  

What is the probability of actually having a total loss?  I don’t know.  I mean, that’s not my business, I don’t know, it probably should be my business to find out, but it’s not something that I know right now.  So, anyway, where I am right now as far as my insurance is, I have received a couple checks for some damage.  It’s still open as far as my adjuster has told me, so there are still other things that need to be investigated, like my chimneys, I have two chimneys, one fireplace, one is a utility chimney.  But then there’s a $20,000 depreciation that was removed from the checks that I’ve received with the $32,000 deductible on my received about half of my $108,000 claim.  

CHAIR SPEIER:   Let’s go back to that.  So you have a claim now, you actually have then, a document from the public adjuster as to how much money it’s going to cost to repair your home?
MR. MULFORD:   Yes.
CHAIR SPEIER:   And how much are you—
MR. MULFORD:   The estimate at this point, _______ claims bill open, the estimate at this point is around $108,000.

CHAIR SPEIER:   $108,000?  And deducted from that is your deductible?

MR. MULFORD:   $32,000.

CHAIR SPEIER:   $32,000.  And then you’re saying that beyond that is depreciation.  

MR. MULFORD:   Approximately $20,000 is depreciation.
CHAIR SPEIER:   Now that’s an interesting issue because if I recall correctly, in the Northridge claims, some insurers applied depreciation and others did not.  So I guess the question to you Mr. Leonard is does the CEA policy provide that the property will be depreciated or is it full replacement?  

MR. LEONARD:   Until the repairs are actually made, it’s an actual cash value payment.  With regard to the claim status being open, it’s the total amount of money, and I believe Mr. Haskell is here to answer specific questions about this process with regard to Mr. Mulford’s property.  Not all of the parts he is going to receive under his CEA policy ___________.

MR. MULFORD:    From my understanding that money can’t be applied for as the bills start to come in as I meet what I’ve already been given, when I get above that, I can start to apply for that reimbursement of that depreciation.  

MR. LEONARD:   It’s in effect a hold back until completion of work, that’s one of the ways of looking at it.  Until repairs are undertaken.
CHAIR SPEIER:   So, I guess for clarification purposes, it is not a depreciation that is been calculated into what the insured will receive.  It’s a hold back of sorts.  

MR. LEONARD:  Until again, the work is being undertaken.

CHAIR SPEIER:   The question is, what is public policy rational to create this hold back?  Why don’t you come forward so you can sit at the table and speak.  Come on up here, Mark.

MR. LEONARD:    Thank you Madam Chair, I was actually about to turn this question over to our Senior Counsel, Joe Zubber. 

CHAIR SPEIER:   All right.  Mr. Zubber, tell us what the public policy benefit is.
MR. JOE ZUBBER:  It’s a, if you look at your homeowner’s policy, I think you’ll see that same provision in there.  Virtually all policies have it and its been in there historically, from my understanding, forever.  I think there are a couple of justifications for that, one is that it encourages people to undertake the repairs rather than just leaving the property unrepaired.  And in an unsafe condition.  So if you decide you’re not going to repair the property, you’ll get actual cash value.  If you’re going to leave the earthquake damage, you will still get compensated, _____ you’ll get actual cash value.  But we won’t encourage people to make those repairs, and so, once you commence those repairs, once the repairs are underway, then you’re eligible to receive replacement costs.  

CHAIR SPEIER:   Isn’t that kind of social engineering?
MR. ZUBBER:   Well, what I can tell you is that the policy is derived from the California statutory insurance policy and that’s what’s in the statutory form policy.  And it may be social engineering but it’s social engineering probably that the Legislature has—

CHAIR SPEIER:   I didn’t vote for the CEA, you might find out at this point.
MR. ZUBBER:   I’m not talking about the CEA policy, I’m talking about the California statutory fire policy.

CHAIR SPEIER:   The fire policy.  I guess maybe what we want to do then, is look at, I see the merit in wanting to see the work as is commenced.  But for homeowners that have had the vision to get earthquake insurance and in Napa, we’re talking about ten percent of the people, that somehow they should be penalized if they don’t repair and use the money for some other purpose.  They have purchased the policy and they should get all the benefits of the policy irrespective of whether they do the repairs, I would think.  So, maybe Commissioner, as the board kind of reviews that –

COMMISSIONER LOW:   I think that it’s correct, that it’s an historical requirement under other policies that if there’s fire, you actually do the repair because it’s a safety factor and also probably a factor in determining actual cash value, too.  As a matter of fact, I was thinking on the depreciation factor, that is also a part of your actual cash value calculation as a non—is that—
MR. ZUBBER:   That’s really the largest difference between replacement costs and actual cash value.  

COMMISSIONER LOW:   Right, so I think that your depreciation value or costs will probably be one of the factors that will determine what your actual cash value is.  And having sat on a court for 25 years and then also doing mediation and arbitration for another year or so, this is frequently an area of factual dispute on what is the actual cash value, so there are many factors.  Whether you fix it, how much did it actually cost you to fix it, what is the depreciation, is it an old chimney that fell down, is it a long depreciated one and things of that kind are what determines what you’re probably going to get and I’m sure the adjuster could probably—I assume you’re the adjuster, sir?

MR. TROY HASKELL:   I am.
COMMISSIONER LOW:   Yeah, and you may probably have other factors that you will consider in determining what you will, in fact, get.
MR. HASKELL:  Actually, I am Mr. Mulford’s adjuster.  I am Troy Haskell.  At that time I was working with Farmer’s Insurance.  I’m an independent adjuster.  You’ve actually misstated a couple of times tonight, a public adjuster is actually somebody who is hired by a property owner and prepares an estimate for that property owner to take to the insurance company, kind of a disputed position.  They’re preparing an estimate specifically for that property owner.  

Depreciation, the way depreciation applies, and if any of you have ever had a regular claim on your fire insurance policy or your standard homeowners policy, depreciation is based on the age and the condition of the item that is being applied to and it’s determinate upon what that item is.  Drywall, for example, is something that will be there probably as long as your house will be there barring it doesn’t get wet, there isn’t some other element that’s applied.  Those things are depreciated at a lesser value than let’s say, paint, which has a lifespan of about three to five years, so you would apply it a higher amount of depreciation for that specific item.  

Depreciation is recoverable under most circumstances.  Recoverable meaning that once the repairs are made there’s some specific things that have to happen.  The insured or the policyholder must have spent the amount of money that has been paid by the carrier plus the amount of their deductible.  That’s the standard way that depreciation then becomes recoverable.  So if you had a $35,000 deductible and you had a $100,000 settlement amount, the property owner would actually have to spend $135,000 before they’re actually entitled to recover that depreciated amount.  The other way that most carriers will deal with depreciation is, if that policy holder, the homeowner goes out and secures a contract to make those repairs, and that contract in fact is within the estimated amount or above the estimated amount, hopefully it never ends up that way, meets at least the estimated amount of the repair, the fee, insurance companies adjuster has applied, then they can submit that contract back to the insurance carrier and at that point, the insurance carrier will usually release that depreciation to the homeowner.  

So, it is a hold back in a sense that it can be held back until the repairs exceed the amount of the settlement checks plus the deductible amount.  The other way it is, as I said, paid occasionally and by most carriers is when that property owner or that insurance policy holder submits a contract back saying that in fact, that contracted amount, which a lot of times what we see as adjusters is the contractor will take our actual scope in estimate that we prepare and he’ll look that over and he’ll determine whether or not he can make the repairs for the amount in our scope of loss and our estimate which is actually a line on the breakdown of all the damages.

CHAIR SPEIER:   I guess my question is, we are superimposing the elements of a fire insurance policy on earthquake insurance and they couldn’t be more different.  The deductible on fire insurance is much lower than the deductible on earthquake insurance and in part, it all depends on whether or not we’re interested in seeing more people get earthquake insurance or are we trying to maintain the universe of people who have earthquake insurance through the CEA as a very small number so that the CEA continues to exist.  Those are real threshold questions but depending on how you look at what’s the public policy interest, you probably would answer those questions differently.  All right, thank you.  Mr. Mulford, do you have anything further?
MR. MULFORD:   Just a couple more things to reiterate what some other people said.  Being a small town with only a limited number of contractors, this wait has then put us behind time kind of at the end of the line, so to speak in trying to find a contractor, trying to find some people to do these other things, because we did not have the knowledge of how much we were going to be covered and when it was going to be covered, therefore, we’ve not gone out and tried to secure.   We’ve called people and we’ve had the same story as probably many other people.  We called many people and only not even ______ returned calls because these people here in town are so busy.  Even to get these structural engineers that came out to my house, they came from Walnut Creek or some place like that to do the initial inspection.  So our house was inspected, it was reinspected with another firm that came out ______ reinspection, Mr. Dice came along with them and answered some questions for me, as well, but they did a reinspection on my house, my house has gone through apparently thoroughly, I understand that I guess my case is fairly well known throughout the agencies as well, because of some of the issues that were brought up because of this case. 

 _______ I think clarification, making another policy easier for homeowners to understand _____ whether they are insured over certain items or whether they’re not, again my stone wall out in front of my house has been a bone of contention from the beginning.  Mr. Haskell was very nice to submit all my arguments directly to the California Earthquake Authority people.  But it’s again, it’s just something that left us in that state of limbo, not really knowing how far we would be able to proceed, how much of this was going to come out of our own pocket.  

To back up what you said, we’re already putting up $32,000 of our own money.  And now we have this deductible that we kind of--is that carrot out there saying, well, if you really do the repairs, you’ll get that money, too.  It’s like, wait a minute, we’re already going to spend $32,000 of our money and we had to get a Small Business Administration loan to do that.  So I think we are responsible people, we’re looking at having insurance and having coverage and then to say, but we’re going to hold out this $20,000 just to make sure that those repairs are made.  I think that’s just disingenuous.  It’s much different from fire.  Fifteen percent deductible, that’s a lot of money.  So, I certainly appreciate being able to speak tonight and appreciate the help of all the people who have been involved in my claim.  Thank you very much.
CHAIR SPEIER:   Mr. Mulford, let’s find out about the dispute about the masonry wall.  The masonry veneer versus the masonry wall.  Has that been resolved now?
MR. MULFORD:   It has been resolved but not in the way I thought it was going to be resolved.  No determination was made based upon my argument.  The determination was made based upon the fact, from what I understand, that the damage below the wall, there was damage below the wall in the foundation.  And as a result of having to replace sections, or if not, most of that foundation that’s immediately below that wall, in order to do that, that wall would have to come down anyway.  And the explanation was if they have to destroy or take something else down to make a repair, then they’re obligated to replace what taken down or destroyed.  And so that’s the way this particular item was resolved.  I’d still like to see if there’s a definition that’s going to come out, one way or the other.  

CHAIR SPEIER:   So your recommendation to the California Earthquake Authority would be to define what masonry veneer is and whether or not it is covered or not covered>

MR. MULFORD:   Sure, they have 17 definitions already at the beginning of the policy to clarify for the homeowner.  Stucco is included.  If you look at the entire State of California and you would have a graph that would show the number of houses--we’re not talking about commercial buildings here, we’re just talking about dwellings as far as this insurance is concerned.  And if you look at the number of dwellings in the State of California that probably have stucco versus the number of dwellings in California that have a wall covering like I have, and stucco is included?  But my type of wall covering is not.  I mean, it just doesn’t make any sense to me, even from a total cost analysis kind of basis, there are more stucco houses in the State of California than there are like mine.  And yet, mine’s not covered if it were a masonry veneer.  Which I still dispute.  But if I had stucco covering on the outside, it would be covered.  So, I just think that’s an inequity or an ambiguity of this policy.  And from the Department of Insurance, I understand that any ambiguity in a policy is supposed to fall to the benefit of the insured.  So--
COMMISSIONER LOW:   After the Northridge earthquake, the Department of Insurance set up a mediation program for handling the Northridge earthquake disputes.  They tended to be smaller disputes and they were very quickly--the mediation program was very successful.  If that were part of this program, do you think that would help you in resolving--
MR. MULFORD:   Possibly, once again, it was more of a time frame situation and now we’re able to go on.  It was resolved to my benefit, not the way I thought, but again, the ambiguity is supposed to go to the insured and I know that from the definition the insured means me.  So, that’s the way--
COMMISSIONER LOW:   Well, you read it right.  (LAUGHTER)
CHAIR SPEIER:   Thank you.
MS. MORRILL:   I have a question.

CHAIR SPEIER:   Yes.  Ms. Morrill has a question for you, Mr. Mulford.
MS. MORRILL:   Mr. Mulford?  I just wanted to know, you indicated in your testimony that you were going to maintain or purchase earthquake insurance again?

MR. MULFORD:   Yes, as a matter of fact, we’re going to look into the ten percent type of deductible to see how much additional we have to pay in order to have the ten percent--
MS. MORRILL:   Supplemental?
MR. MULFORD:   Right.
MS. MORRILL:   And are you going to then maintain that though Farmers who is still with the CEA? 

MR. MULFORD:   Probably are.  I’m glad you have plenty of time, because there’s always another story.  When we moved up from Palo Alto, we kept our insurance agent who we had already had for about five years or so down there.  We found it difficult because of this earthquake situation to have an agent so far away.  Our agent did not know we had an earthquake.  When we called on Monday after the earthquake, our agent had trouble finding our policy at the time.  So we’ll probably continue--Farmers has been helpful.  We’ll probably continue with Farmers.  We’ll probably be looking for more of a local agent, though.

MS. MORRILL:   Thank you
CHAIR SPEIER:   Maybe this would be a good time, Mark, for you to spell out the wrap around policy that you have more recently unveiled.

MR. LEONARD:   Thank you, Madam Chair.  As you indicated in your opening, right after the Northridge quake and subsequent to that, largely what’s been available in the California marketplace either from the CEA or from non-CEA companies is what’s called the mini-policy, which has a 15 percent deductible, $5,000 in contents coverage and $1500 in emergency living expenses.  This tracks what was put in statute by the Legislature in 1995.  Since the creation of the CEA, we had received a great deal of feedback.  Madam Chair may remember during the mini-policy discussions, many representatives of the private industry said that the private industry would come in and sell niche products to augment the mini-policy, and for a variety reasons that never happened, and the CEA received authorization first from our governing board and then the Insurance Commissioner to sell what is called supplemental products which allow you as consumers to add different options to your base policy.  

For example, you can take that deductible from 15 down to ten percent.  You can take that contents coverage from $5,000 and increase it all the way up to $100,000, and emergency living expenses can go from $1500 all the way to $15,000.  Since there are a few other companies outside the CEA offering somewhat similar products, but they’re rather limited as far as being much smaller companies.  This has been a very popular product.  If people have questions about it, they’re encouraged to talk to their agent, or you can go to our website directly at earthquakeauthority.com and try different options as far as what these would cost you to add the supplementals to your current coverage.  
CHAIR SPEIER:   Is it a fair comment to say that to reduce your deductible to ten percent for the average home would cost about $120-$150 in the Napa area here?

MR. LEONARD:   Depending on where you’re at in Napa, it could be as little as $75 at the higher range, yeah, you’re probably looking at around $150.  Again, I would encourage people to check with their agent and get a direct quote and see what exactly it would cost for them.  Or to go to the website and use our rate calculator.

CHAIR SPEIER:   Actually, I just found out today that you had a calculator on your website.  And we can all go and find out how much coverage can cost us.  Two questions that came from the audience--one being china and crystal and how in most of these policies, it’s excluded, if I understand that correctly.  Is it worth looking at offering some kind of policy in that area, have you ever looked at that and secondly, should we look at creating some kind of a wrap around policy for chimneys and fireplaces?

MR. LEONARD:   Both the china and glass exclusion and the chimney sublimit come straight from statute.  In the creation of the mini-policies you’re going to see these in policies sold not only by the CEA but by a number of companies.  If those issues want to be revisited, that’s a decision for the Legislature.  

CHAIR SPEIER:   Is it a decision for the Legislature to make and that the CEA can’t independently take action on that?

MR. LEONARD:   As our products have to be approved by our governing board, then by the Insurance Commissioner, in the sense that it could be undertaken by the CEA and not by any other company--yes.  But, if you’re interested in uniformity in some of these issues, I would suggest that if you’re interested in changing specifically those exclusions, that you go and--the Legislature take a look at the language that they created back in 1995 with the understanding that as you increase coverages as you change exclusions, you’re going to be affecting the price of the product.

CHAIR SPEIER:   But to answer my question, you could independently start to market those products if the board was so inclined to direct you to do so.

MR. LEONARD:   With a subsequent increase in rate to handle the new coverages--yes.  

CHAIR SPEIER:   All right.  Because you certainly didn’t come back to the Legislature to reduce it from 15 to ten.  Right?

MR. LEONARD:   No, as this was a change, an addition to the base policy as opposed to a change to the base policy, there was no need for Legislative approval or statutory change, rather, for that offering to be made.

CHAIR SPEIER:   Thank you.  All right, other people that would like to testify?  Yes.

MS. AMY BACH:   Good evening.  I very much appreciate the opportunity for the hearing.  My name is Amy Bach and I’m the Executive Director of the United Policy Holders which is a non-profit insurance consumer education organization.  And both the committee and I know Commissioner Low are very much acquainted with the problems that are in play here.  I know that your committee has put out a report, so you’re quite aware of a lot of the structural problems with the CEA and I know that the Commissioner has certainly got his plate full between the _____ leading up from Northridge and then tackling what’s going on up here.  

Our organization is very much geared toward public education and there are three pieces of information that we have gotten about the situation up here that led us to be concerned.  We, some time ago, we had contacted the city to offer to participate in a public meeting of this kind where people would have a chance to step up and say what kind of problems they were experiencing and we actually were told that only two percent of the population had earthquake insurance, which was a big concern to us.  I mean, I’ll just say flat out as a matter of public policy, we’d like to see everybody carry some earthquake insurance so the risk is spread properly.  You know, obviously the problem is now, that only people who are in the highest risk areas are buying it and therefore, it’s really expensive and it just sort of goes against the basic principle of insurance, which is, spreading risks.  So, just as that public policy problem is obviously acute.  

The second piece of information that we got was that the CEA is only paying out, or has only paid out, less than 100,000 on 137 claims.  Well, that completely surprised us and dismayed us because earthquake damage tends to be very expensive to fix and you heard one person here say that he has a $108,000 worth of damage to his home, so right there, you know there’s a big problem with what kind of coverages people actually have.  You know, and then of course, the other piece of information that we have gotten that is very troubling, we saw on the news last night about people getting, being told that their damage fell below their deductible and then learning through getting their own structural engineers in that in fact the information they got from their insurance company was very wrong.  That the damage in fact was well above their deductible and, of course, that’s very troubling.  Because, number one, that’s exactly what we saw in Northridge and in fact, we saw it after Loma Prieta--we really see it, unfortunately, after almost every disaster.  It’s just a chronic problem.  And I don’t think I need to spend a lot of time on that, because I think you know about it.  

So, again, with the tip sheets that we give out to people, the number one thing that we tell people is, well, one, we always tell people file a claim even if you think it might not exceed your deductible, but two, get your own experts.  Because insurance companies are financial entities.  They’re  not in the business of paying out more than they absolutely have to and property in California is extremely expensive.  It’s extremely valuable.  Contractors are hard to find, but still it’s critically important that people get their own contractors.  So, again, those are the problems I know that you are aware of.  And as far as what we think that the committee can do and the Department of Insurance can do, I think, first of all, the policy holder bill of rights would be good idea.  

There are what you hear over and over again are problems with communication.  The consumer is lacking information and the insurance company has the information.  And so, for example, you talked about scopes.  And that is a classic situation where there’s just a real gap between the knowledge of the policyholder--most people don’t know what a scope of repair is.  And yet that’s the single most important document that determines how a claim is going to be settled.  And it also determines whether or not the policyholder and the insurance company can get on the same wavelength.  If you can agree on a scope, then it’s a question of putting a price tag on a repair.  So, what we’d like to see is--and you can maybe do it through regulations and the department--we would like to see people just automatically getting copy of a scope of repair from their insurance company so then they can know what the quantities are, and what items the insurance company believes need to be fixed.  And that way, if they get a second opinion, which of course, they should, then their contractor is in a position to say, well, I agree with this, I disagree with that and you can compare apples with apples.  

It’s so often the delays that people experience are a result of a lack of communication.  You’ve got the insurance company starts to dig in, they’ve got their contractors estimate and their scope and by golly, that’s what they’re going to pay, not a penny more.  And then you’ve got the homeowner and if they do have the resources to get a contractor, that person comes up with something that is different and it’s very hard to compare.  

So I would say requiring insurance companies to give policyholders scopes of work as early as possible in the process would help.  And then there are just, there are certainly are regulations that should prevent the kind of delays people experience.  It’s just a matter of I think, educating people to exercise their rights, contact the department when they need to contact professionals, when they need to.  

And also, I think cracking down on insurers who are violating the unfair claim practices regulations is important.  And, I’ll say this, when I look around the room, I actually worry, it seems there may be more insurance company representatives here than there are actually insureds, which reinforces my concern that just not enough people have coverage.  So those are the main things I want to say and on the CEA, our organization is very much opposed to it because we felt that the public always benefits from the forces of competition and the free market.  And we felt that, frankly, that the insurers did a lot of strong arming in the Legislature to get out of the requirement to sell it and we don’t think it did the public a lot of good.  This kind of interference with the free market just doesn’t really help anyone, I don’t think.  

The CEA is having a lot of problems and you know, frankly, I’d like to see them go out of business, no offense guys, but I like to see the free market do its job.  I think it’s just a better deal for people.  But, you know, that’s kind of water under the bridge.  So, to make it better for what we have and we’ve tried to be constructive, you know, United Policy Holders was represented on the advisory board to the CEA.  We figured, okay, it’s done.  We’ll do what we can to have a constructive input.  You ought to make the policy cover a lot more.  And it’s pretty darn expensive and it excludes a lot.  And we’d like to see you be a lot more creative with it.  And that’s about all I want to say, so thanks again for the forum.  

COMMISSIONER LOW:   Thank you, Ms. Bach.
(APPLAUSE)

CHAIR SPEIER:   Please come on.
MR. JOHN METZ:  I want to thank you all for having this meeting here tonight.  My name is John Metz.  I have actually been recognized by the two prior elected insurance commissioners as a consumer advocate on behalf of insurance consumers in California and I was also appointed by Commissioner Garamendi to the task force that drafted the unfair claims ___ here in California.  And as Commissioner Low and Senator Speier and Brian know, I have certain, very serious concerns that clearly imply to the Napa earthquake as well as all the other earthquakes, and I apologize for getting here late, so if I repeat myself, I apologize.  If I repeat anything that you said.  

But, one of the main concerns is that, as Amy said, insureds don’t know what they’re entitled to.  And Commissioner Low, as I’m sure you know, the insurers currently do under existing law and statute, have duties to inform the insureds of their rights.  For example, what Amy was talking about with regard to giving insureds copies of scopes that they might do.  But clearly that’s duty under the 2695.4a, the insurer’s duty to disclose information to its insureds informing them of all benefits, coverages, time limits or any other provision of any policy they issued that might apply to a claim.  And in fact, there is a continuing duty that if they, the insurers who clearly have the knowledge, who literally have hundreds of thousands of earthquake claims under their belts, if they look at a house and see that there is another, there’s other damage that the insureds not aware of, they are required by that rule to assist the insured in finding that out and making sure that the insurer pays whatever the people are owed under the policy.  No more, but no less.  Unfortunately, it’s been our experience with all the other earthquakes that this simply does not happen.  

And one reason I’m sorry I was late, because I would have liked to hear the experience of the homeowners who spoke, but the one gentleman who I did hear speak made it clear to me that in his case, that wasn’t done.  Because, I believe that in the vast majority of cases, homeowners have no reason to get a second opinion if the insurers are doing what they are required to do currently under the law.  The reason that this doesn’t happen in most cases is it’s been my observation and the market conduct exams that were done on the Northridge earthquake found that, in fact, the insurers are not doing it.  And I think that a large part of the problem is in the failure of the previous administration to enforce existing law.  And that there are probably a lot of insurers out there who want to do the right thing, but they can’t, because the insurers who are able to get away with the not fulfilling the rules, they are at a competitive advantage.  It simply drives the market to the bottom.  

There were three things that I heard said earlier that I would like to mention, because I think they’re not quite accurate.  One is, Senator Speier, you were concerned about the fact that earthquake insurance and fire policies did not do the same thing.  Well, I brought this up to the Legislature a couple of years ago when Assemblyman Knox had a bill on this issue.  And I believe that if you look at Insurance Code Section 2070, you’ll find that, in fact, it does not apply to earthquake claims by its language.  It does apply to fire insurance.  All this stuff came out of New York fire insurance policy that came out in the beginning of the 20th century.  It does not, by its plain language, apply to earthquake insurance, although it may.  

So, many of the archaic rules which make sense in a way with fire insurance, because fire insurance have very little deductible, almost everyone who has a fire in the house knows that they’ve had a fire in the house.  If you have a hundred or thousand-dollar deductible, you see that your house has any kind of smoke or damage, it makes sense to call the insurer and the insurer has a right to know.  In the case of an earthquake, most of the people in Napa did not know, as well as the insurers knew at the moment the earthquake occurred, that there was a great, a substantial likelihood that every single property in this area had some measurable physical change in it.  Why?  Because earthquake shake buildings and they are buildings that are held together by nails and screws and you have pipes, plumbing pipes held together.  It doesn’t take very much movement to actually cause damage, which is not discoverable except, if you do a thorough investigation.  

So, I believe, as the Commissioner knows, that once the insurer is on notice that there is a situation in which there’s a high probability there’s some measurable, physical change occurred.  Which is, I believe, the definition of damage on an insurance policy, on an earthquake insurance policy.  That they have the duty to go out and tell the people and to present to them what they know the possibilities are so that the insured can say, well, I would like you to do a thorough inspection of my house or not.  But, as it stands now, the insureds who are likely to have had damage to their house will probably not have an inspection done.  

CHAIR SPEIER:   All right, thank you.  Questions? All right, we’re going to now go to other parts of this hearing, but we will return for a second public comment period for those of you that are still trying to get up your nerve.  Next we’re going to hear from the disaster assistance personnel and the Department of Insurance so if the County OES is present and would like to speak, we welcome your comments.

MR. NEIL O’HAIRE:  Thank you Madam Chairman.  Let me assure the panel of one of the many people who have worked for the last sixty days on the aftermath of this event that it is a non-trivial earthquake and it really has significantly affected our community.  We knew very, very quickly the size and scope of the damage was less telegenic than the Northridge or the Loma Prieta earthquake.  We knew very quickly that it was extensive in our neighborhoods.  It was affecting the people of the City of Napa and the County of Napa, at a much greater degree than we saw in the Loma Prieta earthquake.  And that has been bared out by the U.S.G.S. where they show in certain areas of Napa that even though it was only a 5.2 earthquake, that we had Mercalli magnitude 6 and 7 shaking, which is damaging shaking.  And for those of us who’ve gone through it or for those of us who were kayaking the night it happened and came home the next night.
CHAIR SPEIER:   How many were there of you doing that?
(LAUGHTER)

MR. O’HAIRE:  I can tell you, to my family and to my wife it was definitely a non-trivial event, and it was a damaging earthquake.  One of the strengths of this earthquake response is it happened when not a whole lot of other things were going on in California.  The local government responded extremely quickly to meet the needs of the citizens.  The state came in with a gubernatorial, I think, on the seventh which was the Thursday after the earthquake and then very quickly, a week later, federal government also came in.  We at the local level pushed extremely hard for an individual assistance declaration.  The reason we did that is we knew that the losses, even if they were covered by insurance policy, a large part of it would be coming out of the owners’ pockets, the people would could least afford to pay damage that was totally unanticipated.  Two to ten percent really doesn’t matter.  

Ninety percent of the homeowners who suffered damage in this earthquake would have suffered damage that would have been below the typical deductible on these policies.  And yet they’re on fixed income, they’re moderate income.  Many of them are retired and to take 20 or $30,000 out of your income stream to make the repairs to bring your house the way you had it on September 2, was going to be a huge sacrifice.  So we are very appreciative of the fact that we do have some kind of insurance programs in California.  We are even more appreciative of the ____ that brought in the individual assistance and the presidential declaration.  I can’t say enough about the SBA and FEMA.  They did come in once the decision was made to give us the individual declaration.  They came in very quickly.  

The SBA, even before the presidential, came in and indicated they were there to help us.  They helped us set up the center as a full partner.  FEMA joined us immediately after the presidential and money started flowing a week after the presidential declaration.  What we can do for insurance?  After twenty years in the business, I’m a fan of all-hazard policy.  I think that we have to spread it--the hurricane damage, the tornado damage and the earthquake damage across a national base.  

I applaud what we’ve tried to do in California, but as you can see, and you can hear from the stories, that there’s a huge gap that we’re not filling.  And I don’t think that anything other than an all-hazards policy with a reasonable deductible of maybe five- percent that we’ll meet the needs of the citizens of both California and the country. Thank you.  I’ll be followed by Paul Jacks of the state OES.
CHAIR SPEIER:   Let’s see if there are any questions first. The question by the one gentleman, Mr. Mulford, who can’t get FEMA assistance because the insurance issue hadn’t been resolved yet.  Is that a common complaint that you heard--

MR. O’HAIRE:  That’s typical, I’m one of those people.  And the way I approached it is I knew that my earthquake insurance deductible was less that at least the initial estimates of damage that I suffered.  And the only thing I could do to expedite that process was bug my insurance company almost daily.  You’ve had your inspector, you’ve had your structural engineers.  Both told me when they were on my property that it appears to be under my deductible.  Now I need a letter very quickly in order for me to get the FEMA process going for the emergency repairs and emergency housing assistance.  And even with me calling them every other day--

CHAIR SPEIER:   And even with your pull, huh?
MR. O’HAIRE:  All disasters are local, but our pull at the local level is pretty minimal.

(LAUGHTER)

MR. O’HAIRE:   Even with me working on them every other day and saying, you know you promised me on Tuesday, it’s now Wednesday or is it.  It took me seven days to get that letter.  Once I had that letter, to FEMA’s credit, I faxed them a copy of it and within two days, they had an inspector out.  But by then, it was a month later and the obvious repairs--we were talking about what I had done to fix the house, and I was showing the inspector what we had done, versus seeing the damage first hand.
CHAIR SPEIER:   Who was your insurer?
MR. O’HAIRE:  I have Safeco.  As I said, they were very response--I reported it on the fourth, they had a claims adjuster out on the fifth, structural engineer on the seventh.  Both the adjuster and the structural engineer said it appeared to be under my deductible.  And it took another 20 days of really some attention on my part to get them to respond in writing so I could get into the FEMA stream.  
CHAIR SPEIER:   But you have filed a claim?
MR. O’HAIRE:  Yes, I have.

CHAIR SPEIER:   Is Congressman Thompson’s staff here?  It appears that it would be worthy of review from a federal level to change the FEMA regs to comply with the SBA regs so you could just do reimbursement as opposed to waiting for letters and--

MR. O’HAIRE:  From a personal experience on it, the way the SBA loans are structured with a five-month grace period before you start actually making your payments on it.  That is a big help that should be publicized more.  That even though you’re waiting for FEMA to come in, you can get an SBA loan while you’re waiting for an insurance determination.  And I had an SBA loan within about seven days of applying.  So I did have the money to make the repairs.  And that’s something that we need to do a better job of publicizing if we can’t make a policy change.

CHAIR SPEIER:   All right.  Very good.  Thank you.  Next?  FEMA?  Okay, we’re going to hear from Mr. Jacks.

MR. PAUL JACKS:  I want to thank you for the opportunity to speak.  I’ll make my comments very brief since I know we’re running a little bit late.  Also, I’m not an insurance expert.  That’s the first thing I want to establish.  I’m the Deputy Director in charge of disaster assistance.  I'm with the Governor’s Office of Emergency Services.  And so our function really, the way I like to look at it, is to attempt to maximize support assistance that goes to disaster victims.  Our role is, fundamentally, in terms of individuals and families and businesses, is more of a coordinative and facilitative type of role.  We don’t necessarily administer dollars ourselves, but we work very, very closely with, say, our federal partner agencies, Small Business Administration, Federal Emergency Management Agency.  And we coordinate very closely and communicate very closely with those entities.  We also have a role vis-à-vis, other state agencies.  One of my hats I wear is I’m the Deputy State Coordinating officer.  What that means is that we work with other state departments to make sure that other state departments are here also to assist us in addressing disaster victim needs.  Like for example you look around you here there are various state organizations, State Contractors Licensing Board, Department of Insurance, we have tax assistance from the Franchise Tax Board.  

We also have representatives here from the Department of Social Services, who actually administer the individual family grant program in the State of California for the federal government.  So, what we do here a lot of is coordinate.  We tend to bring people together.  That’s one of our biggest roles here and one of the things I’m most proud of here, is really the center, which we work very closely with the local governments, City of Napa, and the county, just set up.  Also, we work very closely with our federal agency counterparts and other state departments to get them here.  So we’re all kind of here helping the disaster victims providing them with the ability to come and talk to someone face to face to have their needs dealt with. 

 I think that it’s important to understand--I’ve been hearing a lot tonight in terms of short _______ insurance.  Insurance is where a lot of this--it’s where the process starts.  I’m a little bit concerned in terms of hearing all the stories in terms of the gaps.  It makes me feel like maybe there are things we are not able to do that we maybe should be doing.  There have been programs over the years that have been enacted as a result of special legislation to provide various sorts of gap funding or special loan funding and so on and so forth.  A lot of those programs have faded away over the years.  We don’t really have any specific state programs to address some of the needs that happen, in fact, we’ll identify tonight.  I’m listening and I’m hearing a lot.  I think there are some issues there that we can maybe look at in terms of potential legislation and whatever for the future.  

Some areas that we perhaps need to look at, gap loans, whatever.  Maybe even going so far as setting up some sort of state assistance program to provide benefits to individuals and families affected.  We have a supplemental program right now.  But that supplemental program only comes into play when the federal funds are exhausted.  A person comes in and maximize on the federal side then they may qualify for a state supplemental grant.  We don’t have an independent authority there to deal with some of these issues.  So, I just want to let you know that I’m here.  I’ve heard a lot.  I’m thinking a lot about various ways we can maybe address these issues and problems and I hope we can work toward some solutions.
CHAIR SPEIER:   Questions?
MR. JACKS:  No questions?  Boy, this is an easy crowd!  Thank you very much!

CHAIR SPEIER:   All right, SBA?
MR. ALFRED JUDD:  Good evening, Madam Chairperson, Commissioner.  My name is Alfred Judd.  I’m the area director for the Small Business Administration’s disaster program.  That is, I run the office headquartered in Sacramento that covers the western U.S.  Much broader than California.  Right now we’re responding to disasters in Arizona and Idaho and Alaska and after the rainfall on The Big Island today, we’ve got people enroute there.  Let me just make a couple of brief remarks then I’ll be happy to answer any questions you have.  

First, let me talk just a little bit about what our role in this disaster has been, and then second, what our experience with insurance has been, because I know that’s what you’re trying to get at.  And thanks to Mayor Henderson and the City of Napa and Paul Jacks and everybody at OES, this facility that these folks set up has been a great opportunity to provide really good service to the folks here in Napa.  I wish every community would follow this model.  It works really well.  At this point, we’ve made just over $10 million in loans down here.  It’s been an event that on the outset, everybody said was a non-event and that a magnitude of 5.2 in the community can’t do that much.  I remember a couple nights after the earthquake actually took place and the evening before the President declared, I happened to be down in Napa at a social event here and everybody I was talking to said, “well we don’t have any damage at the house,” or “we lost some crystal,” and I said, (groan) to myself.  A lot of these people are going to be in to see me in a way that I don’t want to know about.  

For those of you that may not be acquainted with our role, we make federal disaster laws.  And people confuse us with our friends at FEMA who have a complementary and different set of programs that meet a variety of other needs.  And I’m sure they can address the restrictions that you’ve heard about tonight.  We’re there to provide assistance to any property owner, any private property owner, homeowner, small business, large business, renter, doesn’t matter, even though we are otherwise the Small Business Administration.  Not in disasters, it’s everybody in the private sector.  We’re there to make a loan for any damage that is not otherwise compensated.  That they don’t get full insurance recovery for or some other compensation for.  And we don’t make people wait to get that.  We’re happy to make a loan with the understanding that any proceeds that duplicate the loan will be paid back, as I think you’ve heard a couple of the folks refer to this evening.  That provides people an expeditious way to get money if there’s an insurance dispute, they can move forward, whatever the issue might be, they can move forward.  And it ends up without any duplication, then the federal taxpayers are subsidizing in the form of a low interest loan.  In this disaster, most of the damage has been home damage.  There’s not been a lot, fortunately, to the business community, and I suppose that’s just the particularities of the geography of where the intensity and the damage went throughout the city and some of the areas just beyond the city limits.  

As of this afternoon, we had processed in our Sacramento office, 705 cases.  We have a large number of cases still outstanding that people have an application that they haven’t returned to us--a deadline approaching on the 13th of this month to do so.  And I hope a lot of those folks are going to take advantage of that just as they ought to be filing an earthquake insurance claim if they have one, because they may well have damage that they don’t know about or the damage may well be more than they think.  And that’s certainly turning out to be the case in many of the situations that we’re dealing with including some of the folks here.  

CHAIR SPEIER:   Excuse me.  The 13th is the deadline for filing an application?
MR. JUDD:  For filing for all federal and state disaster assistance in this disaster.
CHAIR SPEIER:   And so your recommendation is to, whether you think you need it or not--
MR. JUDD:  File!  Now, they can call or register with FEMA up though the 13th.  And if they do so, obviously they have not had a chance to file an application with SBA that very same day.  We will give them a grace period on a case by case basis.  We’ll communicate that with them.  The most important thing they need to do though, is get registered with FEMA by that deadline.  And if they’ve already got an SBA application, they need to file it.  Then they’ll be in the door and we can continue to help them as they may discover they have other problems that they don't know about.  _________ made some excellent points tonight that earthquake damage is always troubling because you can’t always spot it.  It takes time to discover things.  And I think, in fact, there was some heavy rains last weekend and the beginning of the week and some people found they had some areas that weren’t as watertight as they thought.  That’s normal after an earthquake.  
CHAIR SPEIER:   Let me ask you another question.  This happened in my region where communities, years later, wanted to benefit from the--I guess it was the severe flooding we had maybe four or five years ago.

MR. JUDD:  ’95.
CHAIR SPEIER:   It might have been ’95.  And one city was able to get additional funding because they had actually filed with FEMA or SBA and the other city did not, because they hadn’t filed.  Although they both sustained water damage more recently because of it.  

MR. JUDD:  I think you’re referring to a FEMA program for state and local governments to get assistance.  Which is not what we do. 

CHAIR SPEIER:   But it’s the same principle.  So if Napa hasn’t already filed, they should.  Right?

MR. JUDD:  But more importantly, the homeowners and businesses that haven’t already sought federal assistance and registered for the process really need to do so, because they may have damage that’s more than they think.  Sadly, a lot of people think, “well I can handle that, I can afford to deal with what they see there,” not appreciating that a lot of earthquake damage they’re going to find out about afterwards.  As time goes by.  

Anyway, of the 705 claims that we have processed through earlier today, we don’t maintain statistics on how many people have insurance as per se, because we don’t have a need in our business to do that. But I did have our staff go through those so we could respond to you in terms of what we’ve got here.  We think we have about 12 cases out of that 705 where people had reported to us they had some earthquake coverage.  They had an earthquake policy.  That’s all.  Of those 12, we know of two cases where the damage exceeds the deductible and they will be expecting to get an actual payment from the insurance.  And you’ve just heard from 50 percent of them.  (LAUGHTER)  That tells me a couple of things, even recognizing that our sample is not the whole universe, after all, people who don’t have coverage are more likely to be coming to us.  Tells me the number of earthquake coverage in the community is very low.  And it tells me that the deductibles are well above the average levels of damage.  

Our average home loan is just over $19,000.  We’ve got a few bigger cases and we’ve got some smaller cases, but a lot of them fall right in that $20,000 range.  And for most of the folks, most of that 12 that have the coverage, their deductibles are well above that.  They’re not even approaching it.  So to the extent you wanted to hear from us about what our experience with this insurance in this disaster is, it’s almost an irrelevant factor.  And that’s very sad.  

CHAIR SPEIER:   It is.
MR. JUDD:  Any questions?  

CHAIR SPEIER:   It was very helpful.  Thank you very much.
MR. JAMIE FERNANDEZ:   I have a question for him.
CHAIR SPEIER:   All right.
MR. FERNANDEZ:   What is your criteria for the interest rate and I’m--my name is Jamie Fernandez and my wife Candace.  We are renters.  Our house was _____.  We no longer live there through this, but we’ve applied for this SBA loan.  Now we’ve got our papers back and it states that our interest rate is 7.8%.

MS. CANDACE FERNANDEZ:  And payable back in two years and two months.
MR. FERNANDEZ:  Now I opened up the Napa Register this morning or this evening and I see on the front page that the interest rate is 3.5%, so if anybody’s here from the Napa Register, please correct me.

UNIDENTIFIED:   Let me explain that--
CHAIR SPEIER:   Would you do that in the microphone, please?
MR. FERNANDEZ:  And they did say, we checked on it and they said it was because of our lifestyle.  Now, our lifestyle as renters?

MS. FERNANDEZ:  That we made enough money that we could do that.
MR. JUDD:  Let me try to explain it, and if you still have some questions, please feel free.  Congress is required to supply two different interest rates.  We have an interest rate that is deeply subsidized by the taxpayers and this disaster, Cynthia, is 3.625?  3.687.  It’s set by a statutory formula so it gets into some really weird results as opposed to common fractions that we might not normally talk about.  It also has another rate that’s based on cost of money to the government.  That is, there’s no taxpayer subsidy.  

The law requires us to make a distinction with each and every applicant whether, without hardship, they can afford the loan with or without taxpayer subsidy.    The whole theory being that the taxpayers ought not to be subsidizing those that can afford, without any hardship, to pay for the repairs themselves and everybody else gets a substantial subsidy in the loan to make it affordable to make the disaster repairs.  That’s a function of the law.  The law also requires us to term the loan in accordance with each individual’s ability to repay.  About 95 percent of the disaster loans are written at the low rate.  Only about five percent are at the high rate.  

What you’re describing to me is you, for whatever reasons and I’m not familiar with your case file and I don’ t know that we ought to be discussing that in front of everybody else, we reached a different conclusion.  Whether we had complete information or not, I don’t know.  Our folks are here everyday.  I would strongly urge you to come by and sit down with one of our loan officers and go though that and ask them to explore--did we miss something, was there some misunderstanding and see if we got the right result.  Because we’re happy to change it if we made a mistake, too.
MS. FERNANDEZ:  After so much frustration from FEMA and SBA, because we’ve been homeless since this earthquake, I did call Mike Thompson’s office and they were wonderful.  They were compassionate, they listened and I believe they went to bat for us as best they could.  And, Brad, who is Mike Thompson’s aide, nice guy, called, laughing to me one day and said, “You’re not even going to believe this, Candy.  We had a meeting--they guaranteed us that interest rate when this whole thing started.  But because you guys make SO much money you can pay that loan back in two years and you can pay the high interest rate.”
MR. JUDD:  Ed and Brad over in Congressman Thompson’s office have been very, very effective on everyone’s behalf.  Our staff is in regular touch with them.  I don’t know if we discussed this particular case, do we know?  No?  No contact?  Okay.  

MS. FERNANDEZ:  So, we’re the lucky five percent and we’re also one of the only four homes in Napa that are red tagged as uninhabitable.  Go figure!

MR. JUDD:  I’m at the disadvantage that I don’t know your case file and also disadvantaged that even if I did, I couldn’t by law, discuss it in front of everybody in the room.  If you want to see Brad or Ed, that’s fine.  If you’d like to come in and talk to our loan officers directly, I’d encourage you to do that.  There may be some miscommunication going on here and if so, we’d be happy to change it.  Maybe the circumstances are that this is what the law compels.  I don’t know that.

CHAIR SPEIER:   Could we make a recommendation that since they are here now and your staff is here now, maybe a simple huddle in the one of the rooms outside could assist them in resolving this immediately.

MR. JUDD:  I see one, two, three, four loan officers on overtime right now.  We can take care of it.

(LAUGHTER)

CHAIR SPEIER:   All right, if you’d like to meet them in the back of the room, I’m sure we can accommodate you in some rooms.

MR. JUDD:  To anyone else who feels that there’s some misunderstanding in their personal case, please step forward and talk to our folks about it.  We’re happy to work with you on this. 

UNIDENTIFIED:   Is the SBA aware the date for filing your tax return, the date is October 15?  Are you aware of that? The last day to file tax returns, federal returns is October 15.

CHAIR SPEIER:   If you’ve gotten extensions.  If you’ve gotten an April 15 extension you have--

UNIDENTIFIED:   Then that answers the problem.  I did my package, I sent documents, professional engineers’ reports, contractors’ estimates, and I get a letter back, “you didn’t file your tax return and we’re turning you over to the Office of the Inspector General.”  Well you know, probably the feds haven’t entered my tax return which was timely filed in October and I see here now, the reason why.  And I’m surprised.

CHAIR SPEIER:   Since I filed mine on October 15, I’m very interested in your case.

UNIDENTIFIED:   …but I’m on the OYGs--
MR. JUDD:  I’m at the disadvantage of not knowing your case--
UNIDENTIFIED:   And you don’t know when the tax return is.

CHAIR SPEIER:   Sir, I think what’s happening, there’s two cases that have kind of erupted here--if your kind offices, loan officers and the employee of the SBA could assist, that would be helpful.   I think what’s happened here is, in this case and there’s probably other cases where there was a timely filing of a tax return after an extension was received and while they also filed their documents with you, since there wasn’t a tax return yet filed, it was rejected.  And it did not contemplate that this was just an extension that had been provided and that October 15 still constituted timely filing as long as you paid your taxes on time on April 15.  So, if you would like to, don’t hesitate.  Take advantage of the opportunity of having the loan officers here to resolve your issues.  Maybe you could monitor those meetings and see how they work.

MR. JUDD:  If anybody else that’s in the room or you know of anybody else in the community that has any kind of issue like that, that’s why we’re here, cast them before me and sit down and talk to somebody about their case privately and we’ll try to sort these things through.

CHAIR SPEIER:   All right.  Thank you.  Anyone here from FEMA?

MR. MARK GHILARDUCCI:  Good evening, Madam Chairman and the rest of the panel.  My name’s Mark Ghilarducci and I’m the federal coordinating officer, past with administrative and federal disaster programs for FEMA.  After Al came up here, I thought, “Okay, this should be okay.” (LAUGHTER)  I think maybe first of all, I think it’s important that we talk about the FEMA programs and how they’re designed to come into play during a disaster operation.  In saying that though, the way that the federal government determines assistance is that first and foremost, is insurance.  That’s the best line of defense and the one that we encourage.  

FEMA grant programs or FEMA disaster assistance programs are designed as emergency measures,  strictly to have an emergency relief for someone who has been impacted by some sort of a disaster to get them into a safe--what we determine a safe, sanitary and secure environment.  That could be in a variety of ways.  It could come in the form of--they may need a grant to do some minimal repair to their home to make it safe and secure or they may need a--their home is too damaged, they made need to get into another location and we can provide them assistance through temporary housing or rental assistance.  

We also have a program that we work through the State of California call the Individual and Family Grant Program which is designed to be able to assist for key essential items that may have been lost in the particular disaster, in this case, the earthquake.  We could be talking about, possibly, washers and dryers, stoves, refrigerators, things that people need as a stop gap to keep their lives going in a secure environment.

CHAIR SPEIER:   And that’s a grant, not a loan?
MR. GHILARDUCCI:  These are all grants, that’s correct.  None of the programs that FEMA offers are loans.

CHAIR SPEIER:   Are they means tested?  Is it a means tested grant or not?

MR. GHILARDUCCI:   It’s based upon eligibility that’s determined at the time of registration.  Certainly in discussions here about insurance and one of the questions is “do you have insurance?” and has been said here tonight, people receive letters that who have insurance that said, you obviously have insurance, you’re not going to be available for assistance until we know what your insurance company will cover.  Mr. O’Haire from the county, I think stated it best when he indicated that he was on the phone to his insurance company regularly to determine how much coverage he had, and at which time he got that information and faxed it to FEMA and we were able to move forward on our assistance programs.  A lot of this has to do with implication of benefits in the event that someone does have insurance where they recouped some sort of a return from their insurance to cover losses and they received a federal grant, it’s incumbent upon us to have to go back and recoup those costs.    And sometimes that actually is more complicated for the disaster victim than being able to address it right from the get go.  

CHAIR SPEIER:   Although it would seem to me if SBA is able to do that, FEMA should be able to do that.  Mr. Mulford testified that, I mean, he’s still waiting for some final resolution about how much insurance coverage he’s going to get and he’s been frustrated by the fact that for two months he hasn’t been able to get any FEMA assistance and to the extent we’ve got one federal department that is able to just issue the money.  If there’s duplication, just have it repaid. I don’t know why FEMA can’t do that as well.  It’s a federal issue, it’s not state.

MR. GHILARDUCCI:   It is a federal issue and it has to do with the way Congress has designed the Stafford Act and the way that the programs are administered.  In the cases where there’s a delayed settlement from the insurance company, in the letter that these applicants receive, it does  indicate that if you have not received a payment or a settlement from your insurance company, to in fact, get back with FEMA and let us know and we can in fact, see if we can do something for that particular person.  Each case is reviewed on a case by case basis and there are a lot of issues that come into play with regards to being able to provide assistance.  We may--if they’re in a situation where the home is uninhabitable or certainly is not safe, we can refer them to the Red Cross for up to 30 days.  The Red Cross will provide housing for that individual through a grant at which point the applicant would know one way or the other what their insurance company--if they’re having trouble with their insurance company we could probably provide them with technical assistance to be able to help them work with their insurance company to obtain that information.  

And after that point, we may have to put them in--FEMA would cover through a grant process of rental assistance or longer term housing to keep those people in a safe environment.  Same way with the temporary housing or the minimal repair assistance.  If in fact they’re not getting their settlement back for a period of time, we need to know that and we could try to work a way to provide some assistance to be able to cover the costs of the minimal repair to get home at least safe, sanitary and secure.  So, it does state that in the letters and there are some time frames here it says within 30 days of filing your claim, but it does encourage you at any time you can call the FEMA help line and see about getting assistance.  So we will address each one of those on a case by case basis and the two gentlemen that spoke tonight, I encourage you to meet with staff that we’ve kept over here to address their particular case and see if in fact, we can help them.

CHAIR SPEIER:   So what you’re saying is that FEMA does have _____ and on a case by case basis, could in fact provide FEMA grants--

MR. GHILARDUCCI:   What I’m saying is that in the event insurance is going to be delayed and people are in a condition where they’re in an unsanitary type situation or unsecure situation, they need to let us know that and or if they’re having a problem where there is going to be delays and they’re still working, but they need some sort of temporary housing, we can address those on a case by case basis.  Any questions?

CHAIR SPEIER:   All right, thank you.  Oh, there is a question.
UNIDENTIFIED:   The insurance company is the only helpful people to me so far ___ came and inspected my house thoroughly, ______ less than the deductible, $45,000, $50,000 deductible.  I applied to FEMA and was questioned, “do you have earthquake insurance?” Yes, but the deductible is greater than the damage.  I call back in a couple of weeks and, “we sidelined your file because you have earthquake insurance,” so I faxed according to instructions, 34 pages, denial of the claim, several paid professionals stamped engineers report in a line by line item _________.   Then one of your inspectors  ____   and doesn’t have any record of that.  Why don’t you have a copy of what I sent?  Well, we’re subcontractors and they don’t talk to us and whatever’s in Washington, we don’t have.   So I provided that person with 34 pages again.  Two weeks later I get a letter back from FEMA ______ do you have insurance?  I would like to get some help. 

MR. GHILARDUCCI:   Again, in regards to your case, I’m not personally knowledgeable of it.  What I suggest you do, is before you leave tonight, see these folks right over here.  Have you been in the center here before tonight?

UNIDENTIFIED:   No.
MR. GHILARDUCCI:   I encourage you to sit and talk with this gentleman right here.  Raise your hand, Sam.  Before we get that tonight, we’ll make sure we take issue with your case.

CHAIR SPEIER:   All right, thank you.  Okay, next, _________, you’re up!
MR. MARK LEONARD:  Thank you, Madam Chair and thank you for the invitation to address some of these individual questions.  Mark Leonard, Legislative Public Affairs Manager with the California Earthquake Authority.  Also joining me this evening is Mr. Dan Dice, our disaster response manager and Mr. Joe Zubber, our senior counsel.  

First, I’d like to say if there are any consumers or policy holders who aren’t comfortable coming up and talking into the mike, we have feedback forums over at the Department of Insurance table, myself, Mr. Dice and Mr. Zubber are also here after the conclusion of this hearing to address any concerns you may have.  I’m pleased to report that the CEA is conducting a quality assurance review of our company’s practices in adjusting these earthquake claims here in Napa, and while this has been described as a moderate event, it’s certainly not moderate for the people who have experienced a great deal of personal loss to their homes.  

I’m also proud to report that Napa is bucking these statewide trends as far as earthquake sales go.  On the date of the earthquake, CEA had 2,800 policies in Napa County, which is 1,100 more policies than the CEA had the year prior.  So more Napa residents are insured and were insured on the date of the quake than the year before which is, obviously going against the statewide trend.  I don’t know if that holds true for the private companies that are writing in the Napa area, but we’re very pleased to see that more Napa residents are protecting themselves through earthquake insurance.  

To bring the committee and our board up to date, as these numbers have changed since we last spoke with you, to date the CEA has received 172 claims for our policyholders.  Forty-seven are under active review and 125 are considered closed.  There’s been a lot of misconceptions about what a closed claim actually is.  All that means is we’re simply the insurer or the CEA has not been requested to take any additional action by the policyholder.  But to echo your advice, Madam Chair, earlier as well as Ms. Bach’s, the CEA encourages all of our policy holders to file claims regardless of whether or not they think they might have met the deductible as we’ve heard it’s very important that these claims be adjusted and that qualified personnel take a look at these homes to determine whether or not deductibles have been met and perhaps there’s damage that isn’t readily noticeable to the policyholder.  Also to answer one of Ms. Bach’s concerns, something that our quality assurance review has shown us, is our companies are all being very consistent and very good about saying, “here is OUR estimate of what your deductible is.  If you disagree with this, please go out and get a contractor’s estimate and contact us immediately so that we can reopen your file.”  This process has been working quite well.  As I understand it, the Department of Insurance’s consumer hot line has received zero complaints from CEA policyholders regarding their claims adjuster process.  And I’m pleased to report that the CEA itself has also received no complaints.  I can go into more detail on the claims adjusting process or at this point, answer any questions either from the public or the committee or our board members might have.

CHAIR SPEIER:   You indicated that there were 2,800 policies.  You’ve had how many claims actually filed?

MR. LEONARD:   A hundred and seventy-two, that number is changing.  As you are aware claims are reported directly to our participating carriers.  Those claims are reported then to the CEA as part of the final status of that claim, however, whether it’s paid or the ultimate resolution, it can be a while.  That number is changing.  We’ve got claims filed as much as nine to ten months after an event, so while we expect that most people have filed their claims, we would expect the number of claims to increase slightly over the next several weeks.  

CHAIR SPEIER:   And you have an estimate on how much, what the exposure is to the CEA on these claims?

MR. LEONARD:   Our reserves are based on our open claims to date or is approximately $100,000-$150,000.  Again, this is a number that’s changing as we getting more information from our participating insurers.  The way the process works, is that our participating company adjusts the claim.  If they make a payment, that payment is made to the policyholder, and then they subsequently seek reimbursement from the CEA.  So, we’re at the last step in that process.  The policyholder has their money, the company is then seeking reimbursement for us.  So we’re a little bit behind the curve as far as claims paid to date, because again, the companies don’t report that information to us until they’re seeking reimbursement.  

CHAIR SPEIER:   Well, if you have 172 claims, we know that Mr. Mulford is going to get around $90,000 for the CEA?

MR. LEONARD:   One hundred and eight minus 32.
CHAIR SPEIER:   Okay, let’s say $70,000.  So, there’s only--we’re saying 171 other claims are going make up $50,000--

MR. LEONARD:   As I mentioned, these numbers are changing.  Reserves will be changing as we get additional information about claims paid.  I don’t know that Mr. Mulford’s claim has been submitted to the CEA for payment by his participating insurer.  

CHAIR SPEIER:   And of those 172 claims, what was the typical amount of damage?

MR. LEONARD:   The, as I mentioned, about 47 of these are still under active review by the insurers and we’re not going to have information about that for some time.  

CHAIR SPEIER:   But of the one’s you have, do you have any kind of figure?
MR. LEONARD:   As far as--
CHAIR SPEIER:   If 47 are still under review, that mean’s you’ve got about 130 that you have possession of that you could determine--

MR. LEONARD:   Your question was as to the types and levels of damage that have been experienced by CEA policy holders that have filed these claims?

CHAIR SPEIER:   Yeah, what the claim, the average claim amount has been.
MR. LEONARD:   That would require an individual review of each file to determine that.  As we’ve heard tonight, and as is to be expected, many claim have not met their deductible.  So, at this point, we’re unclear as far as an average amount or average claim or average loss depending on how you want to look at it.  

CHAIR SPEIER:   Do you think it would be prudent as this point to write to all 2,800 policy holders and inform them that if they have any damage whatsoever that it would be in their interest to at least file a claim so it’s on record if, subsequently, they do have damage that exceeds their deductible?

MR. LEONARD:   That message has been made very clear.  We would be open to looking into talking to those people that have not filed claims yet, and encouraging them to do so if they’ve not already received that message, as was repeated very often by the media in the hours and the weeks after this event.  

CHAIR SPEIER:   Does the CEA agree that Prudential LMI applies?
MR. LEONARD:   I’m going to turn this over, as we get into legal doctrines, to our senior counsel, Mr. Joe Zubber. 

JOE ZUBBER:  Madam Chair, there are several, as you are probably as aware as anyone is, there’s several components to Prudential LMI and we believe that some of it is applicable to insurance coverage and some of it is not, but you had a bill in the Legislature last session that would have codified the date of discovery and the equitable tolling provisions and we believe that that bill states existing law--that we believe those provisions--that those are the law, as it stands right now, even without the passage of that bill.  

CHAIR SPEIER:   For all of those of you in the audience that don’t a clue about what we’re talking about, Prudential LMI is a case that deals with what is called inception of loss.  And the question in earthquake is does the inception of loss occur at the date of the event or does it occur when the reasonable person using due diligence has sustained--determines they have appreciable damage, which in some circumstances, can be years later--pulling up the carpet and finding that the concrete slab is cracked and it was in fact, due to the earthquake.  And in the Northridge earthquake cases, there were insurers--each insurer had a different read and so some used the event as being the day at which the statute of limitations begins, so if you didn’t file your claim by the end of that first year, you were out of luck.  Others embraced the inception of loss doctrine, which meant that if you discovered it a year later and then filed a claim, that you would be eligible.  And so, it’s complicated but it’s critical to individual’s coverage and so that’s why it’s important for the CEA to be real clear about it so that consumers don’t have to go to court in order to have that adjudicated, which many people in the Northridge earthquake catastrophe did.
MR. ZUBBER:   But, I would reiterate that as you are aware, Prudential LMI was a very long decision with very many holdings on very many topics and I think what you discussed is what you--is what I understood your question to be.  I’m not saying that all provisions of Prudential LMI are out in the ___ , I think ____ you’re concerned with are.
COMMISSIONER LOW:   For the benefit of Mr. Mulford and Mr. Hussey and I believe it was Mr. Stanton who said that I wish I could read this policy.  Even if you read the policy you might need the benefit of some further interpretation by the courts, and this Prudential LMI is one such definition that deals with the statutes of limitations problem and when you should make your claim and what you have to do to perfect your claim.  So, there are such clarifying opinions that are available from the Department of Insurance and so even though you might have a clear reading of the policy that might have to make your claim within a year, it may really mean you have a little more than a year depending upon when you discover your damage.  And so, the Department of Insurance does have such opinions that could help you in understanding your policy, but even the language of the policy even if it were clear, sometimes doesn’t mean exactly what ordinary readers might think that policy meant.  I’m sorry to confuse you all the more, but--

(LAUGHTER)

COMMISSIONER LOW:   --it is a fact that you might have to seek further information and this is exactly the point that I think the Department of Insurance is trying to help as Amy Bach and John Metz have said, that there’s got to be a lot more education and one of the things I think the Department of Insurance is trying to do is to expand educational materials that will be available.  We’ve expanded our constituent services--we’re going to be expanding our consumer services and just about two weeks ago, I sent a press release reminding people that if you are going to re-inspect your property, you ought to do so and get the help of--get the assistance of experts and carefully determine whether or not you do have damage or you don’t have damage.  Satisfy yourself, if necessary to get additional opinions to see what damage you may have.  Some may not be discoverable immediately and that would trigger your statute of limitations and your duties to make your claim.  
CHAIR SPEIER:   Ms. Morrill has some questions.
MS. MORRILL:   Thank you, Senator Speier.  You may not be aware of this, but I, coincidentally, had a conversation with your CEO and general counsel last week in preparation for your CEA board meeting this last week.  With regard to the policy and the difficulty in reading the policy and I was informed that your staff is in the process of revising the policy currently, to make it easier to read.  I would like you to relay to Mr. Knowles some of the comments or all of the comments here regarding the policy so that they will take those into consideration in revising it and Commissioner, it is my understanding that the policy will be brought to the board for review and discussion so that we will have an opportunity as board members to review it and make comments and adopt it before it does go out so we will have the opportunity to review it as well.  But, I hope you’ll discuss that with Mr. Knowles, because we had the same concerns with regard to some disclosures that we believed were not in the document that needed to be in the document.  

So, I think the timing is perfect for comments and if there are any other comments by the audience, we would certainly like to hear them today so that we can incorporate them, so if Mark, you would do that for me, I would really appreciate it.  And also, I think Senator Speier’s suggestion to send a letter to all of the 2,800 Napa residents telling them that they should file a claim, I think is very important.  And as one board member, I would like to direct staff to do that because I do not think that relying on the media is really an effective communication tool from my perspective and I do think that filing a claim even if they’re not aware of it to get in under the one year requirement is imperative so that if they do discover something later, their claim in on file, so I would like to see that you do that.  And I would like a copy sent to all board members as verification.
MR. LEONARD:   Absolutely, on both of those points.
MS. MORRILL:   Thank you.  I appreciate that very much.
COMMISSIONER LOW:   Am I correct, Keith Newman, who is the head of the division on consumer services from Department of Insurance that a letter was sent from the Department of Insurance to all 2,800 policy holders offering assistance from the Department of Insurance--September 7, was that done?
UNIDENTIFIED:   I don’t believe so, Commissioner.  I believe that a letter went out from Mr. Kelso advising that people should do that.  We would not have had that list of individual policyholders.
CHAIR SPEIER:   Right.
COMMISSIONER LOW:   It was a very generic letter, then I think that was addressed to the press or to--
UNIDENTIFIED:   To the insurers, also,  Commissioner.  Addressed to the insurers to ask that they make sure that all of their policyholders do this.  But, not to the individual policyholders.

MS. MORRILL:   I think it would be important for the CEA, because they know who their 2,800 policy holders are, to send it and the consequences of not filing, I think that they should be informed of that so that they really do understand exactly what would happen should they not file that claim.

MR. METZ:  Might I suggest that--
CHAIR SPEIER:   Mr. Metz, you’ll have to wait a minute.  We’re going to have questions from the panel first. 

COMMISSIONER LOW:   No thank you, I have no questions.
CHAIR SPEIER:   Let me ask you, Mr. Leonard, why did the insurers of Service By California Earthquake Authority Service By, one of the 18 insurers, sent out a letter to a Napa resident and you’ve evidently seen this letter?

MR. LEONARD:   Yes, this was reviewed with staff, your staff this morning.
CHAIR SPEIER:   All right.  Actually, the letter I would compliment the insurer.  I would hate to have to mention their name--I’m just joking--early on in the letter it does say that if our investigation--if you question our investigation or you may want to obtain your own estimates of the cost of repairs--if you’ve obtained a repair estimate and it’s above your policy deductible, please contact us immediately.  But then on the second page it references legal action.  And it says no action can be brought under this policy by any person unless the policy provisions have been fully complied with and the action is started within one year after the date of the inception of the loss.  Now, first of all, that language is full of legalese.  That unless you’ve studied Prudential LMI and inception of loss for a year, you wouldn’t have any clue what it was about.  Secondly, I don’t necessarily believe it is absolutely accurate in reflecting what is the loss.  So, would you comment on that?

MR. LEONARD:   We went over this again with your staff this morning and, Mr. Zubber, correct me if I start to stray from our legal interpretation, but this letter from this company as well as letters from non-CEA companies are governed under existing statute and Department of Insurance regulations.  Could this letter be made more clear?  Many correspondences from many entities could be made more clear.  The CEA included as well as from our participating carriers.  What my suggestion was this morning to staff was that in order to insure consistency on this issue, perhaps statutory, if this is a statutory--in compliance with statute to have this clause in here or perhaps a regulatory action through the Department of Insurance to insure that all carriers are communicating to all of the policy holders on a consistent basis on these issues and we would look forward to that.  
CHAIR SPEIER:   I guess the question is, would it not make sense for the CEA to have reviewed and okayed any letters that insurers are sending out on what is CEA letterhead in effect, to make sure it is reflective of CEA’s policies?

MR. LEONARD:   While they--State Farm for example, is adjusting this claim, any final determination on any claims status would be made by the CEA.  With regard to clarification of the Prudential LMI issue, perhaps with 20-20 hindsight, lots of people could be informed, not just from the CEA, but from the rest of the market as well, about their rights and it’s unfortunate that we have to come back at this point and say, “oh we wish we’d done this differently.”  But we’re talking about, as you pointed out and as discussion has shown, a very complicated legal matter.  We believe that these letters are currently in compliance with all of the statutes and regulatory requirements.  Can they be made better?  Certainly, and we would look forward to working with our carriers on this issue which is part of the quality assurance review that we are currently working on.

CHAIR SPEIER:   All right, I’m actually talking prospectively.  I would just think prospectively you would like to have some kind of review.  And the reason why I bring it up is because in the hearing we held at Northridge earlier this year, in the heat of the investigation of the Department of Insurance, one woman, 84 years old, a widow, got a letter from one of the insurance carriers after Northridge.  She had filed an initial claim, it wasn’t very much.  Months later, she saw more damage and over a course of 16 months, a contractor came out and reviewed it.  And then all of a sudden the statute of limitations had run and she receives a letter that talks about suits against us from the insurance company.  And she says, “I had no intention of suing my insurance company.”  So she ignored the language.  So I think it’s incumbent on us to make sure that it is written in simple English that people understand, words, clear what their rights are and their responsibilities are in order to protect any claims they may have in the future.  

CHAIR SPEIER:   Ms. Morrill.

MS. MORRILL:   Thank you.  Mr. Leonard, I haven’t seen this letter before so I’m just looking at it for the first time, but it seems to me that this is a policy issue that ought to be reviewed by the board and acted on by the board.  Again--
MR. LEONARD:   A policy issue in the sense of under the delegation resolution?
MS. MORRILL:   Correct.
MR. LEONARD:   Sorry, we’re talking a little inside ____ here.  This is a question between staff delegated duties and duties which require board direction.  

MS. MORRILL:   Policy is set by the board and directed to staff.  And then there are certain administrative functions and authorities that the board can delegate to the CEO and has done.  But it seems to me that a number of these things, I would certainly agree with the Senator that if our name--if the board’s name is on it, the California Earthquake Authority, that we ought to have some oversight in monitoring what goes out with our name on it.  And I think that we probably need to discuss Prudential LMI a little bit more in some more detail and so, again, and I’d be happy to discuss it in more detail with Mr. Knowles, as well.  But if you could please extend my comments that I think we need to discuss this as a policy issue directed by the board, I would appreciate it and we can discuss future agendas of the board and including this information for action by the board.  I think that’s important.

MR. LEONARD:   Certainly.
CHAIR SPEIER:   I guess one last question, Mr. Leonard.  I guess most insurers now use a software in determining construction costs?  So the question, since most of the adjustments are being done by the member companies--State Farm and Allstate are sending out their adjusters to look at properties that are damaged.  Are we confident that the software they’re using is consistent so that the estimates that they’ll come up with in terms of damage would be similar?

MR. LEONARD:   In fact, the CEA monitors,  on a regular basis, construction prices in different areas.  The last time a review was made for the Napa/Bay Area area, I believe it was actually in August of this year.  This information is sent out to the participating carriers.  They use it in different ways as far as some, depending on their software, use this as a basis for comparison to check against what’s happening with their own software.  In addition, our disaster response manager in his review of over fifty claims filed has gotten a very good indication.  And you can ask him to come up and talk in more detail about what he’s found as far as the actual consistency--a surprising degree of consistency ____ in what the carriers are estimating regardless of the system that they’re using.  
We also ___ that to the fact that we hold regular meetings with our carriers, claims adjustment staff.  We put on our own press conferences, we’re invited to attend other press conferences.  And so there’s--while thankfully, events of this size that require this level of response are infrequent, the CEA’s claims operations are active very frequently and this is exactly one of the issues that this whole pricing issue, this review of pricing is meant to address.

CHAIR SPEIER:   All right.  Thank you.  Thank you, Mr. Leonard.
MR. LEONARD:   Thank you, Madam Chair.

CHAIR SPEIER:   Now, another opportunity for other insurers to come forward.  I do understand that Manny Munson-Regala who is a senior corporate counsel and Senior VP of Government Affairs from GeoVera is here, so we welcome you.

MR. MANNY MUNSON-REGALA:   Thank you Madam Chair, members of the CEA Board.  GeoVera is an earthquake company that’s been in business since 1994, two years before the creation of the CEA.   From the time we were founded, we both had a ten- percent and a 15 percent deductible policy.  We have 200 policyholders in Napa County.  After the Napa Valley earthquake, we contacted all of our policyholders and called them up and we asked them whether or not they had any damage that they would like us to inspect.  Roughly 22 of them took us up on our offers.  They’ve all been inspected by a state certified structural or civil engineer.  A copy of the engineer’s scope of damage has been provided to those policyholders and we’re in the process now of having damage estimates written up for those claimants.  So that’s kind of in a nutshell where we are on the handling of the claims so far.  

CHAIR SPEIER:   I’m sorry, I was reading an article at the same time you were talking and I apologize.  You said there was 600 GeoVera policyholders--

MR. MUNSON-REGALA:   Two hundred.
CHAIR SPEIER:   I’m sorry.  Two hundred.  And you wrote to each of them?
MR. MUNSON-REGALA:   No, we called them up.
CHAIR SPEIER:   You called them.
MR. MUNSON-REGALA:   Yes.
CHAIR SPEIER:   And asked them if they had any damage.
MR. MUNSON-REGALA:   Well, no, what we did was--we had our adjustment firm call them up, introduced who they were, said we’re here to basically do a survey to determine whether or not you have any damage you’d like to report.  If you have appreciable damage, we certainly want to come out and do an inspection.  The folks who said, “yeah, please come on out,” we sent an engineer out to their house to do an inspection.  We provided those policy holders who had an inspection with a copy of their engineer’s report and now we’re in the process of resolving the amount of the actual damage, sort of a cross between the scope of loss and then the cost of actual repairs.
CHAIR SPEIER:   And you said twelve people have taken you up on that offer.
MR. MUNSON-REGALA:   Twenty-two. 

CHAIR SPEIER:   Twenty-two.  So you’re right about ten percent of those contacted.

MR. MUNSON-REGALA:   In the state we write a lot ____ overall earthquake market.  

CHAIR SPEIER:   Ten percent of your policyholders actually took you up on the offer to be inspected.

MR. MUNSON-REGALA:   Correct.
CHAIR SPEIER:   Would you be willing to send a letter to all your policy holders informing them that if they don’t file claims and subsequently find out that they do have earthquake damage, that they could be precluded from collecting on their policy?  Would you be willing to do what the CEA is going to be doing?

MR. MUNSON-REGALA:   If I understand your question, this would be a follow-up letter to say, “we’ve contacted you, here’s the consequence of not making a claim at this time.”  I think we’re open to the possibility.  I’d have to talk to our operational folks to see if they’re going to be comfortable with that approach.

CHAIR SPEIER:   All right.  Would you let us know?
MR. MUNSON-REGALA:   Yes.
CHAIR SPEIER:   Thank you.

COMMISSIONER LOW:   You provide written findings to those 22 people?  

MR. MUNSON-REGALA:   Yes, we provide them a copy of the actual report itself.  

COMMISSIONER LOW:   Okay, good, thank you.
CHAIR SPEIER:   Any other questions?  Let me just ask you one other question.  Does your insurance company believe that Prudential LMI applies?
MR. MUNSON-REGALA:   At the risk of sounding like a lawyer, which I am, I think we would apply Prudential LMI consistent with our understanding of the law.  Which is, a one-year statute of limitations, with the exceptions that the Commissioner has alluded to.

CHAIR SPEIER:   Well, tell us what the Commissioner has alluded to. 

(LAUGHTER)

CHAIR SPEIER:   Let’s see if you’re interpreting the Commissioner properly.
MR. MUNSON-REGALA:   I would say on a ____ basis, there are reasons for a one-year limitation apply.  But, what those may be, I can’t determine at this time.  Part of our reason for contacting the policy holders as early as we did, was in fact to--as you can understand, the longer a claim goes, the more likelihood there’s ___ speak to ____ policy holder.  One of the reasons we contact policyholders right away is to make sure that we interact with them as soon as we can.  

CHAIR SPEIER:   Actually, Mr. Perkins has some hypotheticals.
MR. BRIAN PERKINS:   And I apologize, I’ve actually given these to the CEA so they ran this drill in private this morning.  There’s three hypotheticals.  One of which is pretty clear.  The earthquake occurs, the house is pushed off its foundation and every insurance company says they’ll pay that claim, so that one’s clear.  The second hypothetical is one which we see quite frequently, but there’s an amount of damage but it doesn’t exceed the policy deductible.  And a year later, September 3 of 2001, it still doesn’t exceed the policy deductible, the claim was closed.  But three years from the date of the earthquake, someone’s remodeling their kitchen.  Open up the walls and lo and behold, for the purpose of the hypothetical, unequivocally, that is earthquake damage behind those walls, and for the purpose of the hypothetical, it exceeds the policy deductible.  

MR. MUNSON-REGALA:   Would you also say for the purpose of the hypothetical we can pin it down to that particular earthquake?

MR. PERKINS:  Yes, exactly.  For the purposes of the hypothetical, just keep it clean, because there’s--those are all facts that have to get resolved in court if you dispute them.  So, the question is then, and assuming for a moment the person did make the claim, as we’d indicated earlier, that that person then would be, not only able to make a claim, but would be paid.

MR. MUNSON-REGALA:   Are we talking about a post-SB 622 environment or--

MR. PERKINS:   We’re talking about what the CEA claims was a non-issue to start with because it was already the law.  

MR. MUNSON-REGALA:   Our point is we would look at the law existing at the time of the hypothetical.   And one of the things we’re willing to do is we’re willing to talk to the Chair about clarifying what should be the rule that applies to inception of loss.

MR. PERKINS:   Okay, and so maybe this other hypothetical will be simple to answer.  The person never made the claim because they looked around the house and didn’t notice any damage.  In fact, again, in all these, they’re being reasonable in the face of discovered facts and you’re not noticing appreciable damage.  This is the second case, the third case you don’t notice appreciable damage, reasonable in the face of discovered facts, doesn’t look like a claim even needs to be made.  And then, three years later, open up the wall and again, there’s the damage and everyone agrees it’s damage.  They even agree as to the amount.  Would you accept a claim, presumably yes.  Would you pay the claim?  
MR. MUNSON-REGALA:   I can’t answer that question right now.
MR. PERKINS:   Okay.  Those instances will come up.  Thank you.  Any other questions?
CHAIR SPEIER:   No.  Any other questions?  Other insurers who are present who would wish to speak?  We know you’re out there.  

(LAUGHTER)

CHAIR SPEIER:   This is historic.  Commissioner, it must be because you’re present.  They always want to speak.  

COMMISSIONER LOW:   They speak to me privately.
(LAUGHTER)

CHAIR SPEIER:   They like it that way, I guess.  All right, this is an opportunity now for public comment again, now that you’ve heard all of this.  Does anyone present wishing to speak under this public comment section?

COMMISSIONER LOW:   I do have with me some staff from the Department of Insurance.  Maybe I could just introduce them.  Keith Newman is the head of the Consumer and Market Conduct Division and he’s the one that sends people up here right after the earthquake and we’re working--examining and learning as much as we can from this earthquake and he’s here to assist.  I have Mr. Walter Watson who is in charge of the retro-fit program.  That’s one where the state provides funds for retro-fitting for earthquake purposes, homes that--to certain qualified people.  Now there were some 20 homes, is that right, in Napa County?

MR. WALTER WATSON:   ___ earthquake _____ November, 99.
CHAIR SPEIER:   Come up to the--
MR. WATSON:   Prior to the September 3 earthquake I would have probably came into Napa County starting in November ’99 and we retro-fitted 18 homes.  And this is structural retro-fitting.  In mobile homes that mean installing a state-certified earthquake resisting bracing system and in wood framed homes it means anchoring homes to foundations, installing automatic gas shut-off valves and a host of other structural things.  And we did a mini-survey after the September earthquake and we contacted five individuals who had their homes retro-fitted by us in the Yountville area.  Not one of those homes sustained any damage, so retro-fitting really does work.  

CHAIR SPEIER:   How many of those were mobile homes versus--
MR. WATSON:   About 16 of those homes were mobile homes.  And some of them were located in the Rancho de Napa mobile home park right in Yountville.

CHAIR SPEIER:   And were there any homes in that mobile home park that were damaged from the earthquake.

MR. WATSON:   My understanding in talking to some of our grantees in that area, a couple homes were in fact damaged.  But they were not part of our program.  We have not retro-fitted those. 

CHAIR SPEIER:   And how much money did you spend on that?
MR. WATSON:   In Napa, at that time we had spent approximately $40,000 because the average retro-fitting of a mobile home in that area was in the vicinity of $2,000 to $2,200.  So, it’s a small amount of money per unit, but it actually saved them an awful lot of damage to homes.

CHAIR SPEIER:   And the wood-frame homes?
MR. WATSON:   On average, wood-framed homes were coming, you’re talking about a 13-1400 square foot home, you’re talking in the vicinity of about $5,000.

CHAIR SPEIER:   And is that putting up sheer walls--what does that entail?
MR. WATSON:   Normally, sheer walls are not involved.  The norm is anchoring a home to the foundation.  In other words, the structure is anchored to the mudsill, installing automatic gas shut-off valve.  That’s going to be about 300 and some dollars, 300-350 dollars.  We actually strap the hot water heaters as well, not structural, but it’s part of our overall package.  But the biggest ticket item normally is repairing a foundation to allow for good retro-fitting, and in some cases, the whole package could be in the vicinity of $17,000.  And our program will pay up that amount.  And these are grants.  We have about close to 800 homes statewide that we’ve done retro-fitting on thus far.  And before our program ends in 2003, we probably will be retro-fitting between 1,800 and 2,000 houses.
CHAIR SPEIER:   How many of them along the Hayward Fault?
(LAUGHTER)

MR. WATSON:  We’ve done quite a bit around the Hayward Fault already.  We’re done about 42 in Alameda County.  We’re done quite a bit in Santa Cruz County and San Mateo we’ve done about 22-24 homes in San Mateo County.  So we spread out a lot.  But the vast majority of our program is set up for low to moderate income homeowners.  This is our target population by law, it has to be target population.  And about 35 percent of all of our retro-fit funds go into the county area.  Sometimes they have the highest number of the target population.  So we have a formula to decide how much each county is allocated.

COMMISSIONER LOW:   Thank you, Mr. Watson.  I’d also like to introduce Mr. Steven Green, our chief counsel who’s in the back of the room.  You have puzzling problems about statute of limitations and things of that kind.  Or even interpretations of policies.  That’s one of the services we try to provide and this is done through Keith Newman’s operation and he has access to the legal counsel and the legal staff that we have at the Department of Insurance.  They have written opinions in certain cases and oral opinions that will be provided to you to assist you.  You could call on a direct line--there’s a 1-800 number, 927-HELP, and these people who answer the telephone are multi-lingual and are very, very consumer oriented and will try to help you in getting your claim, if you have a claim against the insurance company, satisfactorily resolved.  And so that’s some of the services that we provide and we’re certainly available to try to help out in anyway we can.  Thank you, Madam Chair.
CHAIR SPEIER:   Thank you.  I do believe we have someone from Failure Analysis, is it Mr. Reitherman who is here?

UNIDENTIFIED:   No.
MR. JOHN OSTERAAS:   Close.   John Osteraas.  I’m here representing CURIE which is an acronym for California Universities for Research In Earthquake Engineering.  ____ universities in California who have strong engineering programs.  They’re working with CalTech and FEMA in the aftermath of Northridge, FEMA provided approximately $6 million in funds for research.  Primarily, aimed at improving the design and construction of wood-frame buildings going forward.  Wood-framed building have not gotten much attention from the engineering community.  They have historically been quite safe.  

Most of the research in the past century has gone into steel and concrete and other commercial buildings.  Most of the attention in this century has been going towards life safety.  And we’ve been pretty successful in that regard.  Since 1906 we haven’t had an earthquake in California with more than 100 fatalities.  ____ buildings are quite safe.  But what Northridge demonstrated was the huge economic toll that earthquakes have take, especially with regard to wood-frame residential construction.  And this is an area where there has not been much engineering attention, whatsoever.  Northridge was also the first earthquake where engineers were called upon in large numbers to inspect residential properties for earthquake damage.  And my experience, I think the general experience, was that the public was very poorly served by the engineering community in the aftermath of Northridge.  It’s said that if you get two engineers in a room and ask them an opinion on anything you’ll get at least three opinions. 

(LAUGHTER)
CHAIR SPEIER:   Politicians understand that.
MR. OSTERAAS:   And certainly in the case of Northridge where you have hundreds and thousands of engineers involved in varying degrees of education and expertise and experience in earthquakes.  You could get a variety of opinions ranging from patch and paint, everything’s perfectly safe to it’s unsafe, tear it down and start over.  And, certainly, if I was a homeowner in that situation and I got two opinions like that, I would be concerned.  And probably be more inclined to believe the one that tells me that I’ve got more damage rather than less.  

In the aftermath of Northridge, I worked with CURIE to develop a program whereby we would write for the first time, guidelines that were based on good, sound science, testing done at various university around the state.  Guidelines that engineers could use in the aftermath of the next earthquake to go in and do more consistent evaluations of buildings.  Guidelines that would identify that the key indicators of damage and guidelines that would tell us when we need to do destructive testing.  Clearly, we don’t have to do a full autopsy on every building within 100 miles of the epicenter, but there are certain indicators of damage that we can look for and identify, such as Mrs. Stall’s house on the south wall that we looked at.  That’s clearly an area where you would want to take off the finishes and look at what’s going on with the frame behind it.  But certainly, you don’t have to strip the entire structure to identify what the damages are and determine the safety or the extent of repairs that are necessary.  

There was a comment made tonight about pervasive hidden damage.  That structures are dramatically affected by earthquakes and it may not be apparent.  There was recently what I would call a milestone test that was run at UC San Diego.  They built a two-story house.  Put it on a shake table and were able to recreate records from Northridge.  That house was finished inside and outside with drywall and stucco, something that hasn’t historically been done in this kind of testing.  I knew it was also furnished with typical contents.

CHAIR SPEIER:   With crystal.
MR. OSTERAAS:   Yes, as a matter of fact, it was.  If we had a projector here, I could show you a little footage of it.  And the test was rather dramatic.  The house was subjected to one of the stronger ground motions that was recorded in Northridge, the Rinaldi Receiving Station that was a little bit north, northeast of the epicenter.  And it is dramatic in that all of the contents of the house are destroyed.  Furniture is tipped over, things fall out of cabinets, the water heater tips over, table tips over, glasses, dishes, things fall off shelves.  Quite destructive to the contents consistent with some comments we heard tonight.  Contents are the first things to sustain damage.  Remarkably the structure had very little in the way of damage--some cracks in the stucco.  And then the test was repeated.  And by repeating the test, you could see any change in behavior of the structure and the second time through, with this very powerful record, certainly one of the stronger records ever recorded.  A second time through, the building had identical performance.  So as far as the structure is concerned, even though it had been through this very damaging earthquake, we didn’t have concealed damage.  We didn’t have loosening of connections, we didn’t have anything that was compromising the integrity or the safety of the building to resist earthquakes in the future.  

Now, admittedly, that’s just one test and we need to do more tests under different circumstances to really understand under what circumstances you might have concealed damage and what the indicators would be that would have an inspector, whether it be a homeowner, a contractor, an engineer, insurance adjuster, whatever--would need to look for and be able to do a better job of identifying the structures that have the serious damage that we need to put the effort into.  And taking care, quite expeditiously, of those structures that have minor levels of damage that can be taken care of with a contractor--you don’t need to get engineers involved.  

CHAIR SPEIER:   Now, that study was done with $300,000 that was funded by CEA?

MR. OSTERAAS:   No, that was done as part of the FEMA study, part of the $300,000 in funding from CEA.  We just had a kick-off meeting a couple weeks ago _____.

CHAIR SPEIER:   Mr. Osteraas, I want to thank you for doing the inspection of Mrs. Stall’s home this afternoon.  That was very generous of you in doing that.  I have a bias that I’m going to share with you.  I am frightened to death that we don’t have enough people with earthquake insurance.  And when that big temblor happens, and effects the hundreds of thousands of people that it will effect, I think the stress on the General Fund of the state is going to be horrendous.  I think there’s no question that that will be one of the ramifications of it.  So everything we can do to reduce the universe of people that will be impacted by that earthquake, to the extent that we have the capability to do so, I want to encourage.  I mean, that’s partly why I like to see more people carry earthquake insurance and for it to be more attractive and penciled out better so people would be more willing to purchase it.  

But the other thing I think we need to do is stimulate people to retro-fit their homes.  And I don’t know if we’ve done enough science and enough testing to determine what are the most cost effective steps you could take in retro-fitting your home that could, in fact, save you from having much structural damage whatsoever.  Now, if we could encourage the CEA to offer a grant for that kind of study, would that be worthwhile for persons to apply for to do that kind of an evaluation?  Or has it been done already?
MR. OSTERAAS:   No, it really hasn’t.  Part of that is being done under the FEMA part of the project--the $6 million FEMA grant.  They are looking at ways of retro-fitting common structural systems or redesigning common structural systems, finishes, to perform in future earthquakes.   There certainly is more that could be done along those lines.  There was discussion earlier about masonry.  As a, it’s my personal opinion, but as public policy, we should be doing everything we can to discourage the use of masonry.  It is like putting expensive paintings on the outside of your car and driving around the track.
(LAUGHTER)

MR. OSTERAAS:   We know that no matter--any earthquake is going to cause extensive damage to masonry.  There’s very little you can do to make it earthquake resistant.  It’s an expensive frill that’s difficult to make earthquake safe.  But I think we are making great progress and certainly the testing at U.C. San Diego indicates that we have a little bit better understanding and may be able to make our structures much more resistant to, not just collapse, but resistant to expensive damage.
CHAIR SPEIER:   With the retro-fit program that was referenced that the Department of Insurance has, the focus Mr. Watson had was on anchoring foundations, strapping the water heaters and getting shut-off valves.  I want to know how cost-effective that is and how likely is that going to be to really prevent the sustaining of a lot of damage?  I just don’t know the answer.  

MR. OSTERAAS:   If we’re talking about retro-fitting, say pre WW2 houses, houses that aren’t bolted to the foundations, Victorians in San Francisco that are ____, the retro-fitting of those is extremely cost-effective--

CHAIR SPEIER:   And costly?
MR. OSTERAAS:   Depends on the circumstances, but $10,000 will buy you a big improvement in performance.  Strapping hot water heaters and gas shut-off valves are great way for mitigating the risk of fire.  And also ____ keeping the dwelling _____.  Retro-fitting to minimize damage for say, a 1970’s vintage one-story ranch home is probably not cost-effective if you look at it statewide and with the fact that most houses ____  will probably be torn down or extensively remodeled before they ever see a damaging earthquake.  It would be difficult to justify economically.
CHAIR SPEIER:   And what’s the benefit of sheer-walling?
MR. OSTERAAS:   Well, a sheer wall is a bad term because a lot of people confuse it with hosiery or something else that’s sheer.  A sheer wall resists the wracking forces of the earthquake and keeps the structure plumb and square.  In most houses the stucco and drywall function as the sheer wall.  In more modern construction, sheer walls are constructed with plywood and steel hardware and other connections beneath the finishes.  But what the San Diego test showed was that if the stucco and drywall are properly applied, they actually provide considerable sheering capacity in structure and help resist wracking of the structure which leads to cracking of the finishes.  

CHAIR SPEIER:   Thank you.  Other questions?  That was very good.  Thank you very much.  I was trying to get you another grant but you weren’t pulling on the bait.

MR. OSTERAAS:   I appreciate the opportunity to ____.
CHAIR SPEIER:   Thank you.  All right, if there is nothing further to come before the committee, do we have any closing comments that anyone would like to make?
COMMISSIONER LOW:   Thank you very much, it was very informative.
UNIDENTIFIED:   Thank you for the opportunity to attend.  I think it helped to address a number of issues.

CHAIR SPEIER:    All right, thank you all for being here.  The Senate Insurance Committee stands adjourned.

APPENDICES
Appendix #1:  Photos of Napa Earthquake Damage

Photo # A

Chimney damage was a common sight after the Napa Earthquake.  In many cases the only visible damage to a house was displaced chimney bricks. 
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Photo # B

This chimney was completely separated from the exterior house wall.
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Photo # C

This home was “red tagged” because its north wall had completely pulled away from the main frame.  Houses on either side suffered no visible damage.
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Appendix #2:
Insurance Regulation 2695.4

§2695.4. Representation of Policy Provisions and Benefits

(a) Every insurer shall disclose to a first party claimant or beneficiary, all benefits, coverage, time limits or other provisions of any insurance policy issued by that insurer that may apply to the claim presented by the claimant. When additional benefits might reasonably be payable under an insured's policy upon receipt of additional proofs of claim, the insurer shall immediately communicate this fact to the insured and cooperate with and assist the insured in determining the extent of the insurer's additional liability.

(b) No insurer shall conceal benefits, coverages or other provisions of the bond which may apply to the claim presented under a surety bond.

(c) No insurer shall deny a claim on the basis of the claimant's failure to exhibit property, unless there is documentation in the file (1) of demand by the insurer, and unfounded refusal by the claimant, to exhibit property, or (2) of the breach of any policy provision providing for the exhibition of property.

(d) Except where a time limit is specified in the policy, no insurer shall require a first party claimant under a policy to give notification of a claim or proof of claim within a specified time.

(e) No insurer shall:

(1) request that a claimant sign a release that extends beyond the subject matter which gave rise to the claim payment unless, prior to execution of the release the legal effect of the release is disclosed and fully explained by the insurer to the claimant in writing. For purposes of this subsection, an insurer shall not be required to provide the above explanation or disclosure to a claimant who is represented by an attorney at the time the release is presented for signature;

(2) be precluded from including in any release a provision requiring the claimant to waive the provisions of California Civil Code Section 1542, provided that prior to execution of the release the legal effect of the release is disclosed and fully explained by insurer to the claimant in writing. For purposes of this subsection, an insurer shall not be required to provide the above explanation or disclosure to a claimant who is represented by an attorney at the time the release is presented for signature.

(f) No insurer shall issue checks or drafts in partial settlement of a loss or claim that contain or are accompanied by language releasing the insurer, the insured, or the principal on a surety bond from total liability unless the policy or bond limit has been paid, or there has been a compromise settlement agreed to by the claimant and the insurer as to coverage and amount payable under the insurance policy or bond.

Appendix #3:
Letter from State Treasurer Phil Angelides
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PHILIP ANGELIDES

Treasurer
State of California

October 26, 2000

Honorable Members, Governing Board
California Earthquake Authority

300 Capital Mall, Ste. 1230
Sacramento, California 95814

Honorable Members:

In preparation for our upcoming meetings, | am writing this leter o express my belief that the
Califomia Earthquake Authority (CEA) must be restructured to ensure that it can mest its
obligations to its policyholders and properly fulfil it role in providing earthquake insurance for
Californians.

‘This Board and the Legislature, when it returns in January, should make review and reform of the
CEA akey prioriy. It s critcal that the enity providing insurance to over 850,000 California
families for their most important possession - their home - be financially sound and capable of
camrying out its responsibilites over the long term.

‘The recently completed independent analysis of the CEA, commissioned by this Board (pursuant
10 my proposal of March 1999) and undertake by Tillinghast-Towers Pecrin (TTP), and the
Board’s own oversight activities over the past year and & half have provided the most
comprehensive review of the CEA since is creation under a previous administration and 2
previous Insurance Commissioner. Based on the facts in font of us, I believe that we must
pursue legislative and other changes necessary to, among other things:

+  Strengthen the financial backing of the CEA. There are significant questions
‘about the adequacy of the CEA's financial sructure;

+  Enhance its survivability - ts ability to meet its claims obligations in the
event of earthquake(s). The CEA's survivability may not be at an acceptable
level;

«  Ensureits sustainability - ts ability to stay in business and to continue to

ilty over ime and it abil

issue policies over the long term. The CEA's
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10 withstand multiple, significant earthquake eventsis in question;

« Lessenits dependence on the reinsurance markets to meet its obligations.
Much of the CEA's claims paying ability resides in short term reinsurance
contracts, the price and availability of which are subject to volatility and the
oceurrence of catastrophic events such as earthquakes and hurricanes;

«  Protect against adverse selection - where the CEA, over time, insures the
highest risks, while private, non-CEA insurers "cherry pick" the lowest
risks. Adverse selection will further impact the financial strength of the CEA;

* Make carthquake insurance more widely available. The CEA is not fully
meeting ts intended mission to provide broadly available earthquake coverage
due to factors such as financial structure limitations, uneven marketing by
member companies, and negative perceptions of the entity; and

©  Restructure the CEA 0 it can better operate in the catastrophic insurance
sector - the high risk end of a risk business. The current Board and
organizational structure does not optimize the chances for success.

‘The time 1o address these issues is now, before a significant earthquake occurs and before the
CEA is faced with a crisis. Itis in the interest of all parties to have a reasoned discussion of the
steps which should be undertaken to bolster the CEA.

It s i the interest of consumers to have access to reasonably priced, broadly available
earthquake insurance 10 protect what is often their largest investment.

It in the interest of state goverment to provide a sound device which allows Californians to
‘purchase earthquake insurance for their homes. While the State s not legally obligated to pay on *
claims, we must recognize the potentially serious consequences which will arise if the CEA

‘cannot fulfll its mission.

It s in the interest of the insurance industry to ensure the long term viability of the CEA, as a isk
pooling entity to provide carthquake insurance. In the event that the CEA were to fail, insurance
companies offering homeowner policies would again be obligated under law to offer carthquake
insurance.
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In evaluating the CEA. we must keep in mind two key considerations. First of all, while the
State. in enacting the CEA legislation, sought o create a mechanism to provide earthquzke
insurance to Californians. it did not choose to assume financial responsibility for the risk.
Secondly, the CEA was created as an alternative to the pre-cxisting private sector obligation to
offer earthquake insurance 10 al insured homeowners. Given these two considerations, the CEA
‘must be able to stand on s own financially as it makes earthquake insurance broadly available to

the marketplace.

In the context. it i clear that the CEA has significant challenges which must be addressed.
Attached vou will find a summary of concers which I believe must be resolved for the CEA to
‘move forward in the most effective fashion. At the core of almost all of these issues is the
adequacy of the CEA'’s financial structure and backing, which must be strengthened to ensure:
success and viability over the long term.

1 look forward to working with the Legislature, consumers, the insurance industry, and you, as
‘my Board colleagues, o bring about the changes necessary 1o ensure that Californians have the
best possible access to earthquake coverage for their homes in the years ahead.

‘Thank§u for your consideration.

Attachment
cc: Ms. Kari Dohn
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ATTACHMENT TO LETTER OF OCTOBER 26, 2000

FROM STATE TREASURER PHILIP ANGELIDES TO THE GOVERNING

BOARD OF THE CALIFORNIA EARTHQUAKE AUTHORITY

Below is a summary of key issues facing the California Earthquake Authority (CEA) which must be addressed to ensure that the CEA can meet its obligations to policyholders and properly fulfill its role in providing earthquake insurance for Californians.


I.
SURVIVABILITY

The survivability study completed in 1999 projected the CEA's survivability at 94.7 % ‑meaning, that the CEA would have an approximately 1 in 20 chance of not surviving through the year 2013.  Survivability has been defined as the CEA having paid claims from earthquake(s) with at least $350 million in capital remaining as of 2013.

As the Tillinghast‑Towers Perrin (TTP) report indicates, the survivability model does not reflect all risks.  It does not account for the volatility of reinsurance costs due to catastrophic events around the world (including earthquakes in California). It does not consider the fact that reinsurance costs will increase as the point of attachment is lowered (in scenarios where earthquakes occur, the CEA's available capital and the first assessment layer ‑ the insurance industry's obligation ‑ will be eroded, such that reinsurance purchased in subsequent years will attach at a lower level).  It does not factor in the potential uncollectibility of reinsurance commitments.  It does not consider the considerable exposure growth that the CEA may experience after an event. And the survivability of the CEA decreases as the number of policyholders grows.

These factors, among others, can dramatically affect survivability.  For example, if the number of policyholders grows by 2% per year (the CEA's own business plan), survivability drops to 92.5% ‑ increasing the chance of the CEA not surviving to approximately 1 in 13 through the year 2013. When TTP ran a model to assess the impacts of changes in reinsurance pricing, survivability dropped another 5%. This means that, with these two variables alone ‑ policyholder growth per our own business plan and changes in reinsurance pricing ‑ survivability could drop such that there would be an approximately 1 in 8 chance of the CEA not surviving through the year 2013.

The CEA must be strengthened financially to improve survivability. This is particularly critical given the additional following considerations.

First of all, as noted above and per the TTP study, exposure growth ‑ an increase in the number of policyholders ‑ reduces survivability. The CEA was created at a time when over 2 million California households held earthquake insurance. The CEA was put in place to provide coverage to that marketplace, yet today insures just over 850, 000 households. Expanding the CEA's book of business significantly would negatively affect survivability ‑ meaning the CEA is not effectively serving as a replacement mechanism for earthquake coverage.
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Secondly. survivability will be impacted by the removal of the first industry assessment layer in 2008.  Thirdly, as the TTP report indicated, survivability decreases as time goes on because the possibility of a significantly sized earthquake becomes larger.

Finally, all the above must be considered in the context of TTP's observations at our public hearing of August 24~' as to the rawness of earthquake science.

II.
SUSTAINABILITY

As the TTP report points out, the current structure of the CEA leaves open the possibility that the entity may "survive", but be stripped of the continuing ability to stay in business. This is due to the fact that once the CEA's capital and first industry assessment layer are depleted due to a significant earthquake(s), the CEA is left largely dependent on reinsurance ‑ assuming the CEA can purchase reinsurance and at reasonable prices ‑ and assessments on policyholders themselves.

The question is:  Is the CEA, as currently structured, a "one shot wonder"?

The issue of sustainability is a critical one because of the importance of maintaining earthquake insurance availability over the long term (particularly in the aftermath of an earthquake when demand for coverage is likely to increase) and given the fact that the CEA was put in place as a solution ‑ not as a temporary fix.  If the CEA cannot sustain itself, California will again be confronted with the significant problems which gave rise to its creation.

III.
DEPENDENCE ON REINSURANCE

As noted above, much of the CEA's claims paying ability is provided through short term (i.e. 2 years) reinsurance contracts.  The CEA's significant reliance on reinsurance is a matter of concern.

The pricing and availability of reinsurance has, over time, been subject to volatility and disruption.  For example, in the wake of Hurricanes Andrew and Iniki, the nationwide index of property catastrophe reinsurance prices jumped by over 60% over the previous year. Given the history of the reinsurance markets, we might well expect future volatility due to catastrophic events (including California earthquakes) around the world.

Further, as noted above, TTP indicated that reinsurance pricing will vary depending on the point of attachment ‑ meaning that once the CEA has run through its capital and first industry assessment layer, or a portion thereof, pricing could jump dramatically.  For example, TTP constructed a model which assumed that reinsurance pricing could climb to 30% at the lowest attachment levels (by way of contrast, current first layer reinsurance contracts are priced at 8.5% per annum). Reinsurance pricing can also be expected to increase when the first industry assessment layer obligation expires in 2008.
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TTP has suggested that the CEA could perhaps better manage its financial structure by purchasing less reinsurance at the levels above the first layer of reinsurance so that capital can accumulate more rapidly and by continuing to pursue capital market approaches to claims paying capacity.  While the CEA should examine such recommendations to optimize its financial strength within current constraints, the significant reliance on reinsurance needs to be considered in its own right.

IV.
ADVERSE SELECTION

As the TTP report points out, the CEA could expect to experience adverse selection over the next five years.  This means that, over time, the CEA will insure higher risks, while non‑CEA companies insure the relatively lower end of the risk spectrum.  As the report noted, adverse selection will be due to three phenomena: differences in rating plans; catastrophe exposure management by non‑CEA companies; and purchase of earthquake insurance by the highest risk households.

The CEA was created to broadly provide earthquake insurance coverage, which means that it cannot practice exposure management as would a typical insurance company. Indeed, while the CEA can monitor adverse selection, it cannot control it.  While TTP recommended greater refinement in rates, that recommendation has to be balanced against the mandate and purpose of the CEA to ensure widely accessible coverage.

The CEA's market share has declined from over 71 % in 1997 to under 66% in 1999, due to factors such as the coverage and more refined rating plans offered by private sector competitors.  The chart on page 55 of the TTP report is telling.

It is important to recognize the reality of adverse selection and to ensure that the CEA has the financial structure which will allow it to fulfill its public policy mission of offering fairly priced, adequate coverage across the marketplace.

V.
MARKET PRESENCE

As noted above, the CEA will experience a decline in survivability as the number of policyholders growns.  Clearly, to allow the CEA to meet its objective to offer earthquake insurance to the full marketplace of potential policyholders, there must be financial structure reforms that permit the number of policies to grow while survivability is maintained.

In addition, the TTP report and our hearings identified other problems, beyond the impact of exposure growth on survivability, which must be addressed to increase the market presence of the CEA consistent with original intent.  For example, TTP noted that some CEA companies are not adequately marketing policies ‑ with penetration rates ranging from 7% to 50%.  The TTP report indicates that companies are concerned that increased exposure by the CEA will result in the greater likelihood of an assessment in the event of an earthquake.

A‑3

As another example, TTP observed that marketing has been constrained by negative perceptions of the CEA which are due in part to the disclosure that claims may not be fully paid. This latter concern again goes to the financial strength of the CEA ‑ the stronger the entity in terms of financial back‑up, the stronger its ability to fully pay claims.

VI.
ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE AND CHALLENGES

The TTP report and subsequent October 9th memorandum identified a series of

management actions which must be undertaken to optimize the performance of the CEA, 

in the context of its current structure.  It is clear that a significant amount of work lies 

ahead to ensure the best possible operations of the entity ‑ from weighing the benefits of 

purchasing reinsurance at the higher levels against capital accumulation to constructing a 

dynamic financial analysis model to strengthening marketing plans and programs.  The 

CEA must commit itself to adopting and executing a business plan that appropriately 

incorporates the recommendations received.  As the TTP report noted, the CEA's 

benchmarks are currently insufficiently focused on the areas most critical to the success 

of a catastrophe insurer like the CEA.

While the CEA must sharpen its operational and management focus, it is also evident that the organizational structure created for the CEA must be re‑examined so that it best allows the entity to succeed in what is the high risk end of a risk business.

There should be no illusions about the difficulties associated with operating successfully in a market sector vacated by much of the private sector.  The tasks before the CEA are daunting enough without considering the various constraints under which an essentially public entity must operate.

Consistent with the need to preserve the CEA's tax exempt status, the entity should be organizationally restructured taking into account the fact that it is a multi‑billion dollar insurance company, operating in difficult terrain.  For example, should the Governing Board be changed to include individuals with business expertise appropriate for this insurance company?  As another example, what steps does the CEA need to take to ensure that, over the long term, it is able to attract and retain the personnel needed to effectively run this challenging enterprise?  Governance and organizational reforms must be considered as an elemental part of efforts to bolster the CEA.
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California Department of Insurance

Earthquake Retrofit Grants and Loans

October 24, 2000

Senate Insurance Committee Testimony

Introduction

Good evening.  My name is Walter Watson and I work for the California Department of Insurance as Chief of its Earthquake Retrofit Grants and Loans Program.  Today, I would like to take a few minutes to share with the committee and audience a brief history of how the department ventured into the earthquake retrofit business, what our programs have done since 1996, and finally, what types of new retrofit activities are being planned.

Legislative Authority

The first thing I will like to talk about is the department's legislative authority to operate retrofit programs.

Senate Bill 395 (Chapter 899, Statutes of 1995) requires the California Department of Insurance to implement an Earthquake Retrofit Grant and Loan Program for specified types of low‑ to‑ moderate income residential property owners to minimize future earthquake damage to their homes.  This legislation became effective January 1, 1996 and it authorized the department to use $4.4 million for loans, grants, and program administration. Both the loan and grant programs initially were slated to sunset on July 1, 2000.

New retrofit legislation, in the form of AB 1453 (Chapter 796, Statutes of 1999), was signed into law on October 7, 1999 and it, along with other provisions, extended the legislative authority for the department to operate the retrofit programs until June 30, 2003. AB 1453 also appropriated an additional $3.4 million to the department to expand the programs, making the total retrofit appropriation $7.8 million.  SB 395 and AB 1453 call for the department to establish two different types of retrofit programs, namely a grant program and a loan program.  Grants are only available to single family, owner occupied households, whereas the loan program is available to owner occupied as well as non‑owner occupied properties.

Background

The department has implemented both programs; our Retrofit Loan Guarantee Program became operational on May 1, 1997 and the Retrofit Grant Program began on August 1, 1997.  The department's target population for these programs is low‑ to‑ moderate income homeowners who are located in Seismic Zone 4, the most earthquake prone areas in California.  Our programs are earmarked for 35 of California's 58 counties and are currently operating in 24 of them.

With regard to defining low to moderate income, the department uses the US Department of Housing and Urban Development income limits which are updated annually.  These limits are further adjusted for California counties by the State Department of Housing and Community Development.  Both programs are designed for wood frame homes as well as mobile homes.

Grants‑‑ Grant funds can only be used for owner‑occupied single‑family site built homes and mobile homes.  Funds cannot be used to upgrade previously Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) recognized retrofitting of site built or mobile homes.  The grant program is being administered directly by the California Department of Insurance. A site built home normally has a grant maximum of $8,000 (up to $17,000 if foundation work is needed) and a mobile home has a maximum of $4,600.  In addition to grantees having to be low‑ to‑moderate income, extra consideration is given to the financially neediest applicants who are on a fixed income, permanently disabled, 55 years old or older, and other considerations.  Grants do not have to be repaid.  I should note here that the department is not accepting any new grant applications at this time.  I anticipate accepting some new applications in February 2001 from individuals in targeted counties.

Loans‑‑ The Bank of America is coordinating our loan component which is a low interest rate program and is still available in 24 counties.  The loan interest rate is 

4 1/2%.  Owners of one to four unit site built residential properties in specified counties may be eligible for the program.  This program also applies to mobile home owners and property owners do not have to live in the subject property to participate in this program.  For additional information, potential loan guarantee applicants should call the Bank of America at (800) 489‑6563, extension 19112.

The department is in the business of structurally retrofitting homes.  For wood frame homes, the retrofit program provides for anchoring homes to their foundations, installing automatic gas shut‑off valves, bracing cripple walls, repairing foundations to accommodate retrofitting, and other procedures.  Mobile homes, on the other hand, are retrofitted by installing state certified earthquake resistance bracing systems and strapping a home's hot water heater.

I am happy to state that as of September 30, 2000, the department has paid for the retrofitting of approximately 770 homes in 24 counties through our grant program. Seventeen of those homes are in Napa County.  Another 14 homes have been retrofitted through our loan program which, as stated earlier, is operated by the Bank of America.  We expended almost $2 million over the last two fiscal years paying contractors after they retrofitted targeted homes.  These are very exciting times for us and literally hundreds of low‑ to‑ moderate income homeowners have benefited from our retrofit activities in counties such as Napa, Los Angeles, Alameda, Santa Cruz, San Mateo, San Bernardino and many, many more.

Our retrofit programs, although very effective, are still a work in progress.  We still need to implement them in 11 smaller counties such as Mono, Del Norte, Inyo, Monterey, Lake, and others.  Additionally, we still have grant slots open for homeowners in San Diego, Alameda, Imperial, Fresno, Riverside, Santa Clara, and San Francisco counties. These counties were included in previous phases, but the department did not obtain a sufficient number of grant applications to fully fund their allocations.  This means we will need to re​open a grant application period in these counties before the program ends.  Please be assured that homeowners in all of California's Seismic Zone 4 counties will benefit from our programs before they end on June 30, 2003.

New Activities

Now, I would like to talk about a retrofit activity we started just last month.  The department joined in partnership with the City of Oakland and the federal government to help implement a federally funded Project Impact Earthquake Mitigation Program in Oakland.  The department has set aside $200,000 to match Oakland's $600,000 in federal funds for earthquake retrofitting.  Since the department has the earthquake retrofit expertise, we are also assisting Oakland in implementing this program, not just providing matching funds.  I anticipate that approximately 40 additional low‑ income homeowners in the City of Oakland will have their homes retrofitted within the next 6 months as a result of this project.  These new prospective grantees are in addition to the 39 homeowners in Alameda County who have already had their homes retrofitted by the department's state funded program.  This is a very good example of three governmental agencies working in partnership to benefit an at‑ risk population. Without question, these are exciting and beneficial times.

Another area of new activity is the department pursuing federal grant funds which became available to California due to September's Napa earthquake.  The department has drafted a federal grant application for $500,000 for earthquake mitigation and it should be submitted to the Governor's Office of Emergency Services tomorrow.  We are very hopeful that additional federal funds will become available for earthquake mitigation.  If we are successful in obtaining the grant, the department will fund the retrofitting of 80 additional homes in Napa County, as well as over 120 more in Santa Cruz, San Bernardino, and Kern Counties.

Closing

Before I close, I believe it is very important to state that earthquake retrofitting really works.  To illustrate this point, I called 5 homeowners who live in the Yountville area right here in Napa County following the September 2000 earthquake. Many of you may recall that the earthquake's epicenter was near Yountville.  These homeowners had their properties retrofitted by the Department of Insurance's grant program between November 1999 and September 1, 2000.  The interviewed homeowners did not incur any damage to their homes and they once again relayed their appreciation to the department for assisting them in making their homes safer and a lot more stable.

When our retrofit programs end on June 30, 2003, I project between 1800 and 2000 homes will have been retrofitted by the department.  All of these figures represent households who could not have afforded to retrofit on their own.  However, the retrofit funding appropriated by the Legislature and the established partnerships among various governmental agencies certainly have yielded cost effective earthquake mitigation benefits which have benefited a significant number of needy homeowners.

Thank you for your attention and interest in our programs.
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Department of Insurance Earthquake Retrofit Programs

Senate Bill 395 (Chapter 899, Statutes of 1995) requires the California Department of Insurance to implement an Earthquake Retrofit Grant and Loan Program for specified types of low to moderate income residential property owners to minimize future earthquake damage to their properties.  This legislation became effective January 1, 1996 and it authorizes the department to use $4.4 million for loans, grants, and program administration.  Both the loan and grant programs were slated to sunset on July 1, 2000.

New retrofit legislation, in the form of AB 1453 (Chapter 796, Statutes of 1999), was signed into law on October 7, 1999 and it, along with other provisions, extended the legislative authority for the department to operate the programs until July 1, 2003.  AB 1453 also appropriated an additional $3.4 million to the department to expand the programs, making the total appropriation $7.8 million.

The department has implemented both programs; our Retrofit Loan Guarantee Program became operational on May 1, 1997 and the Retrofit Grant Program began on August 1, 1997.  As of October 31, 2000, the department's programs have funded the retrofitting of 773 homes, with 18 being in Napa County.

Earthquake retrofit grants and loans are available to low‑ to moderate‑income households to retrofit their residential properties, including mobile homes, against earthquake damage.  The department's programs are operating in the following counties:

Phase 1 

Phase 2


Phase 3

Phase 4

Alameda

Mendocino


Contra Costa

Marin

Humboldt

San Bernardino

Imperial

Napa

Los Angeles

San Diego


Orange

San Luis Obispo





San Francisco

Riverside

Santa Barbara





Santa Cruz


San Mateo

Sonoma









Santa Clara

Ventura

Phase 5

Fresno

Kern

Kings

Los Angeles (reopened)

San Bernardino (reopened)

San Mateo (reopened)

Tulare

Earthquake Retrofit Programs
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Grants and low interest rate loans can be used for a variety of earthquake retrofit projects including bolting homes to their foundations, strengthening cripple walls, strapping hot water heaters, installing automatic gas shut‑off valves, and installing earthquake resistant bracing systems for mobile homes.  Both programs are described in detail below.

A. Grants

The California Department of Insurance, during its Phase 5 expansion, offered a limited number of earthquake retrofit grants (approximately 480) to low to moderate income homeowners in Fresno, Kern, Kings, Los Angeles, San Bernardino'. San Mateo and Tulare counties.  Grant funds can only be used for owner‑occupied single‑family site built homes and mobile homes.  Grant funds cannot be used to upgrade previously Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) recognized retrofitting of site built or mobile homes.  Retrofit grants were previously offered to homeowners in Phases 1, 2, 3 and 4 counties so no new grant applications were accepted from them in the Phase 5 expansion, except for Los Angeles, San Bernardino, and San Mateo county homeowners. The grant program is being administered by the California Department of Insurance.

Grant Limits

A site built home normally has a grant maximum of $8,000 (up to $17,000 if foundation work is needed) and a mobile home has a maximum of $4,600.

Grantee Considerations: Grantees must be low to moderate‑income homeowners. Additionally, extra consideration is given to the financially neediest applicants who are on a fixed income, permanently disabled, 55 years old or older, and other considerations.

Possible Napa County Grants

Since November 1999, the department has retrofitted 18 homes in Napa County through its grant program.  As a result of the September 3, 2000 Napa County earthquake, the department is pursuing additional federal grant funds to hopefully retrofit approximately 200 more homes in Napa and three other counties.  The department will issue a press release to notify communities if it is successful in obtaining the additional grant funds.

B. Loan Guarantees 

The Bank of America is coordinating the loan guarantee component which is a low interest rate program and is still available in Phase 1, 2, 3, 4, and 5 counties.  Owners of one to four unit site built residential properties in any of the Phase 1, 2, 3, 4, and 5 counties may be eligible for the program.  This program also applies to mobile home owners.  A property owner does not have to live in the subject property to participate in this program.  

Earthquake Retrofit Programs

November 1, 2000

Page 3

For additional information, potential loan guarantee applicants should call the Bank of America at (800) 489‑6563, extension 19112.

Interest Rate The loan interest rate is 4 1/2 %.

Loan Limits:

Funds provided to property owners through this program cannot exceed:

$4,600 for a mobile home

$8,000 (up to $17,000 if foundation work is needed) for a single family dwelling

$10,000 for a duplex

$12,500 for a tri‑plex

$15,000 for a four‑plex

Summary Of Eligible Retrofit Procedures For The Grant and Loan Guarantee Programs:

Site Built Homes




Mobile Homes
1) Brace hot water heater



1) Brace hot water heater

2) Brace cripple wall



2) Anchor fuel storage (if applicable)

3) Anchor foundation to structure


3) Install Earthquake Resistant Bracing









System

4) Install automatic gas shut‑off valve

5) Repair foundation (To accommodate

earthquake retrofit)

If you have any questions, please call (916) 492‑3280 or (916) 492‑3333.  You can also

write to the California Department of Insurance, Earthquake Retrofit Grants and Loans, 300 Capitol Mall, 13th Floor, Sacramento, CA 95814.
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NUMBER OF PERSONS PER FAMILY



COUNTY
STANDARD
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8

NAPA
Very low income
18650
21300
24000
26650
28800
30900
33050
35200

Area median:
Lower income
29850
34100
38400
42650
46050
49450
52850
56300

$53,300 
Median income
37300
42650
47950
53300
57550
61850
66100
70350


Moderate income
44750
51150
57550
63950
69050
74200
79300
84400

NEVADA
Very low income
17100
19500
21950
24400
26350
28300
30250
32200

Area median:
Lower income
27350
31250
35150
39050
42150
45300
48400
51550

$48,800
Median income
34150
39050
43900
48800
52700
56600
60500
64400


Moderate income
41000
46850
52700
58550
63250
67900
72600
77300

ORANGE
Very low income
24350
27850
31300
34800
37600
40350
43150
45950

Area median:
Lower income
35150
40150
45200
50200
54200
58250
62250
66250

$69,600
Median income
48700
55700
62650
69600
75150
80750
86300
91850


Moderate income
58450
66800
75150
83500
90200
96850
103550
110200

PLACER
Very low income
18500
21150
23800
26450
28550
30700
32800
34900

Area median:
Lower income
29600
33850
38100
42300
45700
49100
52500
55850

$52,900
Median income
37050
42300
47600
52900
57150
61350
65600
69850


Moderate income
44450
50800
57150
63500
68600
73650
78750
83800

PLUMAS
Very low income
13450
15350
17300
19200
20750
22250
23800
25350

Area median:
Lower income
21500
24600
27650
30700
33200
35650
38100
40550

$38,400
Median income
26900
30700
34550
38400
41450
44550
47600
50700


Moderate income
32250
36900
41500
46100
49800
53500
57150
60850

RIVERSIDE
Very low income
16600
18950
21350
23700
25600
27500
29400
31300

Area median:
Lower income
26550
30350
34150
37900
40950
44000
47000
50050

$47,400
Median income
33200
37900
42650
47400
51200
55000
58800
62550


Moderate income
39850
45500
51200
56900
61450
66000
70550
75100

SACRAMENTO
Very low income
18500
21150
23800
26450
28550
30700
32800
34900

Area median:
Lower income
29600
33850
38100
42300
45700
49100
52500
55850

$52,900
Median income
37050
42300
47600
52900
57150
61350
65600
69850


Moderate income
44450
50800
57150
63500
68600
73650
78750
83800

SAN BENITO
Very low income
18850
21550
24250
26950
29100
31250
33400
35550

Area median:
Lower income
30200
34500
38800
43100
46550
50000
53450
56900

$53,900
Median income
37750
43100
48500
53900
58200
62500
66850
71150


Moderate income
45300
51750
58250
64700
69900
75050
80250
85400

SAN BERNARDINO
Very low income
16600
18950
21350
23700
25600
27500
29400
31300

Area median:
Lower income
26550
30350
34150
37900
40950
44000
47000
50050

$47,400
Median income
33200
37900
42650
47400
51200
55000
58800
62550


Moderate income
39850
45500
51200
56900
61450
66000
70550
75100
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CALIFORNIA 

DEPARTMENT OF 

INSURANCE
Earthquake Retrofit

Grant Program

Commonly Asked Questions

September 18, 2000

The California Department of Insurance is offering grants to qualified households through its Earthquake Retrofit Program.  This program can be used for site built single-family properties as well as mobile homes and is intended to provide funds to low- and moderate-income households to strengthen their homes to minimize earthquake damage.

The grant program is being administered by the California Department of Insurance.

Following are some of the most commonly asked questions about having retrofit work done with grant funds.

******************************************************************************

Q.  What can this money be spent on?

A.  The funds can only be used to retrofit your property so it will not sustain as much damage in the event of an earthquake.  Some of the things this money can pay for are bolting your home to the foundation, strengthening it’s cripple walls, bracing your hot water heater and, if you own a mobile home, installing an earthquake resistant bracing system.

Q.   How much money can I make and still qualify for one of these grants?

A.   It really depends on the county in which you reside.  For example, a family of four can earn up to $62,5000 annually in Los Angeles County, $44,400 in Hombolt County, and $81,100 I Alameda County.  You should talk to the Department of Insurance staff to determine if you may qualify.

Q.   How will the Department of Insurance decide who gets the grant?

A.   The Department if Insurance is  responsible for reviewing and evaluating applications for grants.  An Earthquake Retrofit Grant Advisory Committee has been established to make grant recommendations to the department.  Priority will be given to elderly and/or permanently disabled households, lower income households, fixed income applicants, etc.  Some of the other factors the Department of Insurance will consider are: how long has the applicant owned the property, can the homeowner afford to maintain hazard/fire insurance, is the subject property foreclosure?

Q.   What is the most I can receive?
A.   Site built single-family homeowners can receive a grant up to $17,000 and mobile home owners can receive up to $4,6000.

Q.   Can I use grant funds to retrofit rental property which I own?

A.   No, grant funds can only be used for single-family properties or mobile homes which are owner-occupied.

Q.   Does this money ever have to be paid back to the Department of Insurance?

A.   No, these funds are grants and are paid to a contractor on your behalf.  You are not required to pay them back.

Q.   Can I use this money to repair damage caused by a previous earthquake?

A.   No, these funds can only be used to retrofit your property so it will sustain as much damage in the event of another earthquake.  The money cannot be used for anything other than approved earthquake retrofit procedures, inspection fees and similar cost.

Q.   I have a poor credit history and don’t earn very much money each month; can I still receive a grant to have retrofit work done to my house?

A.   Yes, that is the purpose of the grant component of our program.  We are making some funds available to people on a limited income, who may have had credit problems, and who could not otherwise afford to have retrofit work done.

Q.   The Department of Insurance has approved my grant.  Now what?

A.   The department will send you a final approval letter which outlines the steps you should take to get your home retrofitted.  Along with the letter, you will receive a list of contractors that have received Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) recognized retrofit training for site built homes or a list of manufacturers that have approved earthquake retrofit bracing systems for mobile homes.  You should contact at least two general contractors in your area and ask them to give you written bids for the work.  The department will determine the contractor to do your work.  If you have any problem with this part of the process, you should talk with Department if Insurance staff help.

Q.   How do I know I’m getting bids from reputable contractors?

A.   You should check all contractors with the California State Contractors’ License Board by calling its toll free number (800) 321-2752.  They can tell you if the contractor is licensed and in good standing with the State.  The line may be busy and difficult to get through, but don’t give up.  You should NEVER hire a contractor is making of you, check with the License Board.  All the retrofit work for this program must be done by an approved contractor.  Also, the department, as stated earlier, has a list of trained retrofit contractors.

Q.   Do I have to hire the contractor with the lowest bid?

A.   Not always, but in the vast majority of cases.  Approved grantees are not required to accept the lowest bid all the time, but they must get approval from the department before any retrofit work is done.  The department will select the bidder to do your work.

Q.   Once the work is done and the contractor is ready to get paid, what happens next?

A.   The contractor will contact the local building department or the Department of Housing and community Development for an inspection, depending on the property.  After the inspector approves the work, the contractor can present an invoice to the Department of Insurance for payment.

Q.   How long will it take to do the work to my house?

A.   This will depend on the amount and type of work you are having done.  Some retrofit work takes longer than other work, but it should not take any longer than 10 business days to complete the work.

Q.  What benefit is this grant to me?

A.   The most obvious benefit is to help ensure minimal damage to your property in case of an earthquake in your area.  You should also discuss with your insurance company any possible reduction in your earthquake insurance rates because of the measures you have taken.

Q.   If you don’t qualify for a grant, does the Department of Insurance have other retrofit programs?

A.   Yes, the department has a low interest loan guarantee program, which is administered by the Bank of America, Community Development Center.  While households must be low-or-moderate-income to qualify for both loan guarantees and grant, the bank is responsible for determining if an applicant qualifies for a loan.  Please call the Bank of America at (800) 489-6563 Extension 19112 if you have any questions about he loan guarantee program.
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Appendix #5:
California Earthquake Authority Policy

BASIC EARTHQUAKE POLICY

DECLARATIONS

POLICY NUMBER:

POLICY PERIOD:
12:01a.m. Standard Time
FROM:



TO:





at the "dwelling" location

_____________________________________________________________________________

NAMED INSURED AND MAILING ADDRESS:

The "dwelling" covered by this policy is located at the above address unless otherwise stated:

_____________________________________________________________________________

"We" provide coverage at the indicated "limits of insurance," subject to the Deductible Clause:

COVERAGE:







LIMIT OF INSURANCE:

A.
`DWELLING'






$______________

B.
OTHER STRUCTURES




NO COVERAGE

C.
PERSONAL PROPERTY




$
5,000____

D.
LOSS OF USE





$
1,500____       

E.
LIMITED BUILDING CODE UPGRADE:


$ 
10,000___
_____________________________________________________________________________

POLICY DEDUCTIBLE:
$___________
=
15% OF THE COVERAGE A









`DWELLING' `LIMIT OF









INSURANCE'









(Note: Please read the DEDUCTIBLE









CLAUSE of this policy.)

POLICY PREMIUM:

$___________

NOTE: THIS POLICY MAY BE SURCHARGED

(Please read the Surcharge Clause of this policy)

_____________________________________________________________________________

Mortgagee/Lienholder (Name and Address):

PLEASE READ YOUR POLICY
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BASIC EARTHQUAKE POLICY

AGREEMENT

This policy is issued by the "California Earthquake Authority" ("CEA"). All inquiries and correspondence regarding this policy, however, should be directed to the "participating insurer." Policy services and claims adjusting will be provided by the "participating insurer."

The policy period as shown on the DECLARATIONS page will begin and end at 12:01 a.m. standard time at the location of the insured "dwelling."

"We" insure for accidental, direct physical loss caused by an "earthquake" that commences during the policy period, to property described under the Coverages and Other Coverages Sections in this policy, subject to the Special "Limits of Insurance" on Certain Personal Property, Property Not Covered, Exclusions, and Conditions sections of this policy. In addition, "we" insure for Loss of Use of the "dwelling" resulting from a covered loss to property. "We" will provide the insurance described in this policy in return for the premium and compliance with all applicable provisions of this policy, including the "companion policy" Condition and the Surcharge Clause.

DEFINITIONS

Please note that all terms that appear in this policy surrounded by "quotation marks"
are defined below under DEFINITIONS and are used consistently throughout this policy.

Throughout this policy, "you" and "your" refer to the NAMED INSURED shown in the DECLARATIONS and the NAMED INSURED's spouse if a resident of the same household.

"We," "us," and "our" refer to the "California Earthquake Authority."

Additional words and phrases are defined as follows:

1.
"Actual Cash Value" means the fair market value of the property at the time of a total loss, subject to the policy "limit of insurance" for that type of property. If fair market value cannot be determined or if there is a partial loss, "actual cash value" means replacement cost less depreciation, subject to the policy "limit of insurance" for that type of property.

2.
"Business Property" means property pertaining to or intended for use in any full‑time or part‑time trade, profession or occupation.

3.
"California Earthquake Authority" or "CEA" means the entity created and authorized by law to transact insurance in California as necessary to sell policies of basic residential earthquake insurance. The authorization appears in the California Insurance Code, beginning at Section 10089.5.

4.
"Chimney" means the flue or vent and the building code‑required structure that surrounds the flue or vent, including exterior chimney facings, from the firebox to the outside of that structure. "Chimney" does not include a hearth, a mantel, or the firebox where combustion takes place. Hearth, mantel, and firebox are considered part of the "dwelling."

5.
"Companion Policy" means an insurance policy that provides fire coverage on the "dwelling" or


personal property, or both, that are the subject of this "earthquake" policy. The "companion
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policy" must be furnished by the same "participating insurer" that services the "California Earthquake Authority" policy for "you."

6.
"Covered Event" means the time period commencing with the initial "earthquake" and extending thereafter for period of 360 hours. One or more "earthquakes" that occur within the 360‑hour period following the first "earthquake" in a series of "earthquakes" will be considered a single "covered event."

7.
"Dwelling" means the residential structure or mobile home of not more than four living units that is at the "dwelling" location described in the DECLARATIONS. This policy does not cover any structure other than the "dwelling" unless the structure (1) shares a common wall or a continuous roof line with the "dwelling" or (2) is attached to the "dwelling" by a foundation that is continuous or contiguous to the "dwelling's" foundation. Any structure that meets either criteria aforementioned is considered part of the dwelling structure and is covered under Coverage A. Please read the PROPERTY NOT COVERED Section of this policy.

8.
"Earthquake" means a vibration‑generating rupture event caused by displacement within the earth's crust through release of strain associated with "tectonic processes" and includes effects such as ground shaking, liquefaction, seismically‑induced land sliding, and damaging amplification of ground motion. "Earthquake" does not mean or include tsunami or volcanic eruption.

9.
"Insured" means "you" and the following "persons" if they are permanent residents of "your" household:

a. "your" relatives, whether related by blood, marriage or adoption; and b. anyone under the age of 21 who is in the care or custody of "you" or any "person" identified under (a), above.

10.
"Limit of Insurance" means the most "we" will pay for any "covered event."

11.
"Nuclear Hazard" means any nuclear reaction, radiation, or radioactive contamination, or any consequence of any of these.

12.
"Participating Insurer" means the insurance company that meets the legal requirements to offer residential earthquake coverage by participating in the "CEA" and that provides claims and policyholder services to "you" on behalf of the "CEA" for this policy. The "participating insurer" also furnishes "your" "companion policy."

13.
"Person" means any person, association, organization, partnership, business trust, limited liability company, or corporation.

14.
"Replacement Cost" means the cost of replacement or the cost of reasonable repair, at the time of the loss, with like construction and use and using materials of like kind and quality, without deduction for depreciation, subject to the policy "limit of insurance" for that type of property.

15.
"Residence Employee" means an employee of any "insured" who performs duties at the "dwelling" location described in the DECLARATIONS in connection with the maintenance or use of the "dwelling," including household or domestic services, and any "person" employed to provide personal health care services for any "insured" at the "dwelling" location described in the DECLARATIONS.

16.
"Sublimit" means a dollar limitation on a coverage or on specific property that is subject to a higher total "limit of insurance." Payment under a "sublimit" will reduce the amount available under the total "limit of insurance." For example, the loss of money is covered under the personal
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property category which has a $5,000 "limit of insurance," but no more than the $250 "sublimit" will be paid to replace damaged or destroyed money. The overall amount available under the personal property "limit of insurance" will be reduced by the amount that is paid to replace money.

17.
"Tectonic Processes" means adjustments of the earth's crust in response to regional stress conditions initiated by dynamic forces within the earth's interior.

COVERAGES

COVERAGE A: `DWELLING'

"We" cover:

1.
The "dwelling" identified on the DECLARATIONS page;

2.
"Chimney(s)" attached to or part of the "dwelling" up to a total "sublimit" of $5,000, regardless of the number of "chimneys" covered.

3.
Wall‑to‑wall carpeting attached to the "dwelling."

4.
Plumbing pipes and utility service structures and equipment that are (1) enclosed in the walls, ceiling, or floor of the "dwelling" and (2) extend to the exterior surface of the "dwelling's" foundation wall.

5.
Utility service structures and equipment that (1) are located outside of the foundation wall but within the property boundaries at the location on the DECLARATIONS page and (2) affect the habitability of the "dwelling," and (3) are among the following utility services: electric, telephone, natural or bottled gas, heating oil, water, and septic and sanitary sewer systems.

6.
That portion of a walkway, driveway, or patio necessary for regular pedestrian ingress to or egress from the "dwelling" and for the regular ingress to and egress from the "dwelling" by any non​ambulatory "insured."

7.
Bulkheads, piers, and retaining walls that are integral to the stability of the "dwelling" are covered parts of the "dwelling." Integral to the stability of the "dwelling" means that unless the affected item is repaired or restored immediately, the residential structure is or will become structurally unstable or unsteady.

8.
The cost of land stabilization necessary for the habitability of the "dwelling," including the engineering costs of the stabilization, all subject to a single $10,000 "sublimit." The cost of land stabilization is covered only when the land instability is directly and immediately caused by an "earthquake."

The amount available under the "limit of insurance" for "your" "dwelling" in coverage A(1), above, will be reduced to the extent that "we" make any payment for coverages A(2) through A(8), above.

Covered damage to any of "your" property listed in coverages A(1) through A(7), and a covered loss under coverage A(8) up to the coverage A(8) sublimit of $10,000, are "dwelling" damage that are covered by Coverage A of this policy for purposes of meeting the deductible requirement. Please see the DEDUCTIBLE CLAUSE of this policy.

COVERAGE B:  OTHER STRUCTURES
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This policy does not cover any structure other than the "dwelling" unless the structure (1) shares a common wall or a continuous roof line with the "dwelling" or (2) is attached to the "dwelling" by a foundation that is continuous or contiguous to the "dwelling's" foundation. Any structure that meets either criteria aforementioned is considered part of the dwelling structure and is covered under Coverage A, above. Please read the PROPERTY NOT COVERED Section of this policy.

COVERAGE C: PERSONAL PROPERTY

Subject to a total "limit of insurance" of $5,000, "we" cover personal property owned or used by an "insured" while the personal property is at the "dwelling." At "your" request, "we" will cover personal property owned by others while that property is on the part of the "dwelling" occupied by an "insured." In addition, at "your" request "we" will cover personal property owned by a guest or a "residence employee" while the personal property is on any part of the "dwelling" occupied by an "insured."

The amount available under the total "limit of insurance" for personal property will be reduced to the extent that any payment is made for damage to or loss of personal property owned by others.

SPECIAL "LIMITS OF INSURANCE" ("SUBLIMITS") ON CERTAIN PERSONAL PROPERTY: The "limits of insurance" shown below are "sublimits" of the policy "limit of insurance" provided for Personal Property (Coverage C, above) and do not increase the "limit of insurance" for personal property shown in the DECLARATIONS. The "sublimit" for each numbered category, immediately below, is the total "limit of insurance" for any one loss for all property in that category.

1.
$250 on money, bank notes, and coins.

2.
$1,000 on electronic data processing equipment, including storage media and software used with that equipment, whether or not it is "business property." Storage media or software that cannot be replaced with other property of like kind and quality on the current consumer retail market is not covered.

3.
$300 on "business property" other than "business property" named in item no. 2, above.

COVERAGE D: LOSS OF USE

Subject to a total "limit of insurance" of $1,500 for Additional Living Expenses and Fair Rental Value combined:

1.
If a covered loss makes that part of the "dwelling" "you" occupy unfit to live in, "we" cover:

Additional Living Expense ‑ the necessary increase in living expenses "you" actually incur to maintain "your" normal standard of living.

"We" will pay Additional Living Expenses for the shortest time reasonably needed (i) to repair or replace the parts of the "dwelling" "you" occupy that are unfit to live in, or (ii) for "you" to relocate permanently if "you" do not elect to repair or replace "your" "dwelling."

2.
If a covered loss makes that part of the "dwelling" rented to others or held for rental by "you" unfit to live in, "we" cover:

The fair rental value of that part of the "dwelling" that is rented to others or that "you" hold for rental, less any expenses that do not continue while the rental portion of the "dwelling" is unfit to live in. Fair rental value means the average rental amount immediately before the "earthquake" in "your" rental market for a residential unit similar to that covered under this policy.
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"We" will pay for the shortest time reasonably needed to repair or replace that part of the "dwelling" rented or held for rental. "Your" loss of rents due to cancellation of a lease or rental agreement is not covered.

3.
If a civil authority prohibits "you" from occupying "your" "dwelling" because of direct damage to neighboring premises that would have been a covered loss under this policy had it occurred on the premises of the "dwelling," "we" cover the resulting Additional Living Expense or fair rental value, subject to the Coverage D limits of insurance.

COVERAGE E: LIMITED BUILDING CODE UPGRADE

Subject to the Deductible Clause, "we" will pay up to $10,000 for the cost of reconstruction to bring the "dwelling" up to local residential building code standards in effect on the date of the "covered event" and as required as part of the approval of the reconstruction permit process after an "earthquake" if "your" "dwelling" suffers loss by a "covered event."

OTHER COVERAGES

If covered property is damaged by a "covered event":

1.
"We" will pay the cost "you" incur for necessary and reasonable emergency measures "you" take to protect against further "earthquake" damage to covered property. If the measures "you" take involve repair to other damaged property, "we" will pay for those repairs only if that property is covered under this policy.

a.
This coverage provides up to a sublimit of 5% of the policy "limit of insurance" for the type of property being protected (either "dwelling" or personal property). The applicable total "limit of insurance" for the type of property being protected will be reduced by any amount "we" pay for this coverage.

b.
"Your" taking necessary and reasonable emergency measures to protect covered property from further damage due to an "earthquake" does not relieve "you" of "your" responsibilities outlined in "Your Duties After a Loss" (CONDITIONS, item no. 4).

2. "We" will pay the reasonable expense "you" incur in removing debris of damaged covered property. This coverage provides up to 5% of the "dwelling” “limit of insurance" as additional insurance.
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PROPERTY NOT COVERED

1. REAL PROPERTY

"We" do not cover:

1.
Detached garages, outbuildings, other structures, fences, and masonry fences and walls that are not necessary for the structural integrity of the "dwelling." Necessary for the structural integrity of the "dwelling" means that unless the affected item is repaired or restored immediately, the residential structure is or will become structurally unstable or unsteady.

2.
Walkways, driveways, and patios that are not necessary for regular pedestrian ingress to or pedestrian egress from the "dwelling."

3.
Awnings and patio coverings.

4.
Landscaping, trees, shrubs, lawns, or plants, even if damaged by the repair process.

5.
Exterior water supply systems including, but not limited to, irrigation systems, sprinkler systems, and water reclamation systems.

6.
Underground structures or equipment located outside the perimeter of the "dwelling" foundation including underground pipes, cables, flues, drains, electrical supply systems and electrical lighting systems.

7.
Antennas and satellite dishes and any towers, brackets, or attachments that support or secure them.

8.
Any decorative or artistic features of the "dwelling," including but not limited to works of art and items such as murals; stained or leaded glass; decorative or artistic mirrors or chandeliers; mosaics; statuary or sculpture; carvings, inlays, and reliefs or bas reliefs; and fountains, aquariums, and their systems.

9.
Exterior masonry veneer. For purposes of this exclusion, stucco and exterior chimney facings are not exterior masonry veneer.

10.
Bulkheads, piers, and retaining walls not integral to the stability of the "dwelling."

11.
Swimming pools, spas, and hot tubs, including the tile linking or attaching the pool, spa or hot tub to a deck.

12.
"We" will not pay to replace plaster, and payment for damaged plaster will be made only up to the value of its replacement with sheetrock or drywall.

2. PERSONAL PROPERTY

"We" do not cover:

1.
Personal property separately insured for the "earthquake" peril under any other insurance policy.

2.
Animals, birds, or fish.

3.
Motor vehicles, riding lawn mowers, or any motorized land conveyance, including their parts or accessories while in or on the motor vehicle, lawn mower, or conveyance. This exclusion does not apply to motorized land conveyances not licensed for use on public roads that are designed to assist and are used by the handicapped, or to the parts and accessories of those conveyances.
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4.
Any sound or picture equipment that is designed for operation by the electrical system of a motor vehicle, motorized land conveyance, or a camp or home trailer while any of this equipment is in, on, or installed in a motor vehicle, motorized land conveyance, or a camp or home trailer, including but not limited to: citizens band radios, radio or cellular telephones, radio transceivers, radio transmitters, two‑way mobile radios, scanning monitor receivers, radar detectors, radio receivers, tape players and recorders, disc players, televisions, video recorders, and any accessories, antennas, speakers, tapes, reels, cassettes, cartridges, carrying cases, or other devices used with that equipment.

5.
Aircraft, including their parts and equipment.

6.
Property of roomers, boarders and other tenants, except roomers and boarders related to any "insured."

7.
Data, including data stored in:

a. books of account, drawings, or other paper records; or 

b. electronic data processing tapes, wires, records, discs or other magnetic or optical media.

"We" do, however, cover the cost of blank recording or storage media and of prerecorded computer programs that are available on the retail market.

8.
Artwork, including but not limited to paintings, drawings, framing, sculpture, photographs, tapestries, pottery, and ceramics.

9.
Glassware, china, and porcelain.

10.
Watercraft, including their furnishings, equipment, and inboard, outboard, or inboard‑outboard motors.

11.
Trailers.

12.
Trees, shrubs, or plants.

EXCLUSIONS

"We" do not cover the following losses when caused directly or indirectly by, or which result from, contributed to, or are aggravated by, an "earthquake," or that were present at the time of an "earthquake."

1.
Fire.

2.
Water Damage resulting from:

a.
flood, surface water, waves, tsunamis, tidal water, overflow of a body of water, or spray from any of these, whether or not driven by wind.

b.
water below the surface of the ground, including water that exerts pressure on or seeps or leaks through a building, sidewalk, driveway, foundation, swimming pool, or other structure.

This water damage exclusion does not exclude "earthquake"‑caused surface water damage to covered property from water heaters and refrigerators; surface water displaced from a pool or hot tub by an "earthquake"; water supply pipes within the "dwelling"; municipal or other water supply
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lines; or water that backs up through sewers or drains that are located on or off the "dwelling" premises.

3.
Loss or damage caused by (1) controlled or uncontrolled "nuclear hazard" or (2) any act or condition incident to any "nuclear hazard," whether direct or indirect, proximate or remote, or in whole or in part caused by, contributed to or aggravated by an "earthquake."

4.
Pollution damage to groundwater, land, and personal property, including all loss, damage, costs, and expenses that arise out of or are caused by pollution, and any cost or expense incurred by the owner to test for, monitor, clean up, remove, contain, treat, detoxify, or neutralize pollutants. The tern "pollutants" means any solid, liquid, gaseous, or thermal irritant or contaminant, including but not limited to smoke, vapor, soot, fumes, acids, alkalis, chemicals, asbestos, and waste. The term waste includes but is not limited to material to be recycled, reconditioned, or reclaimed.

5.
The cost attributable to the enforcement of any ordinance, law, or residential building code that regulates the use, construction, repair, or demolition of a building or other structure, unless specifically provided under this policy.

6.
Power failure, meaning the failure of electrical power or other utility service if the failure takes place off the premises where the "dwelling" is located.

7.
"Your" neglect to take all reasonable action to save and preserve covered property at and after a loss.

8.
War, including undeclared war, civil war, insurrection, rebellion, revolution, warlike act by a military force or military personnel or any person, destruction or seizure or use for a military purpose, and any consequence of any of these. Discharge of a nuclear weapon will be deemed a warlike act even if accidental.

9.
Intentional loss, meaning any loss arising out of any act committed:

a.
by or at "your" direction, or at the direction of any "insured" or of any "person" named as an additional "insured"; and

b.
with the intent to cause a loss.

10.
Explosion.

11.
Earth movement, settling of land, general land sliding, subsidence, mudflows, or earth sinking, rising or shifting, unless directly and immediately caused by an "earthquake".

DEDUCTIBLE CLAUSE

"We" will only pay that part of the loss that exceeds the deductible amount, but not more than the "limit of insurance" for the "dwelling." The deductible amount is 15% of the "dwelling" "limit of insurance." The deductible percentage (15%) and deductible amount in dollars that apply to this policy are also shown on the DECLARATIONS page.

The deductible will be applied one time for each "covered event." Until the cost to repair or replace the "dwelling" damage exceeds the deductible, "we" will not pay for any coverage under this policy except for Loss of Use coverage; Loss of Use coverage is not subject to application of the deductible.
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Only (1) "dwelling" damage that is covered by Coverage A of this policy, as limited by application of any sublimits that apply to the loss, and (2) the cost "you" incur for necessary and reasonable emergency measures "you" take to protect the covered "dwelling" against further "earthquake" damage, as described and limited in Other Coverages, Section 1 (above), can be applied to meet the deductible requirement. After the deductible amount is calculated and applied, coverage sublimits, if applicable, will be applied and may limit "your" recovery under this policy.

CONDITIONS

1.
"Companion Policy" Condition. This "earthquake" policy applies only to property that is also insured by a "companion policy" for the peril of fire. The "companion policy" must be written by the same "participating insurer" that furnished "you" this "earthquake" policy. If for any reason the "companion policy" is not in effect at the time of "earthquake" loss or damage to "your" property, "we" will pay no claims under this "earthquake" policy.

2.
Insurable Interest and "Limit of Insurance." Even if more than one "person" has an insurable interest in the property covered, "we" will not be liable:

a.
to "you" for an amount greater than "your" interest; nor

b.
for more than the applicable "limit of insurance."

3.
Concealment or Fraud. The entire policy will be void if, before or after a loss, "you":

a.
intentionally conceal or misrepresent any material fact or circumstance;

b.
engage in fraudulent conduct; or

c.
intentionally make false statements relating to this insurance.

4.
"Your" Duties After Loss.  If a loss occurs to covered property, "you" must perform the following duties:

a.
Give written notice to the "participating insurer" without delay.

b.
Protect the property from further damage. Make any emergency repairs that are necessary and


reasonable to protect the property from further damage. Keep records of all repair costs.

c.
Make and keep a list of all damaged or destroyed personal property, showing in detail the quantity, description, and amount of covered loss. Keep all bills, receipts, and related records that support "your" figures.

d.
As often as reasonably required, not in the presence of any other insured, and as permitted under California law:

(i)
exhibit damaged property to the "participating insurer";

(ii)
provide the "participating insurer" with the records and documents that are necessary to support "your" claim under the policy and which the "participating insurer" may request, including bills, receipts, canceled checks, and related records that support your figures, and permit the "participating insurer" to make copies; and

(iii) submit to examination under oath and sign a transcript of the examination.
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e.
Send the "participating insurer," within 60 days of the "participating insurer's" request, "your" signed, sworn proof of loss that sets forth, to the best of "your" knowledge and belief:

(i)
the time, date, and cause of loss;

(ii)
"your" interest and the interest of all others in the property that sustained a loss, and evidence of all liens or encumbrances on the property;

(iii) a detailed description of all legal claims against the property that sustained a loss;

(iv) evidence of other insurance that may cover the loss;

(v)
a description of changes in title to or occupancy of the property during the term of the policy;

(vi) descriptions and detailed repair estimates of any damaged building or other covered structure;

(vii) the list of damaged or destroyed personal property described in Section 4.c., above; and

(viii) all receipts and records that support any claim for additional living expense or fair rental value.

5.
"Your" Rights Concerning Claims Investigation. The law provides certain rights and protections to policyholders who are involved in the settlement of a claim. Included among these are the following:

a.
"You" may have specific rights to privacy under California and Federal law which may protect "you" during the claims settlement process.

b.
The California Insurance Code and Subchapter 7.5 of Chapter 5 of Title X of the California Code of Regulations impose fair claims settlement requirements on insurance companies.

c.
At "your" expense, "you" have the right to be represented by an attorney.

6.
Loss Settlement. Covered property losses are settled as follows:

a. 
"We" will settle a loss to property described or covered, or both, under COVERAGE A: ‘DWELLING' at "replacement cost" for the amount actually and necessarily incurred to repair or replace that property with like construction and use and with materials of like kind and quality, without deduction for depreciation, up to the applicable "limit of insurance." Or, if the "dwelling" is rebuilt or placed at another location, "we" will settle a loss to the property at an amount no more than the cost to repair or replace the "dwelling" at the original "dwelling" location, up to the applicable "limit of insurance." This policy does not provide full repair or replacement of "your" "dwelling" following an "earthquake" or "covered event" if the costs associated with the full repair or replacement exceed the "dwelling" "limit of insurance" shown in the DECLARATIONS.

(i)
When the cost to repair or replace the "dwelling" damage after application of the deductible amount is more than $1000 or more than 5% of the amount of insurance provided in this policy on the "dwelling," whichever is less, "we" will pay no more than the "actual cash value" of the damage until actual repair or replacement is in progress.
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(ii)
"You" may disregard the "replacement cost" loss settlement provision and make claim under this policy for loss or damage to the "dwelling" on an "actual cash value" basis. "You" may then make claim within one year after the date of loss for any additional amount for completed repairs or replacement on a "replacement cost" basis. "We" will base payment for the "replacement cost" basis claim on documented, completed repairs or replacement.

(iii) "We" will not pay for increased costs resulting from enforcement of any ordinance, law, or residential building code that regulates the use, construction, repair, or demolition of a building or other structure, unless specifically provided under this policy.

b.
Walkways, driveways and patios will be repaired or replaced only to the extent necessary to restore regular pedestrian ingress to or pedestrian egress from the "dwelling" or regular ingress to and egress from the "dwelling" by any non‑ambulatory "insured."

c. 
To repair or replace a chimney, "we" will not pay more than the least of the following amounts: (i) the "sublimit" of $5,000 that applies to "chimneys"; (ii) the cost of replacement of a masonry "chimney" or "chimneys" with a non‑masonry, earthquake‑resistant "chimney" or "chimneys"; (iii) the "actual cash value" of the damaged "chimney" or "chimneys" if repair or replacement is not elected; or (iv) the necessary amount actually spent to repair the damaged "chimney" or "chimneys."

d.
"We" will settle losses to property described under COVERAGE C: "PERSONAL PROPERTY" at "replacement cost," without deduction for depreciation, for the amount necessary to repair or replace the damaged property with articles of like kind and quality, up to the "limit of insurance" for personal property.

"We" will settle losses to property in (i), (ii), and (iii), below, at "actual cash value."

(i) Property which by its inherent nature cannot be replaced;

(ii) Property not maintained in good or workable condition; or

(iii) Obsolete or unusable property, or property not useful for its intended purpose.

e.
"Our" liability for loss to any property insured under this policy will not exceed the smallest of the following:

(i) The cost of repair or restoration;

(ii) The replacement cost at time of loss; or

(iii) Any "limit of insurance" or "sublimit" described in the policy.
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7.
Loss to a Pair or Set. In case of loss to a pair or set "we" can elect to:

a. repair or replace any part to restore the pair or set to its value before the loss; or

b. pay the difference between "replacement cost" of the pair or set before and after the loss.

8.
Appraisal. If "you" and "we" fail to agree on the amount of loss, either of us may demand an appraisal of the loss. In this event, each party will choose a competent and disinterested appraiser within 20 days after receiving a written request from the other. The two appraisers will choose an umpire. If they cannot agree on an umpire within 15 days, "you" or "we" may request that a judge of a California court of competent jurisdiction in the county where the insured "dwelling" is located appoint an umpire. The appraisers will separately appraise the amount of loss under this policy. If the appraisers submit an agreed written report to "us," the amount they agree on will be the amount of loss under this policy. If they fail to agree, they will submit their differences to the umpire. A decision of the umpire agreed to by any two of the three individuals (consisting of the two appraisers and the umpire) will set the amount of loss under this policy.

Each party will:

a.
pay its own appraiser, and

b.
bear the other expenses of the appraisal and of the umpire equally.

9. Other Insurance

a. If "you" have other insurance that covers the "dwelling" or other property covered under this policy and 

which is subject to the same terms, conditions and provisions as the insurance under this policy, "we" will pay "our" share of the covered loss or damage. "Our" share is the proportion that the applicable "limit of insurance" under this policy bears to the combined "limits of insurance" of all policies that cover on the same basis.

b.
If there is other insurance that covers the same loss or damage, other than as described in 9(a), above, "we" will pay only for the amount of covered loss or damage in excess of the amount due from that other insurance, but "we" will not pay more than the applicable "limit of insurance."

10.
Subrogation. "You" may waive in writing before a loss under this policy all "your" rights of recovery against any "person." If "you" do not waive those rights, "we" may require an assignment of "your" rights of recovery for a loss to the extent that "we" make payment for that loss. If "we" seek an assignment, the "insured" must sign and deliver all related papers to "us" and cooperate with "us."

11.
Legal Action. No action can be brought under this policy by any "person" unless the policy provisions have been fully complied with and the action is started within one year after the date of inception of the loss.

12.
"Our" Option to Repair or Replace Property. If "we" give "you" written notice within 30 days after "we" receive "your" proof of loss, "we" may repair or replace any part of the damaged property with like property.

13.
Loss Payment. "We," through the "participating insurer," will adjust all losses with "you." "We" will pay "you" unless some other "person" is named in the policy or is legally entitled to receive payment. Losses will be payable 60 days after "we" receive "your" proof of loss and:

a. "we" reach an agreement with "you";
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b.
there is an entry of a final judgment; or

c.
there is a filing of a final appraisal award with us.

14. Mortgagee Clause.

a.
The word mortgagee as used in this policy includes trustee.

b.
If a mortgagee is named as a loss payee in this policy and that mortgagee required "you" to purchase earthquake insurance that covers the "dwelling" as a condition for making a loan to "you" secured by the "dwelling," any loss payable under Coverage A will be paid to the mortgagee, to the extent of its interest, and to "you." If more than one mortgagee is so named, the order of payment will be the same as the order of precedence of the mortgages.

c.
If "we" deny "your" claim, that denial will not apply to a valid claim of the mortgagee, if the mortgagee:

(i)
notifies the "participating insurer" of any change in ownership or occupancy of the


"dwelling," or of any substantial change in risk of which the mortgagee is aware;

(ii)
pays any premium due under this policy on demand if "you" have neglected to pay


the premium; and

(iii)
submits a signed, sworn statement of loss within 60 days after it receives notice from


"us" of "your" failure to do so. Policy conditions relating to Appraisal, Suit Against


"Us," and Loss Payment apply to the mortgagee.

d.
If "we" decide to cancel or not to renew this policy, "we" will take reasonable steps to notify the mortgagee at least 10 days before the date cancellation or nonrenewal takes effect.

e.
If "we" pay the mortgagee for any loss and deny payment to "you":

(i)
"We" are subrogated to all the rights of the mortgagee granted under the mortgage on the property, or

(ii)
At "our" option, "we" may pay to the mortgagee the whole principal on the mortgage plus any accrued interest. In this event, "we" will receive a full assignment and transfer of the mortgage and all security held as collateral for the mortgage debt.

(iii) Subrogation will not impair the right of the mortgagee to recover the full amount of the mortgagee's claim.

15.
No Benefit to Bailee. "We" will not recognize any assignment or grant any coverage that benefits a "person" that holds, stores, or moves property for a fee, regardless of any other provision of this policy.

16.
Payment. If "you" pay the initial premium for "your" first policy period by check, draft, or any remittance other than cash, "we" will credit "you" with that payment only if the check, draft, or remittance is honored on presentation. If "your" check, draft, or remittance is not honored on presentation, this policy is void from its inception; void from its inception means that the "California Earthquake Authority" will not be liable under this policy for any claims or damages that would otherwise have been covered had the check, draft, or remittance been honored on presentation and had the policy remained in effect.

17.
Termination. If "we" offer to renew "your" policy and "we" do not receive "your" required premium payment on or before the end of the then current policy period, "your" policy will terminate automatically at the expiration of the then current policy period. This means that "you"
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will have elected not to accept "our" offer to renew the policy, and no notice will be sent to "you." "Your" failure to accept "our" offer to renew the policy is not a cancellation or non‑renewal by "us."

18. Cancellation. 

a. When the "companion policy" is canceled for any reason, this policy will be canceled effective on the same date the "companion policy" cancellation takes effect, and any unearned premiums will be returned to "you" on a pro rata basis. This policy will not provide coverage if there is no "companion policy" in effect at the time of loss.

b.
"You" may cancel this policy at any time by returning it to the "participating insurer" and by letting the "participating insurer" know in writing of the date cancellation is to take effect. "You" may return the policy and submit the cancellation date to the agent of the "participating insurer."

c.
"We" may cancel this policy only for the reasons stated in this condition by notifying "you" in writing of the date cancellation takes or took effect. The cancellation notice may be delivered to "you," or mailed to "you" at "your" mailing address shown in the DECLARATIONS.

Proof of mailing will be sufficient proof of notice.

(i)
When "you" have not paid the premium when due and payable, "we" may cancel at any time by notifying "you" at least 10 days before the cancellation takes effect.

(ii)
When this policy has been in effect for less than 60 days and is not a renewal with us, "we" may cancel it if "we" discover that the risk does not meet "our" eligibility standards by letting "you" know at least 10 days before the date cancellation takes effect.

(iii) When this policy has been in effect for 60 days or more, or if at any time it is a renewal with us, "we" may cancel based on the occurrence of one or more of the following:

(a)
conviction of the "insured" of a crime having as one of its necessary elements an act increasing any hazard insured against; or

(b)
"our" discovery of fraud or material misrepresentation by either the "insured" or the "insured's" representative in obtaining the insurance, or by "you" or "your" representative in pursuing a claim under the policy; or

(c)
"our" discovery of grossly negligent acts or omissions by the "insured" or his or her representative that have substantially increased any of the hazards insured against; or

(d)
failure of the "insured" to pay the "earthquake" policy surcharge authorized by the "California Earthquake Authority", in accordance with California Insurance Code Section 10089.29, subdivision (b), paragraph (1).

"We" may cancel this policy during the policy term by notifying "you" at least 30 days before the date cancellation takes effect. "We" may cancel this policy at the policy renewal date by notifying "you" at least 45 days before the date cancellation takes effect.

d.
When this policy is canceled, any premium paid for the period from the effective date of the cancellation to the expiration date will be refunded. When the policy is canceled, the return premium will be pro rata.
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e.
If, when "we" cancel this policy, "we" do not refund the return premium with the notice of cancellation, "we" will refund it within 25 days after the date cancellation takes effect. If "you" cancel this policy, "you" may return the policy to "us," and "we" will refund the return premium within 25 days after the date the cancellation takes effect.

19.
Conditional Reinstatement. If "we" mail a cancellation notice because "you" did not pay required premium when due and "you" then tender payment of the premium by check, draft, or other remittance that is not honored on presentation, "your" policy will terminate on the date and time shown on the cancellation notice and any notice "we" issue that states that it waives the cancellation or reinstates the coverage is void. This means the "CEA" will not be liable under this policy for claims or damages after the date and time stated on the cancellation notice.

20.
Non‑Renewal. "We" may elect not to renew this policy by delivering to "you" or mailing to "you" at "your" mailing address shown in the DECLARATIONS, written notice of non‑renewal at least 45 days before the expiration date of this policy. Proof of mailing will be sufficient proof of notice.

21.
Waiver or Change of Policy Provisions. No waiver or change of a policy provision is valid unless it is in writing and signed by "us." "Our" request for an appraisal or examination does not waive any of "our" rights.

22.
Assignment. "Your" assignment of this policy will not be valid unless "we" give written consent.

23.
Death. If "you" die during the policy term, "we" insure:

a.
"your" legal representatives, but only with respect to the property of the deceased covered under this policy at the time of "your" death;

b.
with respect to "your" property covered under this policy at the time of death, the "person" that has proper temporary custody of the property until appointment and qualification of a legal representative; and

c.
residents of "your" household who were "insureds" at the time of "your" death.

24.
Recovered Property.  If "you" or "we" recover any property for which "we" have made payment under this policy, "you" or "we" will notify the other of the recovery. At "your" option, the property will be returned to or retained by "you" or it will become "our" property. If the recovered property is returned to or retained by "you," the loss payment will be adjusted based on the amount "you" received for the recovered property. '

25.
Surcharge Clause. "We" may impose a surcharge, as permitted by law, up to 20% of "your" annual policy premium within any one year by the "California Earthquake Authority" in accordance with California Insurance Code Section 10089.29, subdivision (b), paragraph (1).

26.
Pro‑rata or Installment Claims Payments.  In accordance with California Insurance Code Section 10089.35, if, at any time, the available capital of the "California Earthquake Authority" is insufficient to meet anticipated losses and there are no additional funds from assessments, reinsurance, or private capital markets available to pay claims, the "California Earthquake Authority" may pay claims on a pro‑rata basis from the remaining funds available; or claims may be paid on an installment basis, based on a plan approved by the California Insurance Commissioner.

If "we" submit a pro rata or installment plan to the Insurance Commissioner, deadlines in this policy that apply to "our" payment of "your" claim may, at "our" sole option, be extended by the length of time the Insurance Commissioner has the plan under
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consideration; the deadlines will be reinstated and recomputed no later than the date an approved plan is in place.

27.
Abandonment of Property. "We" need not accept any property abandoned by an "insured."

28.
Glass Replacement. We will replace glass damaged in a loss covered under this part with safety glazing material when required by ordinance or law.

29.
Liberalization Clause. If "we" make a change that broadens coverage under this edition of "our" policy without additional premium charge to "you," that change will automatically apply to "your" insurance as of the date "we" implement the change, provided that this implementation date falls during or within 60 days before the policy period stated in the Declarations.

This Liberalization Clause does not apply to changes implemented through "our" introduction of a subsequent edition of "our" policy.
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PHILIP ANGELIDES

Treasurer
State of California

October 26, 2000

Honorable Members, Governing Board
California Earthquake Authority

300 Capital Mall, Ste. 1230
Sacramento, California 95814

Honorable Members:

In preparation for our upcoming meetings, | am writing this leter o express my belief that the
Califomia Earthquake Authority (CEA) must be restructured to ensure that it can mest its
obligations to its policyholders and properly fulfil it role in providing earthquake insurance for
Californians.

‘This Board and the Legislature, when it returns in January, should make review and reform of the
CEA akey prioriy. It s critcal that the enity providing insurance to over 850,000 California
families for their most important possession - their home - be financially sound and capable of
camrying out its responsibilites over the long term.

‘The recently completed independent analysis of the CEA, commissioned by this Board (pursuant
10 my proposal of March 1999) and undertake by Tillinghast-Towers Pecrin (TTP), and the
Board’s own oversight activities over the past year and & half have provided the most
comprehensive review of the CEA since is creation under a previous administration and 2
previous Insurance Commissioner. Based on the facts in font of us, I believe that we must
pursue legislative and other changes necessary to, among other things:

+  Strengthen the financial backing of the CEA. There are significant questions
‘about the adequacy of the CEA's financial sructure;

+  Enhance its survivability - ts ability to meet its claims obligations in the
event of earthquake(s). The CEA's survivability may not be at an acceptable
level;

«  Ensureits sustainability - ts ability to stay in business and to continue to

ilty over ime and it abil

issue policies over the long term. The CEA's
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10 withstand multiple, significant earthquake eventsis in question;

« Lessenits dependence on the reinsurance markets to meet its obligations.
Much of the CEA's claims paying ability resides in short term reinsurance
contracts, the price and availability of which are subject to volatility and the
oceurrence of catastrophic events such as earthquakes and hurricanes;

«  Protect against adverse selection - where the CEA, over time, insures the
highest risks, while private, non-CEA insurers "cherry pick" the lowest
risks. Adverse selection will further impact the financial strength of the CEA;

* Make carthquake insurance more widely available. The CEA is not fully
meeting ts intended mission to provide broadly available earthquake coverage
due to factors such as financial structure limitations, uneven marketing by
member companies, and negative perceptions of the entity; and

©  Restructure the CEA 0 it can better operate in the catastrophic insurance
sector - the high risk end of a risk business. The current Board and
organizational structure does not optimize the chances for success.

‘The time 1o address these issues is now, before a significant earthquake occurs and before the
CEA is faced with a crisis. Itis in the interest of all parties to have a reasoned discussion of the
steps which should be undertaken to bolster the CEA.

It s i the interest of consumers to have access to reasonably priced, broadly available
earthquake insurance 10 protect what is often their largest investment.

It in the interest of state goverment to provide a sound device which allows Californians to
‘purchase earthquake insurance for their homes. While the State s not legally obligated to pay on *
claims, we must recognize the potentially serious consequences which will arise if the CEA

‘cannot fulfll its mission.

It s in the interest of the insurance industry to ensure the long term viability of the CEA, as a isk
pooling entity to provide carthquake insurance. In the event that the CEA were to fail, insurance
companies offering homeowner policies would again be obligated under law to offer carthquake
insurance.
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In evaluating the CEA. we must keep in mind two key considerations. First of all, while the
State. in enacting the CEA legislation, sought o create a mechanism to provide earthquzke
insurance to Californians. it did not choose to assume financial responsibility for the risk.
Secondly, the CEA was created as an alternative to the pre-cxisting private sector obligation to
offer earthquake insurance 10 al insured homeowners. Given these two considerations, the CEA
‘must be able to stand on s own financially as it makes earthquake insurance broadly available to

the marketplace.

In the context. it i clear that the CEA has significant challenges which must be addressed.
Attached vou will find a summary of concers which I believe must be resolved for the CEA to
‘move forward in the most effective fashion. At the core of almost all of these issues is the
adequacy of the CEA'’s financial structure and backing, which must be strengthened to ensure:
success and viability over the long term.

1 look forward to working with the Legislature, consumers, the insurance industry, and you, as
‘my Board colleagues, o bring about the changes necessary 1o ensure that Californians have the
best possible access to earthquake coverage for their homes in the years ahead.

‘Thank§u for your consideration.

Attachment
cc: Ms. Kari Dohn
Mr. Dietrich Stroch
Ms. Diane Griffiths
Senator Jackie Speier
Assemblymember Tom Calderon
Mr. David Knowles
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December 11, 2000

Dear CEA Policyholder:

The earthquake that struck the Napa area September 3rd has shown once again that nowhere in California are we
safe from the destructive forces of nature. We at the CEA know how damaging and traumatic an earthquake can
be, and that's why we want to make sur¢ you receive all the insurance benefits you are entitled to receive under
your policy.

Tam writing today to encourage you to take advantage of the earthquake claims expertise of your insurance
company claims adjusters. Some earthquake damage can be difficult to identify and damage that may be less
obvious to you may be more easily spotted by the trained eye of an earthquake claims professional. Your
insurance company is available to inspect your home for earthquake damage, even if you do not believe your
‘home suffered significant damage or if you feel the damage is less than your CEA policy’s deductible. Ifyou
‘have not already done so, you may report your claim and request an inspection by calling your insurance agent or
the claims phone mumber in your policy.

‘The CEA's basic rules for accepting claims are consistent with California law. Here they are in simplified form:

@ The general rule is that you can file a claim under your CEA earthquake policy up 1o one year after the
date of the earthquake that caused your loss. The one-year period is extended to account for the time your
claim was pending.

¢ The CEA may accept your claim afier that one-year period has expired, but only if you took reasonable
steps to discover damage and you still did not discover damage wntil after the one-year period had
expired. This exccption to the. general rule is not automatic; whether it applies depends on whether your
non-discovery of damage was reasonable.

Like all basic rules, however, there are exceptions and other considerations that may apply. So, although the law
might allow you to secure the protections of your insurance policy if you discover damage to your home long
after an carthquake, it is always best to find out about - and repair - damage 1o your home as soon as possible.

Lenclose a brochure that explains the CEA policy in easy-to-understand terms. 1 hope you find the brochure
helpful. This brochure is not your policy; your CEA policy contains the actual terms of the coverages the CEA.
provides.

1f you have any questions about your CEA coverage, please call your insurance agent or insurance company. If
your agent or company representative cannot answer your question, you may call the CEA at 1-877-797-4300.

Sincerely,

Ll

Dan Dyce
Disaster Response Manager

300 Capitol Mall + Suite 1230 + Sacramento, CA + 95814
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